REJUVENATING
FOR

THE NEXT ERA

:

TS L | & &

2022/2023 ANNUAL REPORT | 4 #&

STOCK CODE BBk : 417



(A

WE ARE PREPARED
TO FLOURISH IN

THE NEW ERA






tos!




TABLE OF CONTENTS

005

Financial Highlights
TSR

014

Management's Discussion
and Analysis

EEEZARmEAT

036

The TSL | #¥s# Foundation
TSL | #mBiE S

088

Independent Auditor's
Report
BB EE

100

Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position

AR B
106

Notes to the Financial
Statements

ATSRKRMIEE

H 2%

008

Corporate Information

ARER
022

Directors and Senior
Management Profile

ESRkaMERASEHN

040

Report of the Directors
e

098

Consolidated Statement of
Profit or Loss
REEEE

102

Consolidated Statement
of Changes In Equity
GAREEDE

236

Five-Year Financial
Summary

TEMBHE

010

Letter to Shareholders

SRR
034

Awards and Accolades
HRIAERR

066

Corporate Governance Report
EERRE

099

Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income

fFaZHERERE

104

Consolidated Statement of
Cash Flows

o ATH A B2
FARZRER

238

Summary of Properties

IESES



‘ O YOUR
y 8 F — o
L MILLEFIORI
e ¢ BTt sE

Times change. But life moves on. At TSL, we believe in the positive spirit of change and are always looking
to the future with new ideas, new stores and new collections. This has been the secret of our success from
the very beginning.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
81 15 3 2

DIVIDEND PER SHARE (HK$) TURNOVER (HK$'M)

FRAEE.(ET) EEBOBBRETL)

19 0.104 19 Essen 4,065
20 NIL 20 2,914

21 NIL 21 2,649

22 mmmmmmmsn 0.020 22 2,768

23N||_ 27 2,591

NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF (LOSS)/PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF

THE COMPANY PER SHARE (HK$) THE COMPANY (HK$'M)

RAEEE ABRERFEE(BT) RRRHAAESL(EB) / BR(EEEET)

T - 4.37 19 s 54
20 E———— 5-6] 20 (90) m——

21 3.78 21 (44) m—

22 4.21 22 e 16

bRy ] 359 23 (71) I
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
81 15 3 2

For the year For the year For the year For the year For the year

ended ended ended ended ended
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
HZE2023%F | HZE2022%  HE2021F  #HZE2020F  #HE2019F
3A31H 3A31H 3A31H 3A318 3A318
LHFE IEFE IEFE IEFE IEFE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (HK$'M)
FEZEWERE BYEER)
Turnover EE 2,591 2,768 2,649 2,914 4,065
(Loss)/profit before tax BRELRT(E518), B F (47) 61 M (60) 99
(Loss)/profit for the year REE(E5E),/ BF (72) 15 (44) (90) 54
(Loss)/profit attributable to AR FIHEA AEIE(BE),
owners of the Company ZAF| 70 16 (44) (90) 54
PER SHARE (HK$)
gt (BT)
(Loss)/earnings (B518),/ & F (0.29) 0.06 (0.18) (0.36) 022
Dividend 5N Nil 0.020 Nil Nil 0.104
Dividend payout ratio KB LR Nil 32% Nil Nil 48%
Net assets attributable to AARHEEARIEFEAE
owners of the Company 3.59 4.21 3.78 3.61 4.37
Market price M 1.35 1.05 0.84 0.90 1.80
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (HK$'M)
REPBRRBR CBEERET)
No. of shares ("M Shares) feth IR BB BRR) 249 249 249 249 249
Shareholders’ funds RERES 893 1,048 942 900 1,086
Borrowings BE 1,174 920 989 1,014 788
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBFCEEY 348 355 379 337 251
Net gearing ratio” FE AR 51% 7% 31% 49% 35%
Market capitalisation mE 336 262 209 224 447
# The net gearing ratio is the ratio of total interest-bearing liabilities ~ # FRABHEABHEABREASRREEEMIU
less cash and cash equivalents and pledged time deposits to total REEM T TR RS RE X -
equity.

006



Our new store is a reflection not just of our innovative spirit, but also of our belief in the future and our respect

and commitment to our customers and the next generation of jewellery lovers.
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS
B R B K A

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Tse Sui Luen Jewellery
(International) Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the
“Group”), | hereby present the annual report and consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023 (the “Year”).

We can now finally see the light at the end of the tunnel after living through
the COVID-19 nightmare for more than three years. In early 2023 we saw the
pandemic and its associated restrictions start to ease as countries around the
world began to move towards resuming normal activities. The border reopening
and resultant tourism revival helped to bring hope back to the retail industry.
However, on the other side of the coin, other storm clouds are forming with the
World Bank warned that the global economy is at risk of going into a recession
this year due to the sharp and widespread slowdown in economic growth. The
retail industry has suffered the double-whammy of the interest rate hike and
record low consumer confidence, an immediate surge in spending is unlikely
to be in the cards. The road ahead remains bumpy with high inflation and
geopolitical tensions.

The Group’s businesses in Mainland China were severely impacted by the
intermittent COVID-19 outbreaks and lockdowns throughout the Year, our
retail sales there in particular plummeted in the third quarter. Although the
Group'’s retail business in Mainland China is still on the way to full recovery, we
remain optimistic about the rebound of the Chinese economy and consumer
spending after the end of the zero-COVID policy in December 2022. Since
early 2023, the sales performance of the Group in Hong Kong and Macau has
seen a gradual improvement following the relaxation of pandemic preventive
measures. Further afield, the Group’s retail sales in Malaysia bounced back with
better consumer sentiment since the government loosened its containment
measures in April 2022. Given the totality of circumstances, we have carried
out a plethora of promotional activities to boost sales and maintained effective
cost management. Amidst the persistent inflationary pressure and gold price
fluctuations, we witnessed rising demand in the gold market and have placed a
greater emphasis on our gold jewellery business. We will continue to rationally
increase gold inventory with both generic and house designs to capitalize on the
opportunities.
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS (CONTINUED)
BRR® R (E)

In spite of the ever-changing and uncertain market conditions, the Group
continues to transform through steady development of the three brands that cater
to various market segments, namely TSL | #i¥m8 DUO by TSL and TSL TOSI.
More TSL | &% shops are opening with our refreshed store image which
facilitates the better immersion of our customers into the vast and charming
world of gold and jewellery, and an enjoyable intimate shopping experience.
The customers who have had a stellar experience with our products are more
likely to spread the word about our brands. With our focus on the assortment
enhancement, more diversified product categories such as jade, pearl and semi-
precious stones are being offered under the prominent TSL | 3w brand. In
addition, with the launch of the DUO campaign and the ongoing participation in
large-scale wedding expos in Hong Kong, we have further established our image
as a wedding expert and raised the brand awareness through the setup of the
first DUO by TSL counter at a department store in Chongging, China in January
2023. TSL TOSI has continued to open new stores in Mainland China and tapped
into the online market aiming to improve profitability and return on investment.
All three brands strive to offer marketable products and delightful consumer
experiences. Going forward, the Group will keep endeavoring to deepen its
market penetration by expanding its points of sales and collaborating with social
media influencers such as Key Opinion Leaders and Key Opinion Consumers to
boost brand awareness among the public, with commanding a larger market
share as the goal.

In order to keep pace with the constantly evolving landscape of technological
innovations, the Group has implemented a range of strategic measures to
ensure its adaptability to the ever-changing market. Specifically, the Group has
taken steps to provide a well-rounded shopping experience at every touch point
online and offline. For instance, we have refined the interface of and launched
the new chatbot on our Hong Kong official e-Shop. We are also delighted to
share the opening of TSL online flagship stores on Pinduoduo and Douyin, two
leading e-commerce platforms in Mainland China, to accelerate our expansion
of online business channels, and the enhancement of the popular made-to-
order customization service. To further improve efficiency and profitability,
the Group has implemented various IT systems for corporate development,
including but not limited to the implementation of the customer relationship
management system covering all operating regions, the electronic work order
for factory production, and portal report system for the franchise business in
Mainland China. The Group will remain committed to investing in the ongoing
advancement of its technology.
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The Group will closely monitor and review its sales performance in each
operating region following the full border reopening and expand its franchise
network in Mainland China as part of its growth engine. Also, the Group will
keep enhancing the product portfolio of its three distinct brands TSL | &%k,
DUO by TSL and TSL TOSI, and realize market segmentation strategies.
Moreover, the Group will persist in implementing strict cost management to
ensure a reasonable return on investment. In anticipation of gradual market
recovery and the banking sector’s continued support to the Group, we are
confident that our businesses will progressively improve in the near future.

Despite the lifting of pandemic control measures, the Group still maintains
high cleanliness standards at its workplaces and stores to protect the safety
of its employees and customers. Our preventive measures and other policies
and practices relating to corporate social responsibility and sustainability
will be detailed in a separate Environmental, Social, and Governance Report.
The “TSL | #iZmM Foundation” section of this annual report focuses on the
charitable trust’s dedication to promoting the growth of creative industries in
Hong Kong and emphasizes such initiatives.

Last but certainly not least, | would like to extend my heartfelt appreciation
to my fellow directors for their dedication and advice provided to the Group
during the Year. |, on behalf of the Board, would also like to express my sincere
gratitude to all our staff, members, business partners, loyal customers, and other
stakeholders for their invaluable support and unwavering trust. Moving forward,
the Group will continue to create sustainable returns for our shareholders and
achieve long-term growth.

Yau On Yee, Annie
Chairman

Hong Kong, 21 June 2023

LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS (CONTINUED)
BB R K (48 )
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEE W&o

RESULTS OF THE GROUP

The turnover of the Group for the Year decreased by 6.4% to HK$2,590.9 million
from HK$2,767.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2022 (“2021/22”). The loss
attributable to owners of the Company for the Year was HK$71.4 million, as
compared to the profit attributable to owners of the Company of HK$15.5 million
for 2021/22. The loss per share attributable to owners of the Company for the
Year was 28.7 HK cents.

During the Year, the world continued to grapple with the adverse effects of the
COVID-19 crisis. In particular, Mainland China’s economic growth slowed down
due to the frequent lockdowns in major cities and the stringent quarantine
requirements for inbound travelers, with the number of cases reaching a
record high in the fourth quarter of 2022. As businesses in Mainland China
are significant contributors to the Group’s profitability, the Group’s sales
performance during the Year was inevitably affected, especially by the plummet
in retail sales in Mainland China due to declining consumer confidence.

Although the Group observed signs of recovery in retail sales in early 2023
following the end of China’s zero-COVID policy and the lifting of social
distancing measures and mask-wearing requirement by the Hong Kong
Government, it was insufficient to meaningfully offset the Group’s accumulated
losses caused by the sharp decline in retail sales in Mainland China in the
previous three financial quarters and the comparatively lower gross profit
margin due to changes in sales mix and business contributions during the
Year. While the reopening of borders and increased tourist numbers should
bode well for retail sales performance going forward, we believe that the
resulting recovery will be gradual as it will take some time to restore consumer
confidence and for overall market activities to return to pre-pandemic levels.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Distressed by the desolate retail environment, economic uncertainties and
geopolitical risks, the demand of 24 karat gold jewellery has been on a rising
trend in all operating regions of the Group. Consequently, the Group has put
more focus on its 24 karat gold jewellery business with various luxury and
specialized collections to capture the robust gold demand. The Group has also
run marketing campaigns and product promotions to drive sales during festive
seasons and certain public holidays. Meanwhile, the Group continued to maintain
prudent management and keep close track of the market recovery.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Retailing Business
Hong Kong and Macau

With the gradual lifting of anti-pandemic measures in Hong Kong and Macau
during the Year, local consumption and tourist footfall saw some recovery.
Benefitted from the influx of tourists following the resumption of cross border
travel with Mainland China in February 2023, which helped to boost both
economies, especially in Macau, the Group’s Hong Kong and Macau retail
business recorded an encouraging increase in turnover with same-store sales
growth.

As at the end of the Year, the Group operated 24 stores in Hong Kong, one of
which is the DUO by TSL store in Tsim Sha Tsui. With the brand motto “We
Do”, DUO by TSL specializes in offering made-to-order jewellery for couples to
commemorate their love. By continuously participating in large-scale wedding
expos, we have achieved remarkable sales performance with overwhelmingly
positive responses received from customers which, in turn, has increased
DUO by TSL's exposure in the wedding market and strengthened our brand
image and position as a wedding expert. In addition, DUO by TSL has fostered
its brand awareness on social media with its first major branding campaign titled
“Theory of Love”.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
EREEzHBEDNE)

Anticipating Macau’s return to normalcy and planning for the post-COVID future,
the Group opened a new TSL | #i¥m store in Shoppes at Londoner in October
2022. As a result, the number of Macau stores operated by the Group increased
to 4. Located inside the upscale mall, the new store was decorated in a fresh
Nordic minimalistic style.

The sales network in Hong Kong and Macau shall continue to be adjusted for
maximizing operational efficiency and return on investment.

Mainland China

The prolonged and tightened social distancing restrictions adversely impacted
consumer psychology and purchasing behavior, particularly the already subdued
retail business activities were further dampened by the sudden and frequent
lockdowns in certain regions across Mainland China during 2022. Subsequent to
the Chinese government’s lifting of most COVID restrictions in December 2022,
the sales performance of the Group’s retail business in Mainland China showed
improvement, but it was not adequate to cover the severe losses suffered in
the previous months. Therefore, the Group recorded a notable year-on-year
decrease in the turnover and negative same-store sales growth of our self-
operated stores in Mainland China.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

The total number of TSL stores in Mainland China was 471 as at the end of the
Year, with the Group’s self-operated stores slightly reduced from 178 to 172,
including 5 TSL TOSI stores located in first-tier cities, 2 of which are the new
stores opened in Shanghai and Beijing during the Year. All TSL TOSI stores
supply fine jewellery accessories embodying the brand’s motto “Embrace the
True You”, which has attracted the younger generation with rising purchasing
power. Meanwhile, the Group has focused on improving the business model’'s
profitability and return on investment.

Being confident that both the Chinese economy and consumer sentiment will
pick up gradually in 2023, the Group has set up the first DUO by TSL counter in
a department store in Chongaging in January 2023. The romantically decorated
space showcases specially designed jewellery and professional wedding services
for couples. Going forward, the Group will continue to strengthen its brand and
deepen its market penetration by reinforcing the TSL | #¥w8%, DUO by TSL and
TSL TOSI retail network in Mainland China.

Malaysia

Consumer spending rebounded in Malaysia following the reopening of its
borders in April 2022, resulting in a boost to the turnover of the Group’s retail
business in Malaysia with high double-digit growth being achieved during the
Year. In order to bolster the Group’s sales performance and brand recognition
in Malaysia, a new TSL | &35 store together with DUO by TSL kiosk situated
nearby were inaugurated in one of the largest shopping malls in the country. As
at 31 March 2023, the total number of retail stores in Malaysia was 7. The Group
will stay the course in enhancing its product assortment and steadily expand its
business in Malaysia.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
EREEzHBEDNE)

Wholesale Business

The revival of manufacturing, trading and consumption activities in Mainland
China was interrupted by the COVID-19 flare-ups during the last quarter of
2022. The performance of the Group’s wholesale business was negatively
impacted by the outbreaks in certain major cities in the country. In addition,
the pace of the Group’s franchise network expansion in Mainland China was
unavoidably delayed, resulting in a net increase of only 12 franchised stores
from 287 to 299 during the Year. Witnessing the gradual recovery of Mainland
China’s retail industry and economy in the first quarter of 2023, the Group will
proactively look for appropriate franchisees and expand its franchised store
network strategically, so as to strengthen its market presence and penetration in
Mainland China.

E-Business

Riding on the e-commerce boom in recent years, the Group has put more focus
on the continual development of its e-business and established a comprehensive
e-business model through the ongoing enhancement of its official e-Shops and
cooperation with e-commerce platforms. During the Year, the Group successfully
revamped TSL official e-Shops in Hong Kong and Mainland China with more
refined interfaces; and opened TSL online flagship stores in both Douyin and
Pinduoduo to speed up the expansion of its online channels. Accounting for an
increasing proportion of the Group’s profit, e-business maintained promising
growth in turnover during the Year.

A series of online promotions and marketing campaigns were launched to drive
traffic to TSL official e-Shops and TSL online flagship stores for boosting online
sales. The Group has also strengthened its cooperation with various popular
e-commerce platforms in Mainland China and HKTVmall in Hong Kong. The
Group strongly believes that its e-business will continue to show encouraging
results supported by the solid foundation laid.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

OUTLOOK

Following the governments’ implementation of measures to stimulate local
consumption and the recovery of international tourism after the reopening of
borders, countries moving forward along the path to normalcy are performing
better in terms of retail sales. Despite these positive signs, consumers still have
some anxiety and are prone to hold back on non-essential spending, so we
expect recovery to be at times patchy but not sudden. The Group will follow
through to review and reinforce its online and offline retail network prudently,
but at the same time grasp the opportunities arising from the new era.

As the Group navigates through the ups and downs, it is constantly learning
and growing, refining its strategies with a steadfast commitment to optimizing
the brand experience. The Group will keep enhancing its 24 karat gold jewellery
assortment to grasp the uptrend in gold demand and, as always, provide an
innovative and diversified product portfolio complimented by high quality and
exclusive customer service at full steam. The Group will leverage various media
to promote its brand image and increase its competitive advantage through
the sustainable development of TSL | #iF&#, DUO by TSL and TSL TOSI brands
targeting different market segments.

FINANCIAL STRUCTURE

Capital expenditure, comprising mainly store renovation, furniture and fixtures
and machinery as well as additions to building and prepaid land lease, incurred
during the Year amounted to HK$129.8 million (2021/22: HK$56.1 million),
which was mainly financed by borrowings and funds generated from internal
resources.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s total interest-bearing liabilities increased from
HK$920.4 million (as at 31 March 2022) to HK$1,173.6 million, including current
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings of HK$571.8 million and non-current
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings of HK$601.8 million. Net borrowings
(total interest-bearing liabilities less cash and cash equivalents and pledged time
deposits) increased from HK$183.2 million (as at 31 March 2022) to HK$459.1
million.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
EREEzHBEDNE)

Internally generated funding and borrowings have mainly been applied during
the Year to finance the enhancement of the Group’s inventory and capital
expenditure incurred.

The net gearing ratio (the ratio of total interest-bearing liabilities less cash and
cash equivalents and pledged time deposits to total equity) increased from
17.5% to 51.4% during the Year. All borrowings of the Group are denominated in
Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. Interest on bank borrowings is calculated on
either the inter-bank interest rate or the prime rate or the benchmark interest
rate.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had pledged time deposits, cash and bank
balances of HK$714.5 million, which were mostly denominated in Hong Kong
dollars, Renminbi and United States dollars, and in the opinion of the directors
of the Company, are sufficient to satisfy the Group’s present working capital
requirements.

Exchange Rates

During the Year, the transactions of the Group were mainly denominated in
Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and United States dollars. Renminbi is not a freely
convertible currency and any significant exchange rate fluctuation of Renminbi
may have financial impacts on the Group. The Board is of the view that such
foreign exchange exposure is manageable by using natural hedges that arise
from holding assets and liabilities denominated in the same foreign currencies
and that the Group’s exposure to foreign exchange fluctuation remains minimal.
The Group will continue to closely monitor its foreign exchange position.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Charge on Group Assets and Contingent Liabilities

Charge on the Group’s assets during the Year is disclosed in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements. The Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities which have not been provided for in the financial
statements as at 31 March 2023 (as at 31 March 2022: Nil).

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2023, the total number of employees of the Group was
approximately 2,360 (as at 31 March 2022: 2,400). The change was with due
regard to the Group’s business strategies and the market conditions. There were
no major changes in human resources policies.

The Company offers competitive remuneration packages including salary,
allowances and discretionary bonus. Employees are rewarded on a performance
basis with reference to market rates. Other employee benefits include medical
cover and subsidies for job-related continuing education. Retail frontline staff
are provided with formal on-the-job training by internal senior staff and external
professional trainers. There are discussion forums and in-house seminars for
experience sharing.
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THE FOUNDER
Al A

TSE, SUI LUEN

i I e

Tse Sui Luen, aged 86, is the Group’s Founder. Mr. Tse provides general advisory
& strategic advice to the Group. He was the Chairman of the Group from 1987
to 2000 and re-joined the Group in September 2011. He is a veteran jewellery
expert having over 50 years of experience in jewellery industry. He has a wide
range of experience in gem setting, quality control, administration, operations,
management and marketing. He also has very good personal networks with the
peers and suppliers, which facilitate the Group’s business development. He is the
father of Mr. Tse Tat Fung, Tommy, the Deputy Chief Executive Officer and the
controlling shareholder of the Group, and the father-in-law of Ms. Yau On Yee,
Annie, the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Group.
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Independent Non-Executive Director
BIYFATES
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Independent Non-Executive Director
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Independent Non-Executive Director
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CHAIRMAN & CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

YAU, ON YEE ANNIE
B % &

Yau On Yee, Annie, aged 52, is the Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer, the
chairman of the Executive Committee and a member of both the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company. She joined the
Group in 2002, and became an Executive Director of the Company in 2006. She
is also a director of most subsidiaries of the Company. In the early years at the
Company, she pioneered the Group’s Jewellery ERP discipline and modernised
the Company’s management through business process reengineering. Prior to
joining the Group, she worked for multi-national companies such as Motorola
Semiconductors and IBM. She has over 30 years of management experience in
the USA and Hong Kong. She is a director of each of Partner Logistics Limited
and Blink Technology Limited which have discloseable interests in the Company
under provisions of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the "SFO"). She
graduated from Boston University, USA and holds a Bachelor of Science degree
in Computer Engineering. Ms. Yau is the spouse of Mr. Tse Tat Fung, Tommy, the
Deputy Chief Executive Officer and the controlling shareholder of the Group,
and the daughter-in-law of Mr. Tse Sui Luen, the Founder of the Group.

Ms. Yau is currently a member of the 2021 Election Committee of the
HKSAR (Wholesale and Retail Subsector), the chairman of Hong Kong
Retail Management Association, a nominated member of Hong Kong Brand
Development Council, and the convenor of Retail Industry Consultative Networks
of Employees Retraining Board. She is also a standing committee member
of the Eighth Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference of Hainan
Province (with effect from 10 January 2023), and a member of Hainan-Hong
Kong Economic Cooperation and Development Advisory Committee, Jewellery
Industry Training Advisory Committee and Jewellery Advisory Committee of
Hong Kong Trade Development Council. She was appointed as a member of the
Council for Carbon Neutrality and Sustainable Development with effect from 1
May 2023.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE (CONTINUED)
EZERaMEBABBENE)

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ng Yi Kum, Estella, aged 65, is an Executive Director, the Deputy Chairman, the
Chief Strategy Officer & Chief Financial Officer, the Company Secretary and a
member of both the Remuneration Committee and the Executive Committee of
the Company. She joined the Group in 2015 and is responsible for Group Finance
and other administrative functions as well as defining corporate strategies of the
Group. She is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

From January 2008 to April 2014, Ms. Ng was the Chief Financial Officer of
Country Garden Holdings Company Limited (Stock Code: 2007), a company
whose shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). From September 2005 to November 2007, she was an
executive director of Hang Lung Properties Limited (“Hang Lung”) (Stock
Code: 101), a company whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange. Prior to
her joining in Hang Lung in 2003, she was employed by the Stock Exchange
in a number of senior positions, most recently as Senior Vice President of
the Listing Division. Prior to that, she gained valuable auditing experience
with Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. Ms. Ng is a qualified accountant and holds
a Master of Business Administration degree from the Hong Kong University
of Science and Technology. She is an associate of The Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales and The Chartered Governance Institute,
a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and a member of the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. She has been an elected member of
Quality Tourism Services Association Governing Council (Retailer Category)
since February 2019. She has also contributed her time to various public service
appointments, including being a co-opted member of the audit committee of
the Hospital Authority until November 2013.

Ms. Ng is an independent non-executive director of Tianjin Development
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 882), Comba Telecom Systems Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 2342), CMGE Technology Group Limited (Stock Code: 302),
Powerlong Commercial Management Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 9909) and
KWG Living Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 3913), all companies whose
shares are listed on the Stock Exchange. Besides, she served as an independent
non-executive director of China Power Clean Energy Development Company
Limited (Stock Code: 735) until 26 October 2019, the shares of which were
listed on the Stock Exchange until they were delisted on 20 August 2019, and
an independent non-executive director of CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 994) until 30 June 2022.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE (CONTINUED)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Chui Chi Yun, Robert, aged 66, is an Independent Non-executive Director, a
member of both the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the
Company, who joined the Group in 1999.

Mr. Chui is a practising Certified Public Accountant in Hong Kong. He holds a
Bachelor’s degree in Commerce (Major in Accounting) and is a fellow member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom. Mr. Chui is an
independent non-executive director of each of Wing Lee Property Investments
Limited (Stock Code: 864), F8 Enterprises (Holdings) Group Limited (Stock
Code: 8347) and Asia Cassava Resources Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 841),
and was appointed as an independent non-executive director of Dragon King
Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8493) with effect from 5 May 2023, he
served as an independent non-executive director of Huiyin Holdings Group
Limited (Stock Code: 1178) until 15 December 2021 and National Arts Group
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8228) until 19 November 2022, all companies
whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange. He served as the Commissioner
of the Hong Kong Road Safety Patrol and a member of the Road Safety
Campaign Committee of the Road Safety Council, until 30 November 2016. He is
also a director of a number of private companies and associations.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE (CONTINUED)
EZERaMEBABBENE)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Chan Yue Kwong, Michael, aged 71, is an Independent Non-executive Director,
the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of both the Audit
Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the Company, who joined the
Group in 2010.

Mr. Chan was the former chairman and is currently a non-executive director
of Café de Coral Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 341), and is a non-executive
director of Tao Heung Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 573) and an independent
non-executive director of each of Pacific Textiles Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 1382), Starlite Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 403), Modern Dental Group
Limited (Stock Code: 3600) and Human Health Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
1419), all companies whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Chan
has worked as a professional town planner with government bodies in Hong
Kong and Canada. He holds a double major degree in Sociology and Political
Science, a Master degree in City Planning from the University of Manitoba,
Canada, an Honorary Doctorate degree in Business Administration, as well as
being bestowed the Honorary Fellow from Lingnan University. Mr. Chan has
many years of professional experience in the public sector and over 38 years
of management experience in the food and catering industry. He is the Adviser
of the Quality Tourism Services Association and the Honorary Chairman of the
Hong Kong Institute of Marketing.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE (CONTINUED)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Chow Chee Wai, Christopher, aged 56, is an Independent Non-executive
Director, the chairman of both the Audit Committee and the Remuneration
Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee of the Company, who
joined the Group in 2013.

Mr. Chow is the Founding Partner of TCC Capital, an advisory and private equity
fund management company. He holds a Diploma of Investment and Finance
from The Securities Institute of Australia, a Bachelor of Economics degree from
The University of Sydney and is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Chow has over 20 years’ experience in
auditing and merger and acquisition advisory. Prior to founding TCC Capital,
he worked for two of the “Big Four” international accounting firms in Sydney,
Hong Kong and Beijing and was the Partner in charge of the mergers and
acquisitions practice. He possesses in-depth understanding of financial and
capital markets and has built up substantial experience in advising multinational
companies, state owned enterprises and private companies in Hong Kong and
Mainland China on a number of direct investments, and mergers and acquisitions
transactions.

Alex Chan, aged 55, is an Independent Non-executive Director and a member of
both the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the Company,
who joined the Group in 2023.

Mr. Chan is a director of Artellex Limited which provides high-quality art and
photography printing and trading services. He holds a Bachelor of Science
degree in Computer Science from McMaster University. From September 1999 to
November 2001, he built extensive telecommunications marketing experience in
Hong Kong CSL Limited. From 2001 to 2007, he was responsible for Hong Kong
retail business, branding strategies and development of the Group and served
as an Executive Director of the Company between June 2004 and February
2007. Subsequently, he held various senior positions at The Hong Kong Jockey
Club from March 2007 to June 2021. Mr. Chan, as a versatile leader with cross-
industry expertise, has over 20 years of diverse management experience in
sales operations, brand marketing, stakeholders engagement, and social media
governance.
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DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

TSE, TAT FUNG TOMMY
i 2 I

Tse Tat Fung, Tommy, aged 55, is the Group’s Deputy Chief Executive Officer.
He is responsible for the Group’s sales and operations in all markets plus the
Group’s creative directions and supply chain management. He joined the Group
after returning from the USA in 1994. He was the Chairman of the Group from
2000 to 2008 and was, during that time, responsible for the Group’s overall
strategy and business development. During his absence, his life had been
enriched through touching the hearts and souls of the inmates. He re-joined
the Group in September 2011. Mr. Tse graduated from Boston University and
holds a Bachelor of Science (Business Administration) degree, Bachelor of
Science (Mathematics) degree, and Master of Arts (Mathematics) degree. He
is a director of Partner Logistics Limited and Blink Technology Limited which
have discloseable interests in the Company under provisions of the SFO. He is
the son of Mr. Tse Sui Luen, the Founder of the Group, the spouse of Ms. Yau On
Yee, Annie, the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Group, and is the
controlling shareholder of the Group.
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AWARDS AND ACCOLADES

4% I8 B 32 1

— o~

SERVICE AWARDS PR %% 2 18

The Hong Kong Retail Management Association EARATEEEHS

HKRMA Quality Service Programme HKRMA B & R 5 &

2022 Quality Service Retailer of the Year - Chain Stores (Gold) 02 REEBERBTEH AL — EHE (£48)
Flagship Service Recognition FEAE AR 7S 3R RE

2022 Service Talent Award 20224 H AR % 88

Junior Frontline Level - New Participating Brands (Gold) HEERR — FHER (£52)
Top 10 Outstanding Flagship Service Store + K H PR AR TS IS
Outstanding Flagship Service Brand 5 0 TR AR 7 AR b

Quality Tourism Services Association BERERSHS
Outstanding QTS Merchant Award BHEBERFR

Merit QTS Merchant Award (Retail Category) HLEEHFERE(TEER)
Outstanding QTS Merchant Service Staff Award BRHBEFHFEIRKE
Supervisory - Jewellery & Watches (Bronze) FERET — IRE Mgk (i)
Front-line Staff - Jewellery & Watches (Bronze) ATARE T — R MEEk (%)
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AWARDS AND ACCOLADES (CONTINUED)
BIEERA(HE)

G
MERCURY

EXCELLENCE AWARTH
o oo =T

ll_ gdlmxg ' Jozz pemensnoRs —

Silver Winner | ASEERIAN GRAPISE DGR ANARD

ANNUAL REPORT AWARDS FHRIEE

ARC Awards 2022 ARC Awards 2022

Gold Non-Traditional Annual Report: Jewelry ko FELGFR KB
Bronze Cover Photo/Design: Jewelry i 4% HEMBE & RE
Bronze Printing & Production: Jewelry i 5% ENfRll e BUE « BRE
Galaxy Awards 2022 Galaxy Awards 2022

Bronze Design - Covers: Annual Reports - Special Treatment Eikd ®Et— HE - F - FRIFE
Mercury Awards 2022 Mercury Awards 2022

Silver Annual Reports - Overall Presentation: Jewelry HRAE Fil—BEEER KB
Bronze Annual Reports - Cover: Unique Presentation Eik3 Fi— HE - BERR
Bronze Annual Reports - Interior Design: Non-Traditional i 82 FH — NERET : FFES
American Graphic Design Award 2022 American Graphic Design Award 2022

by Graphic Design USA by Graphic Design USA

Winner Annual Report BiEE Fif

Good Design Award 2022 Good Design Award 2022

Winner Annual Report BaE TR
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THE TSL | #@mE FOUNDATION

TSLI SilmBES

Since the establishment of The TSL | #i%s 8 Foundation (“TSLF”) by the Group,
ceaseless efforts are put into the fulfillment of corporate social responsibility.
Retaining the initial motives of preserving traditional jewellery craftsmanship
and inspiring innovation for the sake of sustainable development of the jewellery
industry, the Group’s growth has widened the vision shared by TSLF and
reinforced TSLF's dedication on sparking inspiration and conserving art.

The preservation of Cantopop and the promotion of astronomy have been
the key focus areas of TSLF. Over the years, TSLF has found success with
some long-term partnerships and proactive invitations of sponsored activities.
In particular, sponsorship of Cantopop singers’ concerts and astronomers’
lectures or sharing sessions show continuous support to the music industry and
astronomy education in Hong Kong.

After the 3-year battle against the pandemic, of which sequelae are hindrances
to be reckoned with, Hong Kong has started its long-awaited journey to
recovery. Reintroducing Hong Kong to international society and building up the
forward-moving momentum of socio-economic activities are now prioritized and
TSLF is glad to be of service.
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CANTOPOP PRESERVATION

Cantopop has been and will continue to be an indispensable component of Hong
Kong's unique culture and identity. In its golden age, Cantopop led Hong Kong
to be the cultural powerhouse of Asia and the genre is now making a comeback
with a newfound creativity and diversity. In spite of the pandemic, Cantopop has
shown signs of revitalization with local singers and bands gaining more spotlight
and Cantopop returned to local favorite as manifested by statistics from various
music streaming platforms in recent years. The rising popularity of social media
helps cultivate a new generation of musicians, composers, and performers.

Preserving Cantopop during the pandemic era was a tough row to hoe, one of
the challenges was how to retain talents and professionals, as the practitioners’
income was severely struck by the lack of sizable performance opportunities
under gathering restrictions. Fortunately, following the scrapping of anti-
epidemic and social distancing measures, the creative industries are encouraged
to pick up their long-lost physical events planning and recommit their dedication
back to the industries, including the Cantopop sector which is excited to hold
live concerts again.

THE TSL | @i FOUNDATION (CONTINUED)
TSLI#mMES(E)
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THE TSL | #i¥mi FOUNDATION (CONTINUED)
TSLI@mMES(E)

Aiming to support the local music industry and cheer up people through
music healing, TSLF continued its long-term partnership with Mr. Albert Au, a
renowned Cantonese folk singer who earned his nickname “the Prince of Folk
Songs” for his contribution and status in Hong Kong music scene and became
the title sponsor of both his online and live concerts held in April and October
of 2022 respectively. Thanks to the support of the public, the two series of
concerts were held successfully with high hit rates and numerous audiences,
and part of the income was applied for charitable purposes benefiting the social
minorities.
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Mr. Albert Au sang on viewers’ request in holding live concerts
instead of online ones to raise funds for those affected by the
pandemic, purchasing anti-pandemic supplies for disadvantaged
groups.
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ASTRONOMY PROMOTION

The stars which light up the blue dome of the heavens have enlightened humans’
wonders and imaginations of the mysterious galaxy far beyond human’s reach
for millenniums. From a human’s perspective, ephemeral flashes from a distant
celestial object are equivalent to visualized embodiments of the quality human
desire, eternity. For the Group, the gorgeous space and celestial bodies above
us are extraordinary that have always been the wellspring of inspiration for our
jewellery designers and craftsmen, and also the dream we would love to share
with our customers.

With advancing technologies and improved utilization of past observation, our
understanding of the fathomless universe grows deeper, yet such developments
that are not widely advertised as neither astronomy nor cosmology is a
mainstream subject in schools. In view of this, TSLF set astronomy cultivation
among citizens as one of its obligations. Unfortunately, the pandemic together
with the gathering limitations prohibited TSLF's attempts on holding physical
educational forums and workshops in the past 3 years, as the traveling
restrictions discouraged astronomers and astronomy enthusiasts around the
world to actualize their exchange plans. Amid the worries regarding public
health and the worsened economy, citizens showed less interest in astronomy.

Nevertheless, TSLF endeavored to keep sponsoring online sharing sessions and
re-ignite the public’s curiosity about the cosmos. Mr. Tommy Tse, a trustee of
TSLF, has also echoed TSLF's mission by participating in the establishment of
the YouTube channel named HK Astroforum in 2022 to facilitate astronomical
knowledge and experience exchange among astronomy enthusiasts. With
greater allowance in the post-pandemic era, TSLF will be organizing or
sponsoring more sizable events for astronomy promotion. We believe that our
previous work was not in vain and the enthusiasm will resume in the near future.

THE TSL | @i FOUNDATION (CONTINUED)
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFEWME

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) have pleasure in presenting their
report together with the audited consolidated financial statements for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities and other particulars of the principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1
to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Year and the financial position of the Group as
at 31 March 2023 are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages
98 to 235 of this annual report.

No interim dividend was declared during the Year, and the Directors do not
recommend the payment of final dividend for the Year (2021/22 total dividend:
HK$4,984,000).

The Board has adopted a dividend policy with the principles and guidelines as
follows:

(@) In recommending or declaring dividends, the Company shall maintain
adequate cash reserves for meeting its working capital requirements and
future growth as well as the value of the shareholders of the Company
(the “Shareholders”);

(b)  The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend payout ratio;

(c)  The Board has the discretion to declare and distribute dividends to the

Shareholders, subject to the bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-laws”)
and all applicable laws and regulations as well as the factors set out
below;
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The Board shall also take into account the following factors of the
Group when considering the declaration and payment of dividends: (i)
financial performance, (ii) cash flow position, (iii) business conditions and
strategies, (iv) future operations and earnings, (v) capital requirements
and expenditure plans, (vi) market benchmark, (vii) the Shareholders’
interests and (viii) any other factors that the Board may consider relevant;

Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and the Group and
the factors as set out above, the following dividends may be proposed
and/or declared by the Board for a financial year or period: (i) interim
dividend, (ii) final dividend, (iii) special dividend and (iv) any distribution
of net profits or contributed surplus where applicable, that the Board may
deem appropriate;

The Board may from time to time pay to the Shareholders any interim
dividends as appear to the Board to be justified by the Company’s
profits. Save as the foregoing, payment of dividends will be subject to the
Shareholders” approval;

The Company may declare and pay dividends by way of cash or scrip or
by other means that the Board considers appropriate; and

Any unclaimed dividend shall be forfeited and shall revert to the Company
in accordance with the Bye-laws.
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(h)
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Exa@mE(E)

BUSINESS REVIEW

An overview and the outlook of the Group’s business are provided in the
sections headed “Letter to Shareholders” and “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis” of this annual report. Certain financial key performance indicators can
be found in the section headed “Financial Highlights”.

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group are shown in
note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

An account of the Group’s relationship with its key stakeholders and discussions
on the Group’s environmental policies and performance are included in the
section headed “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report, and in a
separate Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report. The ESG Report
will be published under the sub-section “ESG Reports” of “Investors” section
on the Company’s website at ir.tslj.com and the Stock Exchange’s website
in compliance with the stipulations under the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Friday, 22
September 2023 to Wednesday, 27 September 2023 (both days inclusive), for
the purpose of ascertaining Shareholders’ entitlement to attend and vote at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be held on Wednesday,
27 September 2023 (the “2023 AGM”). During the above closure period, no
transfer of shares will be registered. In order to be entitled to attend and vote at
the 2023 AGM, all completed transfer documents accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in
Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited of Shops 1712-
1716, 17/F, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong no
later than 4:30 p.m. (Hong Kong Time) on Thursday, 21 September 2023.

SHARE CAPITAL

There were no movements in the share capital of the Company during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws or the laws
in Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata
basis to existing Shareholders.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
BEEgHE(E)

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option scheme of the Company as disclosed in the section
headed “Share Option Scheme” of this Report of the Directors and in note 29
to the consolidated financial statements, no equity-linked agreements were
entered into by the Group during the Year or subsisted at the end of the Year.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

There were no charitable donations made by the Group during the Year
(2021/22: Nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT
PROPERTIES

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment as well as
investment properties of the Group during the Year are set out in notes 14 and
15 to the consolidated financial statements.

Particulars of the major properties of the Group are shown on pages 238 to 239
of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2023, the Company’s reserves available for distribution,
calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Bermuda Companies Act
1981 (as amended from time to time) (the “Bermuda Companies Act”) and the
Bye-laws, amounted to approximately HK$504,262,000, which represented the
contributed surplus and retained profits of the Company.
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Under the Bermuda Companies Act and the Bye-laws, the contributed surplus of
the Company is available for distribution. However, the Company cannot declare
or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of this contributed surplus if: (i) it
is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become
due; or (ii) the realisable value of its assets would thereby become less than its
liabilities.

Details of the above are set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The five largest customers in aggregate accounted for less than 30% of the
Group’s turnover for the Year. The five largest suppliers in aggregate and the
largest supplier of the Group accounted for approximately 65.9% and 25.2%
respectively by value of the Group’s total purchases.

Rosy Blue Hong Kong Limited, one of the Group's five largest suppliers, is
a fellow subsidiary of Rosy Blue Overseas Holdings Limited, which is the
preference shareholder of Partner Logistics Limited (the Company’s immediate
holding company).

Except for the above, none of the Directors or any of their close associates or
any of the Shareholders (which, to the knowledge of the Directors, own more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the
major customers and suppliers noted above.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
Exa@mE(E)

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Yau On Yee, Annie (Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)
Ng Yi Kum, Estella (Deputy Chairman, Chief Strategy Officer &
Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Chui Chi Yun, Robert

Chan Yue Kwong, Michael

Chow Chee Wai, Christopher

Alex Chan (appointed on 21 June 2023)

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert shall retire from his office
by rotation at the 2023 AGM, whereas Mr. Alex Chan (appointed by the Board
on 21 June 2023) shall hold office only until the 2023 AGM. Mr. Alex Chan, being
eligible, will offer himself for re-election at the 2023 AGM. Mr. Chui Chi Yun,
Robert will not offer himself for re-election at the 2023 AGM. All other Directors
continue in office for the ensuing year.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the 2023 AGM has a service contract
with the Group which is not determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to the Shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board with reference to the
Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the Group.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors for the Year are set out in note 9 to
the consolidated financial statements.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the Human
Resources Department and the employees’ emoluments are determined on the
basis of their qualifications, experiences and areas of expertise.

The emoluments of the executive Directors and senior management of the
Company are determined by the Remuneration Committee of the Company
having regard to the Group’s operating results, individual expertise, professional
experience and comparable market statistics.

The emoluments of the independent non-executive Directors, are decided by
the Board as recommended by the Remuneration Committee of the Company
having regard to comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities.

The emoluments of the Directors and employees of the Group include a share
option scheme, details of which are disclosed in the section headed “Share
Option Scheme” of this Report of the Directors.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
BEEgHE(E)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2023, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief
executive and/or their respective associates of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO, which were required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
required to be entered in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, or which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the
“Model Code™), were as follows:

Interests and long positions in ordinary shares of the Company

EERESTHRAERAQT RS - HER
T REERNERERAR

HZE2023F3A310  EERARAIRSTHRAE N 3
HESGZEMBEAREARRSHETMEEEE (TR
R EEEAIEXVER) 2k - BRRD REREEFH
BIREFES KIS EPIEXVEE7 R8DEMREAME A
NEIRBRTRER AR (BRERESFEPBEKAINRET
TEESXIERAEEIHOETRAR)  HBREBEZESFR
HERHIEIS2HEZREREARARGFE 2B - AR
BEMRANSETAEZ ETRARIRITAZZETESER
SeiZeEP A (M2 ) ME A DR KA FraEss

KEMT

KRB E B s R FR

Ordinary shares of HK$0.25 each

EREERBE0S THEER
Approximate
Derivative percentage of
Personal Family Corporate interest Other total issued
Name of Director interest interest interest (share options) interest share capital*
LB BT
TETERER RA&EH
EEME PN £ RikfER AR (BB RRAE) HibiE BMABE DL
Yau On Yee, Annie 130,553 180,691,775 - - - 72.57%
& E (Note Ki#E)
5,219
(Note FffzE)
* The percentage was calculated based on 249,182,030 ordinary shares of the  * B ERNR2023EFE3ANH AR T D 317249,182,030

Company in issue as at 31 March 2023.
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Note:

180,691,775 ordinary shares of the Company are held by Partner Logistics Limited,
a company which is owned and controlled by Blink Technology Limited. Blink
Technology Limited is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Tse Tat Fung, Tommy,
the spouse of Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie, an executive Director. By virtue of the SFO, Ms.
Yau On Yee, Annie is deemed to be interested in all the shares of the Company held
by Partner Logistics Limited.

5,219 ordinary shares of the Company are held by Mr. Tse Tat Fung, Tommy. By virtue
of the SFO, Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie is deemed to be interested in all the shares of the
Company held by Mr. Tse Tat Fung, Tommy.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, none of the Directors, chief
executive and their respective associates of the Company had any other
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) which required notification to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have taken under such
provisions of the SFO), or which were required pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO to be entered in the register maintained by the Company, or which were
required pursuant to the Model Code to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’ FERREREMATHRAEAATRG RIEBERG

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS

UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2023, the interests, all being long positions, of any substantial & ZE2023F3A31H @ AT ERESHEMA L (I FES
Shareholders or other persons (not being Directors or chief executive of the AR HZESITHAEL)EARR RN KL/ SABRIRGD
Company) in the shares and/or underlying shares of the Company which have ¥EBCIREES REASEHEXVEE2 X350 AR T B A
been disclosed to the Company pursuant to the provisions of Divisions 2 and RAafEHEHEE - MEREZFNHEIKFIEIZ6KALA
3 of Part XV of the SFO and have been recorded in the register required to be ARNAFEIFHNSLMANER (B AIFE) T

kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

IN SHARES AND MEZFEXA

Ordinary shares of HK$0.25 each

SREEBE0.25 THZER
Approximate
percentage of
Number of total issued
Name Capacity ordinary shares share capital*
HERITREBH
=L g4 ZERROEE BABE D
() Partner Logistics Limited (Note Ff7E1) Beneficial owner 180,691,775 72.51%
EmiEa A
(i) Blink Technology Limited (Note Fff#¥1) Interest of controlled corporation 180,691,775 72.51%
e NI
(i)  Tse Tat Fung, Tommy (Note Ff#E1) Interest of controlled corporation 180,691,775 72.57%
S SR NG
Interest of spouse 130,553
(R R d
Beneficial owner 5,219
=B A
(iv)  Rosy Blue Overseas Holdings Limited (Note Mi#E2) Interest of controlled corporation 180,691,775 72.51%
R 2k NG
(v)  Rosy Blue Jewellery (HK) Limited (Note Fif5¥2) Interest of controlled corporation 180,691,775 72.51%
SR NG
(vi)  Prime Investments S.A. (Note Fffz¥2) Interest of controlled corporation 180,691,775 72.51%
SR NG
(vii) Elmas Hong Kong Limited (Note Fff5+2) Trustee 180,691,775 72.51%
fEFEA
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Notes:

180,691,775 ordinary shares of the Company are held by Partner Logistics
Limited, a company which is owned and controlled by Blink Technology
Limited. Blink Technology Limited is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Tse
Tat Fung, Tommy, the spouse of Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie, an executive Director.
By virtue of the SFO, Blink Technology Limited, Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie (her
deemed interest is disclosed under the section headed “Directors” and Chief
Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures of the Company”) and Mr. Tse Tat Fung, Tommy are deemed to be
interested in all the shares of the Company held by Partner Logistics Limited.

130,553 ordinary shares of the Company are held by Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie. By
virtue of the SFO, Mr. Tse Tat Fung, Tommy is deemed to be interested in all
the shares of the Company held by Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie.

5,219 ordinary shares of the Company are held by Mr. Tse Tat Fung, Tommy.

These ordinary shares of the Company, relating to the same block of shares
mentioned in note 1 above, are held by Partner Logistics Limited, a company
which is owned and controlled by Blink Technology Limited. Rosy Blue
Overseas Holdings Limited is the preference shareholder of Partner Logistics
Limited. Rosy Blue Overseas Holdings Limited is wholly owned by Rosy Blue
Jewellery (HK) Limited, which in turn is wholly owned by Prime Investments
S.A.. Elmas Hong Kong Limited is the trustee of a discretionary trust, which
holds all interests of Prime Investments S.A.. By virtue of the SFO, each of
Rosy Blue Overseas Holdings Limited, Rosy Blue Jewellery (HK) Limited, Prime
Investments S.A. and Elmas Hong Kong Limited, is deemed to be interested in
all the shares of the Company held by Partner Logistics Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, the Company had not been
notified of any persons who had interests or short positions in the shares and/
or underlying shares of the Company, which were required to be recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the

SFO.

B LR EEE SN -
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CHANGES OF DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION PURSUANT TO
RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in information of the
Directors since the last published interim report are as follows:

- Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie, an executive Director, has resigned as a director
of GST Hong Kong on 15 December 2022. Ms. Yau has been appointed as
a standing committee member of the Eighth Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference of Hainan Province with effect from 10 January
2023, and a member of the Council for Carbon Neutrality and Sustainable
Development with effect from 1 May 2023.

- Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert, an independent non-executive Director, has
resigned as an independent non-executive director of National Arts Group
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8228), a company the shares of which are
listed on the Stock Exchange, with effect from 19 November 2022. Mr.
Chui has been appointed as an independent non-executive director of
Dragon King Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8493), a company the
shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange, with effect from 5 May
2023.

Changes in Directors’ emoluments during the Year are set out in note 9 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a new share option scheme at its annual general
meeting held on 21 July 2016 (the “2016 Share Option Scheme”). The following is
a summary of the principal terms of the 2016 Share Option Scheme:

1. Purpose:

The purpose of the 2016 Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives
or rewards to participants thereunder for their contribution to the Group
and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees
and attract human resources that are valuable to the Group and any entity
in which the Group holds any equity interest (“Invested Entity”).
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Participants:

(a)

s

(©

)

(e)

®

(9)

Q)

any employee(s) (whether full time or part time employee(s),
including any director or executive director but not any non-
executive director) of the Company, its subsidiaries or any Invested
Entity;

any non-executive director (including independent non-executive
directors) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any Invested
Entity;

any supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity;

any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any person or entity that provides research, development or
technological support or other services to the Group or any
Invested Entity;

any shareholder of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity
or any holder of any securities issued by any member of the Group
or any Invested Entity;

any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to any area of
business or business development of any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity; and

any other group or classes of participants who have contributed or
may contribute by way of joint venture, business alliance or other
business and/or financial arrangement to the development and
growth of the Group.
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Total number of shares available for issue and the
percentage of issued shares as at the date of this annual
report:

Pursuant to the terms of the 2016 Share Option Scheme, the total number
of ordinary shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to
be granted under the 2016 Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of
the total number of shares in issue on 21 July 2016 (the “Adoption Date”)
(i.e. not exceeding 21,033,622 shares (representing approximately 8.44%
of the issued shares as at the date of this annual report) on the basis that
the total issued share capital of the Company as at the Adoption Date
is 210,336,221 shares). Options lapsed in accordance with the terms of
the 2016 Share Option Scheme or any other share option schemes of the
Company will not be counted for the purpose of calculating the 10% limit.
However, the maximum number of ordinary shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the 2016 Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes
of the Company must not exceed 30% of the total number of shares in
issue from time to time.

Maximum entitlement of each participant:

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the options granted to each participant (including both exercised and
outstanding options) in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the
total number of shares in issue of the Company. For any grant of options
to a substantial Shareholder or an independent non-executive Director,
or any of their respective associates, the Company’s shares issued and to
be issued upon exercise of all options already granted and to be granted
(including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such person
within any 12-month period shall not exceed 0.1% of the issued shares of
the Company in aggregate and with an aggregate value (based on the
closing price of the Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess of
HK$5 million.

Any further grant is subject to the Shareholders’ approval in general
meeting with the grantee, his/her/its associates and core connected
persons of the Company abstaining from voting in favour.
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Period within which the option may be exercised by the
grantee:

The period would be commencing from the date of grant of an option and
ending on such date as the Board may determine in granting the option
but in any event not exceeding 10 years from the date of grant.

Vesting period of options granted:

The Board may at its discretion determine the minimum period for which
the option has to be held or other restrictions before the exercise of the
subscription right attaching thereto.

Amount payable on application or acceptance of the option
and the period within which payments must be made:

Upon acceptance of the option, the grantee shall pay HK$1 to the
Company by way of consideration for the grant. Any offer may be
accepted in respect of less than the number of shares for which it is
offered provided that it is accepted in a board lot for dealing in the
Company'’s shares on the Stock Exchange or an integral multiple thereof.
An offer is open for acceptance within 28 days from the date of offer
provided that no offer shall be open for acceptance after the expiry of the
2016 Share Option Scheme or after the 2016 Share Option Scheme has
been terminated.

Basis of determining the exercise price of options granted:

The exercise price of the option shall be determined by the Board and
such price must be at least the higher of (i) the closing price of the shares
of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the offer date, which must be a trading day; (ii) the average closing
price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet for the five trading days immediately preceding the
offer date; and (iii) the nominal value of a share of the Company.
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9. Remaining life:

The 2016 Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for a period of 10
years, which will expire on 21 July 2026.

As at the beginning and the end of the Year, the number of options available
for grant under the 2016 Share Option Scheme is 21,033,622, representing
approximately 8.44% of the total number of issued shares of the Company as
at the date of this annual report. As at the date of this report, no share option
has been granted under the 2016 Share Option Scheme since it was adopted.
During the Year, no material matter relating to the 2016 Share Option Scheme
was brought to issue requiring the review or approval of the Remuneration
Committee of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Apart from the share option scheme operated by the Company as disclosed in
the section headed “Share Option Scheme” and in note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements, neither at the end of nor at any time during the Year did
there subsist any arrangement to which the Company, its holding company
or subsidiaries, was a party, and the objects of or one of the objects of such
arrangement were/was to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

DEBENTURES IN ISSUE

The Company did not have any debentures in issue during the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

With effect from 1 September 2011, (i) Mr. Tse Tat Fung, Tommy (“Mr. Tommy
Tse”), the substantial Shareholder and the spouse of Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie
("Ms. Annie Yau”), the executive Director, has been employed by a subsidiary of
the Company as the Chief Merchandising Officer (subsequently, re-designated
as the Deputy Chief Executive Officer with effect from 1 November 2016)
("“Tommy Tse Employment”); and (ii) Mr. Tse Sui Luen, the father of Mr. Tommy
Tse and father-in-law of Ms. Annie Yau, has been employed by a subsidiary
of the Company as the Founder (“Tse Senior Employment”). Both Tommy Tse
Employment and Tse Senior Employment have been revised on 22 June 2012,
further details are disclosed in the announcement dated 22 June 2012. Both
Tommy Tse Employment and Tse Senior Employment constitute continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

During the Year, the amounts in respect of Tse Senior Employment is below de
minimis threshold for the purposes of Rule 14A.76(1) of the Listing Rules, Tse
Senior Employment is fully exempt from Shareholders’ approval, annual review
and all disclosure requirements under the Listing Rules.

The roles and functions of the senior management of the Group have changed
due to the continued development of the Group in 2016. Mr. Tommy Tse
has taken up the role in supply chain and wholesale business, as well as the
leadership of China retail, travel trade, alternate channels and the Group’s
branding and creative directions. On 31 October 2016, the Company through
its subsidiary entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Tommy Tse
(“2016 Tommy Tse Employment Agreement”), which superseded his previous
employment agreement. On 29 March 2018, a renewed employment agreement
was entered into for a further term of 25 months commencing on 1 March 2018
and expiring on 31 March 2020 (“2018 Tommy Tse Employment Agreement”) in
light of the change of the Group’s financial year-end date. Further details are
disclosed in the announcements dated 1 November 2016 and 29 March 2018.
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Pursuant to Rule 14A.76(2) of the Listing Rules, 2016 Tommy Tse Employment
Agreement and 2018 Tommy Tse Employment Agreement and the annual caps
were only subject to the disclosure in annual report, announcement and annual
review by independent non-executive Directors and auditor requirements,
but were exempt from the circular and independent Shareholders” approval
requirements as all of the relevant percentage ratios for the aggregate annual
package of Mr. Tommy Tse was less than 5%.

On 26 March 2020, a renewed employment agreement was entered into for a
further term of 2 years commencing on 1 April 2020 and expiring on 31 March
2022 (“2020 Tommy Tse Employment Agreement”). Subsequently, on 28 March
2022, a renewed employment agreement was entered into for a further term
of 3 years commencing on 1 April 2022 and expiring on 31 March 2025 (“2022
Tommy Tse Employment Agreement”), which is terminable on three months’
notice in writing by either party. According to 2020 Tommy Tse Employment
Agreement and 2022 Tommy Tse Employment Agreement, the total amount
(including basic salary and discretionary bonus) payable to Mr. Tommy Tse for
any financial year shall not exceed the de minimis threshold of HK$3,000,000
under Rule 14A.76(1) of the Listing Rules; any excess amount shall be payable
to Mr. Tommy Tse upon the Company having re-complied with the relevant
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

In view of Mr. Tommy Tse’s valuable contribution to the Group, the
improvements of the Group’s performance and the market condition during
2021/22, the Board has approved to revise the annual cap of the total amount
payable to Mr. Tommy Tse under 2020 Tommy Tse Employment Agreement for
2021/22 to HK$3,200,000. Further details are disclosed in the announcement
dated 21 June 2022.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.76(2) of the Listing Rules, all of the relevant percentage
ratios for the total amount payable to Mr. Tommy Tse for 2021/22 was less
than 5%. As regards 2021/22, 2020 Tommy Tse Employment Agreement and
the revised annual cap were only subject to the disclosure in annual report,
announcement and annual review by independent non-executive Directors
and auditor requirements, but were exempt from the circular and independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements.
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The total amount paid to Mr. Tommy Tse under 2022 Tommy Tse Employment
Agreement for the Year is below de minimis threshold for the purposes of Rule
14A.76(1) of the Listing Rules, Tommy Tse Employment is fully exempt from
Shareholders’ approval, annual review and all disclosure requirements under
the Listing Rules. During the Year, the Company has complied with the relevant
disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above and disclosed in note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements, there was no connected transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance to which the Company, its holding company or subsidiaries was
a party, and in which a Director or an entity connected with a Director, either
directly or indirectly, had a material interest, nor any interest in competing
business, whether directly or indirectly, nor contract of significance between
the Company or its subsidiaries and a controlling Shareholder or its subsidiaries,
subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during the Year and up to the
date of this report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Certain significant related party transactions entered into by the Group
during the Year, which do not constitute connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions under the Listing Rules, are disclosed in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed as at the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, every Director or other officers of the Company shall
be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets and profits of the Company
against all losses or damages which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the
execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto. The
Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
coverage, which is currently in force and was in force throughout the Year, for
the Directors and officers of the Group.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the listed securities of the Company during the Year.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2023
are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controlling
interests of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages 236 to
237 of this annual report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this report, the Company has
maintained the prescribed public float as required under the Listing Rules.

060

BEFRE

RBARME  BUEERARREMSBASREAE
SROTBBIERMEEBERARTIREE L AAERR
BE  ARAALFAEELRBNTENEE -ARFER
EERAEERRAEBELTHEBYNER IR AFERY
—HARZEZERSRAEEERR -

BE  HEIBEEARTIN LTRSS

ARBHEETAMBRARNRAFEARERE - HERE
BIARRRIEA EHES

RITERREMEE
REEN2023F3 AN AMBRITER REMERFHIFTRR
AR A B TSR RE2S

TFHBHRE

AEBENBEAEMRFENFEREE  AEKIFEK
PR BN AR F B 236 2378 -

NRERE

BEREAREBPARBRAEEREETNATZLARE
B RAR—E#F ETRRIAMTRAZ ARSHE



SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF THE CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER

Acting as guarantor for the facilities agreement with Hang Seng
Bank Limited, China CITIC Bank International Limited, China
Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited, Fubon Bank
(Hong Kong) Limited, United Overseas Bank Limited, Chong
Hing Bank Limited and Bangkok Bank Public Company Limited,
Hong Kong Branch

On 29 March 2019, the Company and a subsidiary of the Company as guarantors
and certain subsidiaries of the Company as borrowers (the “Borrowers”) entered
into a facilities agreement (the “Facilities Agreement”) with Hang Seng Bank
Limited, China CITIC Bank International Limited, China Construction Bank (Asia)
Corporation Limited, Fubon Bank (Hong Kong) Limited, United Overseas Bank
Limited, Chong Hing Bank Limited and Bangkok Bank Public Company Limited,
Hong Kong Branch acting as mandated lead arrangers and original lenders,
pursuant to which certain loan facilities, comprising a term loan and a revolving
loan, in the aggregate amount of HK$820,000,000 (the “Facilities”), has been
granted to the Borrowers for a term of 3.5 years from the date of the first
utilisation of the Facilities.

Pursuant to the Facilities Agreement, it will be an event of default if Ms. Annie
Yau, the spouse of Mr. Tommy Tse (being the controlling Shareholder) ceases
to be the chairman of the Board; or Ms. Annie Yau and her immediate family
members taken as a whole cease to (i) be, directly or indirectly, the single
largest Shareholder; or (ii) have control of the Company (where “control” is
defined as meaning the power (whether by way of ownership of shares, proxy,
contract, agency or otherwise) to: (a) appoint or remove all, or the majority
of, directors on the Board or such other persons who may be charged with
or entitled to exercise central management and control of that corporate
person; or (b) directly or indirectly to otherwise direct or cause the direction of
management and policies of that corporate person) (which, for the avoidance
of doubt, includes the right to determine the composition of a majority of the
Board); or Ms. Annie Yau and her immediate family members taken as a whole
cease to remain as the direct or indirect, legal and beneficial owner of at least
36% of the issued share capital of the Company which is free from any Security
(as defined in the Facilities Agreement).
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Upon the occurrence of such an event of default which is continuing, the agent
under the Facilities Agreement may, and shall if so directed by the Majority
Lenders (as defined in the Facilities Agreement), cancel the Commitments (as
defined in the Facilities Agreement) or any part thereof, and/or declare all or
part of the loans outstanding under the Facilities, together with accrued interest,
and all other amounts accrued or outstanding under the Finance Documents
(as defined in the Facilities Agreement) be immediately due and payable, and/
or declare all or part of the loans outstanding under the Facilities be payable
on demand, and/or exercise or direct the security agent to exercise any or all
of its rights, remedies, powers or discretions under the Finance Documents (as
defined in the Facilities Agreement).

On 17 May 2022, all outstanding amount arising from the Facilities was fully
prepaid.

Acting as guarantor for the facilities agreement with Hang Seng
Bank Limited, China CITIC Bank International Limited, United
Overseas Bank Limited, Fubon Bank (Hong Kong) Limited, Bank
SinoPac, Hong Kong Branch and China Construction Bank (Asia)
Corporation Limited

On 6 May 2022, the Company and a subsidiary of the Company as guarantors
and another subsidiary of the Company as borrower (the “New Borrower™)
entered into a facilities agreement (the “New Facilities Agreement”) with Hang
Seng Bank Limited, China CITIC Bank International Limited, United Overseas
Bank Limited, Fubon Bank (Hong Kong) Limited, Bank SinoPac, Hong Kong
Branch and China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited acting as
mandated lead arrangers and original lenders, pursuant to which certain loan
facilities, comprising a term loan and a revolving loan, in the aggregate amount
of HK$820,000,000 (the “New Facilities”), has been granted to the New
Borrower for a term of 3.5 years from the date of the first utilisation of the New
Facilities.
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Pursuant to the New Facilities Agreement, it will be an event of default if Ms.
Annie Yau, the spouse of Mr. Tommy Tse (being the controlling Shareholder)
ceases to be the chairman of the Board; or Ms. Annie Yau and her immediate
family members (including any child, stepchild, parent, stepparent, spouse,
sibling, mother-in-law, father-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, brother-in-
law and sister-in-law) taken as a whole cease to (i) be, directly or indirectly, the
single largest Shareholder; or (ii) have control of the Company (where “control”
is defined as meaning the power (whether by way of ownership of shares,
proxy, contract, agency or otherwise) to: (a) appoint or remove all, or the
majority of, directors on the Board or such other persons who may be charged
with or entitled to exercise central management and control of that corporate
person; or (b) directly or indirectly to otherwise direct or cause the direction of
management and policies of that corporate person) (which, for the avoidance
of doubt, includes the right to determine the composition of a majority of the
Board); or Ms. Annie Yau and her immediate family members taken as a whole
cease to remain as the direct or indirect, legal and beneficial owner of at least
36% of the issued share capital of the Company which is free from any Security
(as defined in the New Facilities Agreement).

Upon the occurrence of such an event of default which is continuing, the
agent under the New Facilities Agreement may, and shall if so directed by
the Majority Lenders (as defined in the New Facilities Agreement), cancel the
Commitments (as defined in the New Facilities Agreement) or any part thereof,
and/or declare all or part of the loans outstanding under the New Facilities,
together with accrued interest, and all other amounts accrued or outstanding
under the Finance Documents (as defined in the New Facilities Agreement) be
immediately due and payable, and/or declare all or part of the loans outstanding
under the New Facilities be payable on demand, and/or exercise or direct the
security agent to exercise any or all of its rights, remedies, powers or discretions
under the Finance Documents (as defined in the New Facilities Agreement).
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions as set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules. Throughout the Year and up to the date of this annual report, the
Company has been in compliance with the code provisions set out in the CG
Code, save and except for code provision C.2.1, details of which are set out in
the section headed “Corporate Governance Report”.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules. Specific enquiries have been made to all the Directors and
the Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code
throughout the Year and up to the date of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group continues to comply with the relevant laws and regulations, such
as the Bermuda Companies Act, the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), the SFO, the Listing Rules and other rules and regulations
implemented in relevant jurisdictions. During the Year, the Company has
complied, to the best of the knowledge of the Directors, with all relevant rules
and regulations that have a significant impact on the business and operation of
the Group.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any relief and exemption from taxation available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the shares of the Company.
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EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There have not been any significant events affecting the Group after 31 March
2023.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year have been
audited by Ernst & Young (“EY”). EY will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of EY as
independent auditor of the Company will be proposed at the 2023 AGM.

By Order of the Board
Yau On Yee, Annie
Chairman

Hong Kong, 21 June 2023
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board has committed to achieving high corporate governance standards.

The Board believes that high corporate governance standards are essential
in providing a framework for the Company to safeguard the interests of the
Shareholders and to enhance corporate value and accountability.

During the Year, the Company has applied the principles and complied with all
the code provisions, except for code provision C.2.1, as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. The offices of chairman and chief executive officer of the Company
are held by Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie. The Board believes that Ms. Yau On Yee,
Annie can provide the Company with strong and consistent leadership and
allows for effective and efficient planning and implementation of business
decisions and strategies. The Board also considers that the current structure
of vesting the roles of chairman and chief executive in the same person will
not impair the balance of power and authority between the Board and the
management of the Company.

CORPORATE STRATEGY AND CULTURE

Healthy corporate culture is crucial for the Group to achieve its corporate
strategy towards sustainable operation. The Board plays an important role to
cultivate a corporate culture to guide the behaviors of employees, and ensure
that the Group’s purpose, values and strategy are aligned with its culture.

Conducting business in an ethical manner is a cornerstone of the Group’s
success. The Company attaches importance to integrity and long-term
relationship with stakeholders. The provision of quality product and service
experience to customers has always been a fundamental value of the Group. The
Board also believes that the business development and management strategies
as well as the common efforts and contributions of employees are vital to the
steady and sustainable growth of the Group in the long run.
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Vision

Bring a transformative voice to the traditional world of fine jewellery, redefine
luxury by unique individuality, self-actualization and exceptional craftsmanship.
Mission

Create delicate pieces to articulate feelings and capture vital moments, inspire
versatile designs that break boundaries and go beyond sex, age, skin color and
culture.

Values

Diversity - Embrace diversity and respect differences.
Integrity - Be open, truthful and ethical consistently.

Excellence - Demonstrate persistent commitment to achieve excellence while
keep reflecting, improving and innovating to reach new heights.

Sustainability - Make decisions taking into consideration their potential impacts
in the long run.

People - Offer customers the most genuine and distinguished service and
experience.

More information about the Group’s vision, mission and values is available on the
Company’s website at ir.tsli.com (About TSL | #i¥%E section).

The Group has continued to strengthen its cultural framework throughout the
Year, details of the strategic initiatives are disclosed in the sections headed
“Letter to Shareholders” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis” of this
annual report and in a separate ESG Report.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code for dealing in securities
of the Company by the Directors.

Specific enquiry has been made to all the Directors and all the Directors have
confirmed their compliance with the Model Code throughout the Year.

The Company has also established written guidelines no less exacting than the
Model Code (the “Employees Written Guidelines”) for securities transactions by
employees who are likely to be in possession of unpublished inside information
of the Group. No incident of non-compliance of the Employees Written
Guidelines by the employees was noted by the Company during the Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Board Composition

The Board of the Company comprises the following directors:

The Board

Executive Directors:
HITES :
Ms. YAU On Yee, Annie
(Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)
WzEL L
(FERITBABE)
Ms. NG Yi Kum, Estella
(Deputy Chairman, Chief Strategy Officer &
Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary)
hmEL L
(BIEE - BEFREEYEERAAWE)

The biographical information of the Directors is set out in the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management Profile” of this annual report. None of the
members of the Board is related to one another.
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Independent Non-executive Directors:
BUFHITES :

Mr. CHUI Chi Yun, Robert

EECEE

Mr. CHAN Yue Kwong, Michael

BRAE

Mr. CHOW Chee Wai, Christopher
BaE L

Mr. Alex CHAN (appointed on 21 June 2023)
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual.

The offices of chairman and chief executive officer of the Company are held
by Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie. The Board considers that the current management
structure has operated efficiently. According to the Company’s practice, all
major strategic decisions are taken by the Board, or relevant committee of the
Board, as duly constituted.

The Board considers that the current structure of vesting the roles of chairman
and chief executive in the same person will not impair the balance of power and
authority between the Board and the management of the Company.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the Year, the Board at all times met the requirements of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
Directors, representing one-third of the Board with one of whom possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive Directors in respect of his independence in
accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. All of them are not connected with any Director or substantial shareholder
of the Company. The Company is of the view that all independent non-executive
Directors are independent.
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Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert, Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael and Mr. Chow Chee Wai,
Christopher have served the Board as independent non-executive Directors
for more than nine years. Notwithstanding their long term services, given their
extensive experience as professional accountant or seasoned business leader
would significantly contribute to the strategy development and continuous
improvement on internal controls and other relevant financial and corporate
governance matters of the Company, the Nomination Committee is satisfied
that they demonstrate complete independency in character and judgement to
fulfil their designated roles, and the Board is of the opinion that they continue
to bring independent and objective perspectives to the Company’s affairs. As
all independent non-executive Directors during the Year have served more than
nine years on the Board, Mr. Alex Chan has been appointed as an additional
independent non-executive Director on 21 June 2023 pursuant to code provision
B.2.4(b) of the CG Code.

Mechanism has been established to ensure independent views and input
are available to the Board. Independent non-executive Directors exercise
independent judgement and provide constructive challenge for the executive
Directors and the management, annual meeting with the Chairman is also a
direct and effective channel for the independent non-executive Directors to
express independent views. Any Director may seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expense.

In accordance with its clear terms of reference, the Nomination Committee
will access the independence of all independent non-executive Directors
annually and make sure that they are free from any relationship which may
affect their independent judgement. During the Year, the Board reviewed the
implementation of the said independence mechanism and considered that it
remains effective.
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Re-election of Directors

Pursuant to bye-law 83(2) of the Bye-laws, any director appointed by the Board
to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an addition to the existing Board shall
hold office until the next following annual general meeting of the Company and
shall then be eligible for re-election. Code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code states
that every director, including those appointed for a specific term, should be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Each of the Directors is appointed for a specific term of three years and is
subject to retirement by rotation once every three years.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the Board
and Management

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company and
oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and performance and is
collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company by directing
and supervising its affairs. The Directors make decisions objectively in the
interests of the Company.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have brought a
wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism
to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the Company
as well as the services and advice from the Company Secretary and senior
management. The Directors may, upon request, seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for discharging
their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices held by them
and the Board regularly reviews the contribution required from each Director to
perform his/her responsibilities to the Company.
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The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to policy matters,
strategies and budgets, risk management and internal control, material
transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial
information, appointment of Directors and other significant operational matters
of the Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the
Board, directing and coordinating the daily operation and management of the
Company are delegated to the management.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors keep abreast of responsibilities as a Director and of the conduct,
business activities and development of the Company.

Every newly appointed Director will receive formal, comprehensive and tailored
induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the Company and full
awareness of Director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules
and relevant statutory requirements.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional development
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. All Directors are
encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the Company’s expenses.

A summary of training received by Directors during the Year according to the
records provided by the Directors is as follows:
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LEEERDRE -
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RAEZEERNFERRRIRE - BRAARARAE

o

BEEFRENTE  EERAFERNEIBINHEN
T

Attending briefings/
trainings/seminars and/
or reading materials

HEENE E

Directors 2= WEER, SEEN
Ms. YAU On Yee, Annie WEEL L v
Ms. NG Yi Kum, Estella h&EELL v
Mr. CHUI Chi Yun, Robert EECxE v
Mr. CHAN Yue Kwong, Michael BRAE S ST v
Mr. CHOW Chee Wai, Christopher BaERE v
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. All the said Board committees of the Company are established with
defined written terms of reference, which are posted on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange and are available to the Shareholders upon
request.

All or the majority of the members of the said Board committees are
independent non-executive Directors and the list of the chairman and
members of each Board committee is set out in the section headed “Corporate
Information” of this annual report.

Audit Committee

The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee include the following:

. to review the financial statements and reports and consider any significant
or unusual items raised by the Company’s staff responsible for accounting
and financial reporting function, internal auditor or external auditor before
submission to the Board;

. to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s financial
reporting system, risk management and internal control systems and
internal audit function; and

. to review the relationship with the external auditor with reference to the
work performed by the auditor, their fees and terms of engagement, and
make recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment
and removal of external auditor.

The Audit Committee oversees the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group, reviews the internal audit report submitted by the Group’s
Internal Audit Department (the “IA Department”), reports to the Board on any
material issues, and makes recommendations to the Board.
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The Audit Committee held two meetings during the Year, a summary of work
performed is set out as follows:

reviewed the final results and annual report for 2021/22;

approved the audit fee quotation from external auditor for 2021/22;
reviewed the significant issues on financial reporting and compliance
procedures, risk management and internal control systems, as well as the

effectiveness of internal audit function;

reviewed the interim results and interim report for the six months ended
30 September 2022;

reviewed the audit plan for the Year; and

reviewed the scope of work and re-appointment of external auditor with
reference to audit fee market data.

Remuneration Committee

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include the
following:
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to make recommendations to the Board on the establishment of formal
and transparent procedures for developing the remuneration policy and
structure for all Directors and the senior management, which shall ensure
that no Director or any of his/her associates will participate in deciding
his/her own remuneration;

to determine, with delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages of
the executive Directors and the senior management with reference to the
performance of the individual and the Company as well as market practice
and conditions;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of the non-executive Directors with reference to the performance of the
individual and the Company as well as market practice and conditions;

RAFEALXBITTMREH  THEHRENM

- B
o
I
TS

FE[2021/22 2 R EEA R FRRE

HOESNIEAZ BIAT2021/22 2 T rt B AR (E -

. HHPMBREMNGRRERF  BREBEMAIPEZR
FARRNPEABEERETENEANSE

. EMHZE2022F9A308 L XEAMPHEE LS
HisR e

. EBEAFE RS &

. SLEFZHERTISEBARMINE R AN TS
BT

#
=
i
o
g
=
N
s
il
o
oh
N
—
R
S

. RETEREAEARZEFUGIZ2BEERS
REBABNFMRRELRRBRAESSREER -
ARREEEFAEFMBEABLSEREER S
HOFTEN

. BEEeERREE  BBR2EENALTRARFMN
RBEURTGEHIRER  BEETATEERERE
EABMH TS

. FEB/LSEERALRARRNRFIARTIZE R
BN RIERTEENHFHGTBRAES SR OES



. to review and approve the compensation arrangements for the executive
Directors and the senior management in connection with any loss or
termination of their offices or appointments; and

. to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the Year, a summary of
work performed is set out as follows:

. reviewed and approved the discretionary bonus to the executive Directors
and the senior management for 2021/22;

. reviewed and approved the remuneration packages of the executive
Directors and the senior management for the Year;

. reviewed and approved changes to the discretionary bonus schemes of
the executive Directors and the senior management;

. reviewed and approved the revised annual cap for the remuneration
package of Mr. Tse Tat Fung, Tommy for 2021/22 and made
recommendation to the Board;

. reviewed and recommended to the Board on the remuneration of the
independent non-executive Directors for the Year; and

. noted the remuneration package of Mr. Tse Sui Luen for the Year.
The emolument policy and remuneration packages of the Directors, senior

management of the Company and employees of the Group are disclosed in the
section headed “Report of the Directors” of this annual report.
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The remuneration of the members of senior management of the Company by
band for the Year is set out below:

ARBBRERABRAFENFMERNT -

Number of Persons

Range of Remuneration N E AE
HK$2,000,000 to HK$2,999,999 72,000,000 &% 2,999,999 7T 1
HK$3,000,000 to HK$3,999,999 753,000,000 70 2 /8% 3,999,999 7T 1
HK$4,000,000 to HK$4,999,999 4,000,000 T E B %5 4,999,999 7T 1

Nomination Committee

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include the following:
. to review the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board;

. to make recommendation to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors;

. to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members; and
. to assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors.

The Board Diversity Policy aims to set out the approach to achieve diversity
on the Board. In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various diversity aspects under the Board Diversity
Policy that complement the Company’s corporate strategy, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, talents, skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board
appointments would be based on meritocracy, and candidates would be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.
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The Board has adopted the Director Nomination Policy, which aims to set
out the procedures, process and criteria for nomination and appointment of
Directors, and to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to the Company’s business and succession
plan. In identifying, evaluating and selecting suitable candidate for directorship,
the Nomination Committee would consider the candidates’ character and
integrity, potential contributions to the Board in terms of qualifications, skills,
knowledge, experience and time commitment, diversity aspects under the
Board Diversity Policy, independence (for independent non-executive Director)
and other relevant criteria before making recommendation to the Board. The
Nomination Committee would also rank the candidates by order of preference
based on the Company’'s needs and the candidates’ reference check where
required.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the Year, a summary of
work performed is set out as follows:

. reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board and
the Director Nomination Policy;

. reviewed and recommended to the Board on the implementation and
effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy;

. assessed the independence of independent non-executive Directors; and

. recommended the re-election of Ms. Ng Yi Kum, Estella and Mr. Chan Yue
Kwong, Michael at the 2022 annual general meeting after reviewing their
overall contribution and service to the Company and level of participation
and performance on the Board and determining that they continue to
meet the above criteria.
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The following table shows the gender ratio in the Board and the Group’s
workforce (including senior management) respectively as at 31 March 2023:

EENALEREE (BERLEEAB) K2023F3 A3
BEMRIEEHIR TR

Female Male

g3 B

Board A 40% 60%
Workforce EE 81% 19%

The Board considers that the Board composition of two female and three male
Directors with diverse professional background and industry experience during
the Year maintained an appropriate balance of diversity perspectives. Gender
diversity has been achieved at board level with at least one female Director
throughout the Year and up to the date of this report. It is therefore not
necessary to set any target or timeline for enhancing gender diversity on the
Board for the time being. To maintain gender diversity, both male and female
candidates will be shortlisted for consideration before appointing a new Director
where possible.

The Company values diversity (including gender diversity) across all levels of
the Group. All employees are provided equal opportunities regardless of their
gender, age, nationality and religion. Taking into consideration of the industry
norm, the Board is of the view that the gender diversity in workforce is currently
balanced, and no immediate plan or measurable objective for enhancing gender
diversity in workforce is required. Further details on the gender ratio in the
Group’s workforce are set out in the ESG Report.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the code
provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

During the Year, the Board reviewed the Company’s corporate governance
policies and practices, the training and continuous professional development
of Directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model
Code and the Employees Written Guidelines, and the Company’s compliance
with the CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.
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ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS AND COMMITTEE EERZEEHENHERCHE
MEMBERS

The attendance record of each Director at the Board and Board committees BEERAFENBHNEZTSENEETSTESEHEUR
meetings and the general meeting of the Company held during the Year is set AA TR A& H EEREHTIN T -
out in the table below:

Attendance/Number of Meetings

HE SRR E

Annual

Audit Remuneration Nomination General

Directors Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting

5= EEEg BXKZEEE FHEEE REEEE REEFAS

Ms. YAU On Yee, Annie 4/4 - 1/1 1/1 1/1
&L+

Ms. NG Yi Kum, Estella 4/4 - 1/1 - 1/1
h@EEL L

Mr. CHUI Chi Yun, Robert 4/4 2/2 1/1 - 1/1
EECxE

Mr. CHAN Yue Kwong, Michael 4/4 2/2 1/1 1/1 11
PRAA S

Mr. CHOW Chee Wai, Christopher 4/4 2/2 1/1 1/1 1/1
e EE

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held a meeting with the BRTFHERTHEZES I TERLAEERNIC BB
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other Directors JEH{TEERITT — RN EEEMEEHENSSE - IEA
during the Year. All the relevant Directors attended this meeting. WESEHEHFIILSE -

079



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

TEERBRE(E)

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the Year.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment of annual and interim reports, inside information announcements
and other financial disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other
statutory and regulatory requirements.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and information
as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed assessment of the
Company'’s financial statements, which are put to the Board for approval.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary of the Company is Ms. Ng Yi Kum, Estella, who had duly
complied with the relevant training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules during the Year.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the section headed
“Independent Auditor’s Report” of this annual report.

The remuneration paid/payable to Ernst & Young, the external auditor of the
Company, was approximately HK$2,633,000 for audit services during the Year.
No other assurance services fee was paid/payable to EY. The remuneration
paid/payable to EY was approximately HK$206,000 for non-assurance services
during the Year.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for overseeing the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group and reviewing their effectiveness at
least annually through the Audit Committee. The Group’s executive management
and the IA Department have been delegated the responsibility of identifying and
evaluating the risks faced by the Group (including ESG risks) and of designing,
operating and monitoring an effective internal control system that covers
governance, compliance, risk management, financial as well as operational
control.

The risk management process includes risk identification, risk evaluation,
risk management measures and risk control and review. The management is
delegated to identify, analyze, evaluate, respond, monitor and communicate
risks associated with any activity, function or process within its scope of
responsibility and authority. It is endeavored to evaluate and compare the level
of risk against predetermined acceptable levels of risk. For risk control and
monitoring, it involves making decisions regarding which risks are acceptable
and how to address those that are not. Any material risk identified by the
management or the IA Department will be reported to the Audit Committee and
the Board. The management and the IA Department assist the Audit Committee
and the Board to manage and control such risks by ensuring an effective risk
management system is maintained and operated within the Group.

The internal control system is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance on the effectiveness and efficiency of operations in achieving the
established corporate objectives, safeguarding the Group’s assets, providing
reliable financial reporting information and complying with the applicable
laws and regulations. Systems and procedures are also established to identify,
measure, manage and control, rather than eliminate, different risks arising from
different business and functional activities.
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The IA Department plays an important role in enhancing internal control
system of the Group. It assists the Board in determining whether sound internal
control system is maintained and operated in compliance with the established
processes and standards by performing periodic audits over all major operations
of the Group, under a rotational cycle. An annual audit plan (comprising annual
audit focus and audit frequencies) is prepared based on the IA Department’s
independent risk assessment. Such work plan is discussed and agreed with
the Audit Committee at the beginning of each financial year. If any material
risks or internal control defects are found, the IA Department will discuss with
respective department heads to have actions agreed and subsequently followed
up, in order to ensure that satisfactory controls are maintained. Major internal
audit findings will be submitted to the Audit Committee for review and all
improvement actions will be properly followed up by management to ensure
that they are implemented within a reasonable period of time.

In addition, the Group has engaged an independent consulting firm to assist the
|A Department to provide professional internal audit services to the Group. Such
appointment aims to provide leadership to and enhance professionalism and
independence of the IA Department.

The Group complies with the requirements of the SFO and the Listing Rules.
The Group will disclose inside information to the public as soon as reasonably
practicable unless the information falls within any of the “safe harbours”
provisions and satisfies the conditions under the SFO. Before the information is
fully disclosed to the public, the Group will ensure that the information is kept
strictly confidential.
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The Group has strictly prohibited unauthorized use of confidential or inside
information and established and implemented procedures for responding to
external enquiries about the Group’s affairs, so that only the executive Directors
are authorized to communicate with parties outside the Group.

Through the Audit Committee, the Board has conducted annual review of the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems for
the Year, covering all material financial, operational and compliance controls,
ESG performance and reporting and considered the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems to be effective and adequate. There were no
suspected material irregularities found or significant areas of concern identified
during the Year that might affect the Shareholders of the Company.

The Group has established a whistleblowing policy and system for employees
and those who deal with the Company, such as customers and suppliers, to raise
concerns in confidence and anonymity that they may have regarding any act of
misconduct, malpractice, or irregularity in financial reporting, internal control or
other matters. The Audit Committee will ensure that proper arrangement is in
place for fair and independent investigation of the possible improprieties.

The Group is committed to maintaining a high standard of integrity and ethical
operation. Anti-corruption policy and reporting mechanism of suspected
corruption practices are in place and communicated to all employees and
business partners of the Group, which provide clear guidelines on preventing
corruption, bribery, money laundering and terrorist financing. Further disclosure
on how the Group promotes and supports anti-corruption laws and regulations
is made in the ESG Report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

TEERBRE(E)

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convene a Special General
Meeting ("SGM™)

Pursuant to bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws and the Bermuda Companies Act,
registered shareholders of the Company holding not less than one-tenth (10%)
of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company (“SGM Requisitionists”) can deposit a written request
to convene a SGM at the registered office of the Company (the “Registered
Office”). The SGM Requisitionists must state in their request(s) the purposes of
the SGM and such request(s) must be signed by all the SGM Requisitionists and
may consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one or more of
the SGM Requisitionists.

The share registrars of the Company will verify the SGM Requisitionists’
particulars in the SGM Requisitionists’ request. Promptly after confirmation from
the share registrars of the Company that the SGM Requisitionists’ request is in
order, the Company Secretary will arrange with the Board to convene a SGM
by serving sufficient notice to all the registered shareholders of the Company
in accordance with all the relevant statutory and regulatory requirements. On
the contrary, if the SGM Requisitionists’ request is verified not in order, the SGM
Requisitionists will be advised of the outcome and accordingly, a SGM will not
be convened as requested.

The SGM Requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one-half of
the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene a SGM if within
twenty-one days of the deposit of the SGM Requisitionists’ request, the Board
does not proceed to duly convene a SGM provided that any SGM so convened
is held within three months from the date of the original SGM Requisitionists’
request. A SGM so convened by the SGM Requisitionists shall be convened in
the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings are to be
convened by the Company.
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Procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at a
general meeting

Pursuant to the Bermuda Companies Act, either any number of the registered
shareholders of the Company holding not less than one-twentieth (5%) of the
paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company (“Requisitionists”), or not less than 100 of such registered
shareholders, can request the Company in writing to (a) give to shareholders
of the Company entitled to receive notice of the next annual general meeting
notice of any resolution which may properly be moved and is intended to be
moved at that meeting; and (b) circulate to shareholders of the Company
entitled to have notice of any general meeting any statement of not more than
1,000 words with respect to the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or
the business to be dealt with at that meeting.

The requisition signed by all the Requisitionists may consist of several
documents in like form, each signed by one or more of the Requisitionists; and
it must be deposited at the Registered Office with a sum reasonably sufficient
to meet the Company’s relevant expenses, not less than six weeks before the
meeting in case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution or not less than
one week before the meeting in the case of any other requisition. Provided
that if an annual general meeting is called for a date six weeks or less after the
requisition has been deposited, the requisition though not deposited within the
time required shall be deemed to have been properly deposited for the purposes
thereof.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

TEERBRE(E)

Procedures for directing shareholders’ enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the Board in
writing through the Company Secretary whose contact details are as follows:

The Company Secretary

Tse Sui Luen Jewellery (International) Limited
Ground Floor, Block B, Summit Building,

30 Man Yue Street, Hunghom, Kowloon, Hong Kong
Fax: (852) 2356 0215

Email: enquiry@tslj.com

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general meetings of
the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has adopted the Shareholders Communication Policy with the
objective of ensuring that the Shareholders, potential investors as well as
analysts reporting and analyzing the Company’s performance are provided with
ready, equal and timely access to balanced and understandable information
about the Company. Information is communicated mainly through the
Company’s website, financial reports, announcements and other corporate
communications as well as general meetings and investors’ meetings. The
Chairman of the Board and the chairmen of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee attend general meetings to answer the
Shareholders’ questions. Taking into account of the communication channels
available, the Board has reviewed the implementation of the Shareholders
Communication Policy during the Year and considered that it remains effective.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company has adopted the amended and restated bye-laws as the new bye-
laws of the Company on 6 September 2022. The amendments were mainly to
(i) conform to the core shareholder protection standards set out in Appendix
3 to the Listing Rules; (ii) provide flexibility to the Company to hold hybrid or
electronic general meetings; (iii) bring the bye-laws in line with the relevant
requirements of the Listing Rules and the applicable laws of Bermuda; and (iv)
make some other housekeeping amendments. Details of the amendments can be
found in the circular of the Company dated 21 July 2022.

An up-to-date consolidated version of the Company’s constitutional documents
has been posted under the sub-section “Memorandum of Association and Bye-
laws” of “Corporate Governance” section on the Company’s website at ir.tslj.com
and the Stock Exchange’s website.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B2 B R E S

e
EY:

To the shareholders of Tse Sui Luen Jewellery (International) Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Ernst & Young

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King's Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tse Sui Luen Jewellery
(International) Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 98 to 235, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2023, and of
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSASs™) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “"Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each
matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided
in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report,
including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the
performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results
of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the
matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

IR B s E(E)

Key audit matters (continued)

Key audit matter
BEETEE

REEEE @)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BZEBEEET R NAEEK

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

E - BERXEREFEEEZBENS

As at 31 March 2023, the Group recorded property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets amounting to HK$152 million and HK$209 million,
respectively, mainly from the lease of retail shops. Management had performed
impairment assessment on individual cash-generating unit with impairment
indicators and the Group recorded impairment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets amounting to HK$4 million and HK$15
million, respectively, during the year to write down the carrying amounts
of these assets to the recoverable amounts. The recoverable amounts were
determined based on the value in use calculation. Significant judgement is
required to determine the value in use amounts based upon the expected
future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit estimated. The
estimation process is highly based on assumptions, which are influenced by
projected future market and economic conditions.
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The accounting policies and disclosures of the impairment of property, plant

and equipment and right-of-use assets are included in notes 2.4, 3,14 and 16 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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Our audit procedures included evaluating the Group's
policies and procedures in identifying impairment
indicators and assessing management’s significant
assumptions adopted in the cash flow forecasts by
reviewing the Group’s business plan and evaluating the
growth rate by comparing to market data. In addition,
we involved our internal valuation specialists to assist
us with our assessment of the methodology and the
discount rates used to determine the recoverable
amounts of the property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets. We also compared the cash flow
forecasts with historical data of the Group.
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Key audit matters (continued)

Key audit matter
BEETSEE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

L M B ()
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
ZEEEES PR NELEE

Recognition of deferred tax liabilities regarding withholding tax on unremitted
earnings of subsidiaries established in Mainland China
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As at 31 March 2023, the Group recognised a deferred tax liability of
approximately HK$23 million for withholding taxes that would be payable in
respect of the unremitted earnings of the Group’s subsidiaries established in
Mainland China that are subject to withholding taxes. Significant management
judgement is required to determine the amount and timing of the payment
of dividends that will be distributed in the foreseeable future. The estimation
process is highly based on assumptions, which are influenced by projected
future market and economic conditions.
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The accounting policies and disclosures of the recognition of deferred tax
liabilities are included in notes 2.4, 3 and 27 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Our audit procedures included evaluating the
management’s assumptions and estimates in relation
to the likelihood of the Group’s operations in Mainland
China remitting their earnings in the foreseeable future,
which included the ability of the Company to generate
sufficient cash flows for dividend distribution and
other financing needs of the Group, based on the latest
strategic business plan. We also assessed the historical
accuracy of the management’s assumptions used.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)
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Key audit matters (continued)

Key audit matter
BEETEE

REEEE @)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
ZBIEEE PR NMELK

Net realisable value of inventories
FEZ REFE

As at 31 March 2023, the Group recorded inventories of approximately
HK$1,563 million before provision for impairment of approximately HK$93
million. The write-down of inventories to net realisable value is estimated
by management through the application of judgement and the use of highly
subjective assumptions. During the year ended 31 March 2023, a provision for
impairment of inventories of approximately HK$3 million was debited to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss based on management’s assessment.
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The accounting policies and disclosure for the impairment provision on

inventories are included in notes 2.4, 3 and 7 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Our audit procedures included reviewing the Group’s
procedures in identifying and valuing obsolete,
damaged, slow-moving, excess and other inventory
items whose costs may not be fully recoverable;
evaluating inputs and assumptions used by the Group in
calculating the impairment; and assessing the adequacy
of the impairment recorded by reviewing subsequent
sales after the year end and comparing with historical
sales records.
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Other information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated financial
statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirement of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend
to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

ARz BE R E(E)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements (continued)

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

VB HREE(E)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements (continued)

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Lai Ho Yin.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

21 June 2023

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

| | N\ 7/
f— ZN
AR e 1R @ AR

2023 2022

Year ended 31 March 2023 Notes 20234 20224
HZE2023F3A3BIEFE B 3E HK$’000 &# F 5T HK$'000 71 Tt
Turnover EEEE 5 2,590,936 2,767,788
Cost of sales SHERK A (1,682,093) (1,704,961)
Gross profit ER 908,843 1,062,827
Other income and gains, net EMA R Es - F5E 6 52,246 29,298
Selling and distribution expenses HERDIHE (782,302) (841,049)
Administrative expenses 1TEEH (156,589) (153,216)
PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS Feg=—=l| 22,198 97,860
Finance costs s EMH 8 (69,375) (37,358)
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX BRELAT (B5B), B 7 (47,177) 60,502
Income tax expense 5 i & A 1 (24,366) (45,088)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR KEE (BE),/ B (71,543) 15,414
ATTRIBUTABLE TO: FEfRER4

Owners of the Company RABHEEA (71,435) 15,546

Non-controlling interests VAR AR R A (108) (132)

(71,543) 15,414

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE ZAATEEAELER

TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY (F518), &7
Basic and diluted HEARES 13 (28.7 HK cents #4l) 6.2 HK cents 781l
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
NN

2023 2022
Year ended 31 March 2023 Notes 20234 20224
HZE2023F3A3IBIEFE L= HK$’000 &% F T HK$ 000 B8 T T
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REE (F8)  BA (71,543) 15,414
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/ Hitp2m (BE) W
INCOME
Other comprehensive income that HETHHEEH P EEERE2HM
will not be reclassified to profit or ZEWKEER :
loss in subsequent periods:
Gain on property revaluation M E (2 Wk 14 35,063 24,974
Remeasurement gain/(loss) on AREBAFENEGRKE (EE)
defined benefit plan 26 51 (958)
Income tax effect PRy 8- 27 (€)) 158
Net other comprehensive income that HEFRAAEEHFIEZERR2EHM
will not be reclassified to profit or 2HE WS FE
loss in subsequent periods 35,106 24,174
Other comprehensive (loss)/income BATRREN S EEERRZEHM
that may be reclassified to profit or 2m| (FE) W
loss in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation HMEGINETS 2 [E R =%
of foreign operations (113,160) 66,501
Net other comprehensive (loss)/income BEAIGEEEHF I EEEBRKR 2 Hib
that may be reclassified to profit or 2| (BE) WHEFE
loss in subsequent periods (13,160) 66,501
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/ AEEHME2E (FE) K
INCOME FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX HBRFLE (78,054) 90,675
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/ AEERHE (FE)WESEHE
INCOME FOR THE YEAR (149,597) 106,089
Attributable to: PE{G4a%E :
Owners of the Company RAREERA A (149,437) 106,272
Non-controlling interests AR AR SR i (160) (183)
(149,597) 106,089

099



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
“r A B AR R R

2023 2022
At 31 March 2023 Notes 20234 20224
202343 A31H =S HK$’000 &% T T HK$'000 B+t
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BEKEE 14 151,725 97,034
Investment properties LEME 15 69,300 26,803
Right-of-use assets FREEE 16(a) 208,721 183,888
Intangible assets I A E 17 99 99
Other asset HEtEE 18 500 500
Prepayments and deposits SELNE V58 A 21 32,672 24,685
Deferred tax assets EETRIEE = 27 34,081 38,340
497,098 371,349
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE& 19 1,469,770 1,369,451
Trade receivables FEUS AR R 20 78,575 92,655
Prepayments, other receivables and TER - HahEE R E & E
other assets 21 72,133 129,288
Tax recoverable AT Uy B 7 18 12,144 7,192
Pledged time deposits B BFER 22 366,216 382,725
Cash and cash equivalents BHeRESEEYD 22 348,282 354,507
2,347,120 2,335,818
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Trade payables FETRRR 23 (328,537) (250,034)
Other payables and accruals HEib MR ER B R 24 (257,679) (293,213)
Interest-bearing bank and HESRIT R EMER
other borrowings 25 (571,822) (920,409)
Lease liabilities HEAE 16(b) (93,927) (87,984)
Tax payable FER BT (7,623) (19,481)
(1,259,588) (1,571,121
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 1,087,532 764,697
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HEERREBAR
LIABILITIES 1,584,630 1,136,046
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

GamBsRRimER(E)

2023 2022
At 31 March 2023 Notes 20235 20224
M2023F3A31H B =E HK$’000 B¥ T 7T HK$'000 BTt
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FrnBEE
Other payables and accruals HibpE R BT E R 24 (1,957) (2,161)
Interest-bearing bank and sESRITREMER
other borrowings 25 (601,755) -
Employee benefit obligations EERHEL 26 (3,894) (1,301
Lease liabilities HESE 16(b) (59,732) (61,210)
Deferred tax liabilities BEEFIBAE 27 (23,828) (23,329)
(691,166) (88,001)
NET ASSETS BEFE 893,464 1,048,045
EQUITY e
Equity attributable to owners ARTEE AELERS
of the Company
Issued capital BEEITRA 28 (62,296) (62,296)
Reserves it 30 (831,762) (986,183)
(894,058) (1,048,479)
Non-controlling interests FER IR RER 594 434
TOTAL EQUITY R (893,464) (1,048,045)

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 21 June 2023. FEERN2023F6 A21 B EOEIFFA] HIZ% -

Yau On Yee, Annie I8 % &

Ng Yi Kum, Estella (h#Z Directors &%
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

= AL 485 < I%JE—I%
N (3 éﬁx

B

Attributable to owners of the Company

LUNSE 2PN L
Capital Non-
Issued Share and other Retained Proposed controlling Total
capital premium reserves profits dividend Total interests equity
BET BEAR FiER
Bx frina@ Hiofife RERH RS AL RR R ERLE
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
MizE BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT AT
(note 38 (note 38
Year ended 31 March 2022 (note 28) (o)) (c)iiy)
(MzE38 (Miz38
HEWNFIANBLFE (MizE28) ©0) (i)
At T April 2021 202154 A18 62,296 122,01 155,765 602,135 - 942207 (251) 941,956
Profit for the year REERF - - - 15,546 - 15,546 (132) 15,414
Other comprehensive income AEERM2ENE :
for the year:
Exchange differences on RENERHEER
translation of foreign fELZEHAE
operations HE - - 66,552 - - 66,552 (51) 66,501
Gain on property revaluation MEERE 2 WS - - 24974 - - 24974 - 24,974
Remeasurement loss on defined RERMEINELR
benefit plan, net of tax B - HIRHE - - - (800) - (800) - (800)
Total comprehensive income AEE2ENEER
for the year - - 91,526 14,746 - 106,272 (183) 106,089
Proposed 2021/22 final dividend BR2021/ 2K B 8 12 - - - (4,984) 4984 - - -
At 31 March 2022 R202E3831H 62,296 122,01 247291 611,897 4,984* 1,048,479 (434) 1,048,045

102



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)

ez EHR(E)

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARAERARLE
Capital Non-
Issued Share and other Retained Proposed controlling Total
capital premium reserves profits dividend Total interests equity
RELH AR 2R
hx RHEE Bt REEAH RRRE a4 RRER BRAR

Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000
i3 EBTn EETn EBTR L BBTR BBTR ABTn EBTR
(note 38 (note 38

Year ended 31 March 2023 (note 28) (O0)} (e)i)
(338 (38
HENBEIANALEE (GE) (i) (o))
At 1 April 2022 R2022%4 818 62,296 122,01 247,291 611,897 4,984 1,048,479 (434) 1,048,045
Loss for the year IEEEE - - - (11,435 - (71,435) (108) (71,543)
Other comprehensive loss TEFEMRERSE
for the year:
Exchange differences on PANEHE SRR
translation of foreign L ENAERE
operations - - (113,108) - - (113,108) (52) (113,160)
Gain on property revaluation mESfE NG - - 35,063 - - 35,063 - 35,063
Remeasurement gain on defined RERHEnEER
benefit plan, net of tax & ABHE - - - 4 - 43 - 43
Total comprehensive loss TEE2ABEER
for the year - - (78,045) (711,392 - (149,437) (160) (149,597)
Dividend paid BERE 12 - - - - (4,984) (4,984) - (4,984)
At 31 March 2023 R2023%3A318 62,296 122,011 169,246* 540,505 - 894,058 (594) 893,464

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$831,762,000  * HEREBEREARGAUBERRIRZEBAEBERE
(31 March 2022: HK$986,183,000) in the consolidated statement of financial 831,762,000 T (202243 A31H : 7##986,183,0007T) °
position.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

meaRenER

2023 2022
Year ended 31 March 2023 Notes 2023 % 20224
HZE2023F3A3BIEEE B 3 HK$’000 &#¥ T 5T HK$'000 7 ¥ F 7T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REEIE JEER
ACTIVITIES
(Loss)/profit before tax FBian (E518) /&7 (47,177) 60,502
Adjustments for: R
Finance costs BB E A 8 69,375 37,358
Interest income F 28U A 6 (10,612) (10,825)
Loss on disposal of items of property, FEEYE - W RREIER BB
plant and equipment 7 289 636
Depreciation of property, plant and Y - BE MEREBITE
equipment 7 40,723 37,519
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 7 14,177 118,636
Reversal of impairment of trade FEUBR FUR B B 5 - 5
receivables, net 7 (634) (924)
Impairment of other receivables H b IR BR FORE 7 - 5,780
Impairment of property, plant and Y% BRE RFERE
equipment 7 4,200 4,431
Impairment of right-of-use assets fEREEERE 7 14,800 33,675
Fair value gains on investment REMENA R BEKE
properties 6 (4,574) -
Provision for impairment of BREGEZ2RFE  F58
inventories, net 7 2,847 12,552
Gain on lease modification 1B E Z W= 7 - (323)
183,414 299,017
Increase in inventories FEHM (177,023) (113,093)
Decrease in trade receivables JE WS BR ROk 7,540 29,895
Decrease in prepayments, other FERTR ~ A FE UK T2 E B Bk
receivables and other assets 41,857 46,196
Increase in trade payables P BR FIE AN 85,167 91,033
Decrease in other payables and accruals — EHth fE {5 7k & fE =+ & s 4 (13,139) 213)
Increase/(decrease) in employee benefit 1 E@AME LM, O )
obligations 2,644 (318)
Cash flows generated from operations  KEEKEARIRE 130,460 350,617
Hong Kong profits tax paid B EBFEH (11,382) (7,530)
Taxes paid other than Hong Kong B BB AN E T I (23,386) (25,191)
Interest element of lease payments HENRHF B B0 (9,105) (7,850)
Net cash flows from operating activities KL EBEAZIRESREFHE 86,587 310,046
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2023 2022

Year ended 31 March 2023 Notes 2023 % 2022
HZE2023F3A3BIEFE Bt 3 HK$’000 &¥ F 5T HK$ 000 BT T
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETHZRERE

ACTIVITIES
Interest received B FE 6 10,612 10,825
Increase in pledged time deposits BEAEHRE BIESIE (13,935) (49,383)
Purchases of items of property, EEMH  HRRKEEE

plant and equipment 14 (105,410) (56,106)
Purchases of items of prepaid land lease BB TS 16 (24,428) =
Proceeds from disposal of items of EEYE  KENFEEEBRSHIE

property, plant and equipment 881 269
Net cash flows used in investing KEEESMAZESREFE

activities (132,280) (94,395)
CASH FLOWS FROM RMETHRERE

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from interest-bearing bank FTIEET B ARTT R E M E SRS 50E

and other borrowings 31(b) 753,577 70,000
Repayment of interest-bearing bank EBEFBETREMER

and other borrowings 31(b) (500,409) (138,677)
Principal portion of lease payments HEMNR AR IBH 31(b) (129,369) (152,486)
Interest paid BERFE (60,270) (29,508)
Dividend paid BRRE 12 (4,984) -
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing BYEEBEL /(FTH) 2B L

activities R 58,545 (250,671)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH BR&RBREZEY2EM (RBD)

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS =2t 12,852 (35,020)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning REFZRE RREEEY

of the year 354,507 379,422
Effect of foreign exchange rate INETE R EB) L - RE

changes, net (19,077) 10,105
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT REAZEERBELEEY

END OF THE YEAR 348,282 354,507
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH RERREEENEEIIT

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents ReRFEEEY 22 348,282 354,507
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Tse Sui Luen Jewellery (International) Limited (the “Company”) is a
limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda. The registered office
of the Company is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM 11, Bermuda. The principal place of business of the Company is located
at Ground Floor, Block B, Summit Building, 30 Man Yue Street, Hunghom,
Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The principal activities of the Group are the manufacture, sale and
marketing of jewellery products and the provision of service.

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate holding company is Partner
Logistics Limited, which is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
("BVI"), and the ultimate holding company is Blink Technology Limited,
which is incorporated in the BVI, and the ultimate controlling party is Mr.
Tse Tat Fung, Tommy (“Mr. Tommy Tse”).

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of incorporation/

RAREEER

LR E (BB BRAR ([AAF]) DR ERE
MK BRETRAR c KRR ziEMIFEEAA
A Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM
11, Bermuda ° ARRIZEBWEE AT B NEELM
RME05REE TR AEM TBEE ©

AEEZFEZEBARE  HE  HEURZEERNK
R -

EE2RE REBERXEEMKAPartner Logistics
Limited BEBIEBR AR RRIERAGARABRE

L BB M S #9Blink Technology Limited @ &
I A L AR EE S -

B AR Bt
ARFNBARAZFEDT -

Percentage of equity

Issued ordinary/  attributable to the

Name registration and business registered share capital Company Principal activities
R,/ #EE& BRALEE AKATAMGRE
% EEWY R/ FER AR A Batk TEER
Direct Indirect
HiE i
TSL Investment (B.V.1.) Limited BVI HK$1,000 100 - Investment holding
RBRZHS B #1,0007T BEER
Ankenne Jewelry Co. Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Jewellery trading
HEREERAF B BEIT HEEH
Beijing Qi Li Yun Trading Company Limited#** The People’s Republic of RMB3,000,000 - 100 Jewellery retailing
TRENERBEER AT China (“PRC") AR3000,0007C KETE

REARLME (THE])



CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 1.
Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(continued)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

AR

AR REEER (H
Mﬂ% NGl é{ﬂ@

ARZHEDT :

Percentage of equity

81 15 R M R

()

(#)

Place of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/  attributable to the
Name registration and business registered share capital Company Principal activities
R,/ &% BRTE AN T AL IR RE
£ Y AR/ AR ADtk TEER
Direct Indirect
HiE B
Beijing Tse Sui Luen Jewellery Company Limited®* PRC United States dollars - 100 Jewellery
It RARBERE AR AR H (“US$") 2,000,000 manufacturing and
2,000,000 70 trading
KEHERES
Concepts Management (H.K.) Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Trademarks holding
BlSER (B8 BRAF a4 BEIT and investment in
trademarks
FERRRRERR
Edwine Jewellery Company Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000 - 100 Investment holding and
NHHREEFRAT a8 BE10007T provision of advisory
services
RERRRREZSA
PR %
Excellent Ford Development Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Jewellery trading
BHERERARA BE 7#10,0007T KEEH
Gold Fast Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Investment holding
RFREBRAA EE BEIT REER
Guangzhou Tai Yi Trading Company Limited** PRC HK$8,000,000 - 100 Jewellery trading
BMNEEEEERAR FE 7%#8,000,0007C KEEH
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(continued)

Place of incorporation/

1. 2RARAEREEER @)
BB ARz &R (&)
ANBMBRRZ BT : ()

Issued ordinary/

Percentage of equity
attributable to the

Name registration and business registered share capital Company Principal activities
R 3102 ERTERE AXATLRE
Eg B BAR /AR Aokt TEER
Direct Indirect
HE %
Guangzhou Xi Yun Jewellery Company Limited®** PRC RMB2,000,000 - 100 Jewellery retailing
BMEEREERAR FE AR#2,000,0007T KETE
Guangzhou Xiang Yun Jewellery Company Limited®* PRC RMB3,000,000 - 100 Jewellery trading
BMEEHREERRE" FE ARH3,000,0007T KEEH
Monster Telescope Engineering Company Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Telescope research and
REEKBIRERAT G ##10,0007T manufacturing
(formerly known as “Impromptus Asia Pacific EREHEREE
Limited”)
(ATF8 AT Impromptus Asia Pacific Limited |)
Infinite Assets Corp. BVI HK$277,254 - 100 Investment holding
RERZHS 2772547 BEER
Liberty Mark Limited BVI US$1 - 100 Investment holding
RERAZHS [E BEER
Richfun Enterprises Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Investment holding
BEPEBRAR 0 BB REER
Shanghai Fu Yun Jewellery Company Limited*** PRC RMB1,000,000 - 100 Jewellery retailing
FEREREERRA" FE ARH1,000,0007T KETE
Shenzhen Qianhai Tse Sui Luen Logistic Company PRC RMB100,000 - 100 Logistics and supply
Limited* HE AR#100,0007T chain management

A ES B RER AR

MR R RERE R



CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 1.
Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(continued)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

AR

AR REEER (H
Mﬂ% NGl é{ﬂ@

ARZHEDT :

Percentage of equity

81 15 R M R

()

(#)

Place of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/  attributable to the
Name registration and business registered share capital Company Principal activities
R,/ &% BRTE AN T AL IR RE
£ Y AR/ AR Bolk TEER
Direct Indirect
HiE B
Tse Sui Luen Jewellery Company Limited (“TSLJ")*  Hong Kong HK$46,982,090 - 100 Jewellery trading and
AR EERAR ([FHH%E]) ) 71 46,982,0907T retailing
HKEEHRTE
Tse Sui Luen (Guangzhou) Jewellery Company PRC HK$21,000,000 - 100 Manufacturing and
Limited®* H #1#21,000,0007T distribution of
i (BN REBR AR jewellery and
franchising
KERE i KB
BHRMBER
Tse Sui Luen Investment (China) Limited BVI US$6,863 - 100 Investment holding
HIRERE (FE) ERAF RERZES 6,863F T BEER
Tse Sui Luen Jewellery (China) Limited ##* Hong Kong HK$201,000 - 100 Property holding
HHBHRE ST (PE) BRAF ([ARBERE ) »  FE #%201,0007T FEME
Tse Sui Luen Jewellery Retailing Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Malaysian Ringgits - 100 Jewellery retailing
BRAL 3,300,000 KETE
ST E3,300,0007T
Tse Sui Luen (Hainan) Jewellery Limited*** PRC RMB1,000,000 - 100 No business
S 088 REBR AR H AER#1000,0007T commenced yet
Y RAREE

109



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

AAIREEER (&)
BB ARz &R (&)
ANBMBRRZ BT : ()

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 1.
Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:
(continued)
Percentage of equity

Place of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/  attributable to the

10

Name registration and business registered share capital Company Principal activities
A 3102 ERTERE AXATLRE
Eg N BAR /AR Bk TEER
Direct Indirect
HE %
Tse Sui Luen (Shanghai) Commercial Consultancy PRC RMB500,000 - 100 Cash management
Limited* HE AR#500,0007C service
A (8) BBHARRAR ReEBRHB
Tse Sui Luen (Shenzhen) Jewellery Company PRC HK$12,500,000 - 100 Manufacturing and
Limited#* s 7#12,500,0007C distribution of
HimE OR) KEBR AR jewellery
KRERERDH
Tse Sui Luen (Shenzhen) Trading Limited®* PRC RMB1,000,000 - 100 Jewellery trading
Hing ORI BEABAR FE AR#1,000,0007T KEZ S
TSL Jewellery (Export) Company Limited Hong Kong HK$19,824,775 - 100 Jewellery trading and
HHBE (L0 BRAF BB #119,824,7757C retailing
HKEEHRTE
TSL Jewellery (Macau) Limited Macau Macau Pataca - 100 Jewellery retailing
TSLIRE (RFT) ARAA P (“MOP") 100,000 KETE
RF9#100,0007T
TSL Jewellery Retailing (Macau) Limited Macau MOP100,000 - 100 Jewellery retailing
TSLHKREZE O2F) BRAR RF SRP9#100,0007T KETE
TSL Jewellery Commercial (Macau) Limited Macau MOP100,000 - 100 Jewellery retailing
TSLEARER % ORFT) AR A B JRP9%100,0007T KETE



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MHBEME(E)

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 1. 2QFAREEER
Information about subsidiaries (continued) WJ% &Tzﬁﬂ(%ﬂ
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: ARARMBARZFHBHOT : (8)

(continued)
Percentage of equity

Place of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/  attributable to the
Name registration and business registered share capital Company Principal activities
R,/ &% BRTERE FKARIERE
£ Y AR/ AR ADtk TEER
Direct Indirect
HiE B
TSL Jewellery (H.K.) Co. Limited Hong Kong HK$42,000,390 - 100 Jewellery retailing
HHBIAE (B%) BRAF 0 71#42,000,3907T KETE
TSL Management Services Limited Hong Kong HK$2 - 100 Management and
BT R RS AR AT B BT administrative
services
B RITHART
TSL Manufacturing and Distribution Limited Hong Kong HK$67,000,000 - 100 Investment holding,
HImB RS R R AR o #1#67,000,0007C procurement,
manufacturing
and distribution of
jewellery
&ﬁi fR o PREE - 2hE
DIHHKE
TSL Properties Management Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000 - 100 Property holding and
B ECEER AT a4 BE10007T investment
BEMERRA
TSL Trading Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Property holding
B I REME

m



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

n2

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:
(continued)

Place of incorporation/

ARREEER (#7)
B AR ZEFR (#)
ADFMBARZEHENT « (4)

Percentage of equity

Issued ordinary/ attributable to the

Name registration and business registered share capital Company Principal activities
B/ #mk ERTERE AXATLRE
g B BA /AR Bk TEER
Direct Indirect
HE %
TSLJ Kabushiki Kaisha*** Japan Japanese Yen 75,000,000 - 96.5  Jewellery retailing and
TSLUBKRA g4t A 75,000,000 BT wholesales
KETERIE
# Unofficial translation # FIERER

#H#

Hk

In addition to the ordinary shares, the issued deferred share capital of
TSLJ is HK$36,574,000

In addition to the ordinary shares, the issued deferred share capital of
Tse Sui Luen Jewellery (China) Limited is HK$200,000

Registered under the laws of the PRC as a foreign enterprise

Registered under the laws of the PRC as a limited liability company

Registered under the laws of Japan as a limited liability company

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion
of the directors, principally affected the results for the year or formed a
substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of
excessive length.

##

Hk

REBR  WIRBMARE ZEERA RSB
36,574,0007T

gy BmBTEZREERARER
200,0007T

REFBUAEEMABINERE
REPEEEEMAERET AT

REBEARLETIMBBREEAF

EFRRERMIIHARRZHBRARARETELE
AEEEERBRAEEFEETIZHNOHAAF -
EER/RHEMHBARNZHBEEERFRERR -



2.1

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs™) (which include all Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“"HKICPA™), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for investment properties which have been measured
at fair value. These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars ("HK$”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except
when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of
the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 March 2023. A subsidiary is an entity (including
a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that
give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in
control. When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority
of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over
an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c)  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

2.1

MHBEME(E)

mAEXE

WEMBHRRDEREBSAMISRMONETEY
BHRELEM(REMAEAMBREER HES
FPEARRE) BELERMZEHRAERFTER
AGPIREERREMRE - RARFEEHNEZ
REMEIN  WEPBHRREZELRRERER
o WEFBMRUETER  BREMNZHA - FE
EEGHABERZON T -

e EE

TG AVBREBIEARNAREWBAG (4 A
[AREE])EHE2023F3A3HILFEZHBERRK -
WMEARARNAGREESBELEH 2 EE (BEE
BHEER) EASERE2HEEHRMATIE
BESTEL®R  WHEENBBHREHRZEN
(BB FAREEEEREHREEESH 2 HEENZ
NERERN) P EERBHR - BAEBHIE -

EARAYABEEAEEREAREHRREHIRE
RSB LERE - AREZEEMBEBEZEREBER
DRHE AR BHREHREERES » B

(a) HEREHRZHEMEBERBEAZHZIANR
B

() REMENLHRERZEN &

(© AEEZREERLEERERE-
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B mRME(E)

2.1

N4

BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the
non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities,
equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control described above. A change in the ownership interest
of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the assets
(including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying
amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative translation
differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any investment retained and
(iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive income
is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities.

2.1

mBLEXE (@)
A EE®)

B B8 2~ B B B S SRR R AR ) 2 AR R 3R 55 B R BR
RERRRA-BNEABRRE - WEBRAB XA
BASEBISHEZEHIRZ BREAAR  ZFHE
bl Iz AL

BRLEMEERREER ZZERSHEBNELR
AR ARSEER R ER - BEE S S BOFER
RRERERBRATER - MEEERARBMZ
EE BEEERS  UNBBEAEERERRZME
RHMPA  AXEBRERE  HREEKEARE
B -

% B R AR R BUR £ Al P 8 2 B & 5 B AT A
ZEESETRZET - ERZAHREY  KAE
EeEMTHERTIDATEREGEGIRE - T
MREEGIEZMBARMARERES - AIFE
BRH AR

HAEELEM B AR 2 ZHIRE - BITNEHROZ
MEARZEE (BREEE) REE  (DERFE
P R s 2 BRTEE ¢ R (DRI Az Z REHER Z
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

MHBEME(E)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES 2.2 @it BERIEE S

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the first time for
the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3
Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

Reference to the Conceptual Framework

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds
before Intended Use

Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9,
[llustrative Examples accompanying
HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs that are applicable to
the Group are described below:

(a)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 replace a reference to the previous
Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial
Statements with a reference to the Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting (the “Conceptual Framework”) issued in
June 2018 without significantly changing its requirements. The
amendments also add to HKFRS 3 an exception to its recognition
principle for an entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework to
determine what constitutes an asset or a liability. The exception
specifies that, for liabilities and contingent liabilities that would
be within the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if they were
incurred separately rather than assumed in a business combination,
an entity applying HKFRS 3 should refer to HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-
Int 21 respectively instead of the Conceptual Framework.
Furthermore, the amendments clarify that contingent assets do
not qualify for recognition at the acquisition date. The Group has
applied the amendments prospectively to business combinations
that occurred on or after 1 April 2022. As there were no business
combinations during the year, the amendments did not have any
impact on the financial position and performance of the Group.

AREERAFE 2B HRE E KRB TIEE
Z AR -

ERVHREER B EAELE FE
EIFUSEIA

ERGFERE YE - BERKE  HEAE
SASRT A B2 183008
EBGHERFEIT  EEAK — BITAHZHKAK
SRAERT A

BB HREER BEUBHREENE S - &5
2018 E2020F  HIIEEREAERIEIS - HEY
B2 FREZ RS AR B 165REEH 2 B
I2¢i3 EEg kBB FHEREH

SRIERTA
RIETEEBREERNZME R EFHAMT

@) BAYBRERELFEIFEFTALL2018F6 A
RSB EREMSER (BRIESR])
ARSI BRI EHREmE K ZHIMELE T
BEARNBEREERT - ZEBTANTAERS
RS R B IR E eS| A S ER AR
TERKEERBEZAR ZHERRANEE—IE
BISMER © sZBIINMBRIBTE - HRAEBRE
B ELEI7RAES (AR IERERE
ZEe)-REF2REEAZAENKARE
BEMs  WZSAEBEBEEMIENESLE
BIREL - BIEABRBUISREEREIRY
EERESHZEEBGEREITHRIES
(ARG HEREREZES) - REE 2%
MIEBESAELE o BIN  ZFERIANEBHRAE
ERUEE R BRI A6 ERIEET - AEEEY
2022 4 1A S 2 18 8 £ KR S T IE M Hb fE
BZEER] - ARTRTEEBAH  MZE
Fﬂgﬁﬁ%$%@zwﬁﬁ%&iﬁﬁﬁg
[iZ-

15



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
(CONTINUED)

16

()

(©

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting from
the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment any proceeds
from selling items produced while bringing that asset to the location
and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management. Instead, an entity recognises the
proceeds from selling any such items, and the cost of those items
as determined by HKAS 2 Inventories, in profit or loss. The Group
has applied the amendments retrospectively to items of property,
plant and equipment made available for use on or after 1 April 2021.
Since there was no sale of items produced prior to the property,
plant and equipment being available for use, the amendments did
not have any impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group.

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of assessing
whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37, the cost of fulfilling
the contract comprises the costs that relate directly to the contract.
Costs that relate directly to a contract include both the incremental
costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g., direct labour and materials)
and an allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling that
contract (e.g., an allocation of the depreciation charge for an item
of property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract as
well as contract management and supervision costs). General and
administrative costs do not relate directly to a contract and are
excluded unless they are explicitly chargeable to the counterparty
under the contract. The Group has applied the amendments
prospectively to contracts for which it has not yet fulfilled all
its obligations at 1 April 2022 and no onerous contracts were
identified. Therefore, the amendments did not have any impact on
the financial position or performance of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MHBEME(E)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES 2.2 & BERBEZSE (&)
(CONTINUED)

(d)  Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out amendments (d) %C/%ﬁifkfﬁi—gﬁ/ﬁow#':EZO;O??@%?Zfﬁ
to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative Examples accompanying HKFRS ﬁEﬁzz&%&’i\JE%ﬁﬁiiﬁ%ﬁﬁw%ﬁﬁ - BB
16, and HKAS 41. Details of the amendment that is applicable to the AR P O5E - B I A A B 16 9%
Group are as follows: BEf 2 R8Pl e BB @ et AL 415k 2B 7]
c BARAEE B AFBET :
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that an entity BEVBWESENFEIRLHATA - BENE
includes when assessing whether the terms of a new or modified BT BN ERREREER
financial liability are substantially different from the terms of the BRI BRRAREEAZRRMEBEZE
original financial liability. These fees include only those paid or Ae-zSEREARERARERAZEDX
received between the borrower and the lender, including fees paid NIz BB (BREERARERAKKE
or received by either the borrower or lender on the other’s behalf. M7 R BF) - AEEE T~ —
The Group has applied the amendment prospectively from 1 April FOA—BRHZETRBARBERE - AR
2022. As there was no modification or exchange of the Group’s FRAEE @B EWBET AN - ZE]
financial liabilities during the year, the amendment did not have any AT gEREE 2 PR kR IEK R
impact on the financial position or performance of the Group. 2o
2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG 2.3 CEMEREMZEBIHEREEA
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, that FEBEANAABMRIRBUTERMBERER
have been issued but are not vet effective, in these financial statements. 2RI REIERT B A RS 2R
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and  Sale or Contribution of Assets between BEEMBMELENE0N, KELZHEHENFR
HKAS 28 (2011) an Investor and its Associate or BAGEAIE 2R, AL ECHMES
Joint Venture® (20M%F) ERTA EABES
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback? %é’?ﬁf{f?ﬁgﬁ)ﬁ%ﬁ?”%%%m ERMEETHHER A
EE
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts' BEUBRELNBTSR  RESH
Amendments to HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts'"® ?é’?ﬁf{f?ﬁgﬁ)ﬁ%ﬁﬁuﬁw%ﬁ RER&E#)S
EE
Amendment to HKFRS 17 Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and BEVBREENES VANEHEBEHERE
HKFRS 9 - Comparative Information® ICHEN) ERIZET7 545 K& B ER
ﬁfffgﬁgﬂ%Qﬁ—
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as BB RENE S (BT BEIHEAZTEXIET
Current or Non-current ) B ([2020F1E5T7K )
(the “2020 Amendments”)** . 2
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants BB ELE IS (8] WARZEZIHETEARE
(the "2022 Amendments™)? ) . . ([2022F (E5TAK))?
Amendments to HKAS Tand  Disclosure of Accounting Policies' ERGHEABVERES STHEHE
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 VS ENELHRE
£25% (B51A) ) -
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates' %f)@aﬂ%ﬁ”%iﬁ?ﬁ (B3] E&HAErHEE
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and EREEAERRE (BF] E-_RZELHEELR
Liabilities arising from a Single ) E (EFEREAE 7 A

Transaction'
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

2.3

18

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
E No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
N As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments, the effective date of the

2020 Amendments was deferred to annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2024. In addition, as a consequence of the 2020 Amendments
and 2022 Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of
Financial Statements - Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause was revised to align the
corresponding wording with no change in conclusion

° As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in October
2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption that
permits insurers to apply HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for annual
periods beginning before 1 January 2023

6 An entity that chooses to apply the transition option relating to the
classification overlay set out in this amendment shall apply it on initial
application of HKFRS 17

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an inconsistency
between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full recognition of
a gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction when the sale
or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets that do
not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction
is recognised in the investor’'s profit or loss only to the extent of the
unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory
effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was
removed by the HKICPA in January 2016 and a new mandatory effective
date will be determined after the completion of a broader review of
accounting for associates and joint ventures. However, the amendments
are available for adoption now.
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2.3

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-lessee
uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and leaseback
transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any amount of
the gain or loss that relates to the right of use it retains. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and
shall be applied retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions entered
into after the date of initial application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January 2019).
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities as current
or non-current, in particular the determination over whether an entity
has a right to defer settlement of the liabilities for at least 12 months
after the reporting period. Classification of a liability is unaffected by
the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement
of the liability. The amendments also clarify the situations that are
considered a settlement of a liability. In 2022, the HKICPA issued the 2022
Amendments to further clarify that, among covenants of a liability arising
from a loan arrangement, only those with which an entity must comply
on or before the reporting date affect the classification of that liability
as current or non-current. In addition, the 2022 Amendments require
additional disclosures by an entity that classifies liabilities arising from
loan arrangements as non-current when it has a right to defer settlement
of those liabilities that are subject to the entity complying with future
covenants within 12 months after the reporting period. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
and shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted.
An entity that applies the 2020 Amendments early is required to apply
simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The Group is
currently assessing the impact of the amendments and whether existing
loan agreements may require revision. Based on a preliminary assessment,
the amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.

MHBEME(E)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

2.3
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies require entities
to disclose their material accounting policy information rather than their
significant accounting policies. Accounting policy information is material
if, when considered together with other information included in an entity’s
financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions
that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on
the basis of those financial statements. Amendments to HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance on how to apply the
concept of materiality to accounting policy disclosures. Amendments to
HKAS 1 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023 and earlier application is permitted. Since the guidance provided
in the amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 is non-mandatory,
an effective date for these amendments is not necessary. The Group
is currently revisiting the accounting policy disclosures to ensure
consistency with the amendments.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes in
accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies. Accounting
estimates are defined as monetary amounts in financial statements that
are subject to measurement uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how
entities use measurement techniques and inputs to develop accounting
estimates. The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and apply to changes in accounting
policies and changes in accounting estimates that occur on or after the
start of that period. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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2.3

2.4

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial recognition
exception in HKAS 12 so that it no longer applies to transactions that
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences, such as
leases and decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities are required
to recognise a deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient taxable profit
is available) and a deferred tax liability for temporary differences arising
from these transactions. The amendments are effective for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and shall be
applied to transactions related to leases and decommissioning obligations
at the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented, with any
cumulative effect recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of
retained profits or other component of equity as appropriate at that date.
In addition, the amendments shall be applied prospectively to transactions
other than leases and decommissioning obligations. Earlier application is
permitted. Upon initial application of these amendments, the Group will
recognise deferred tax for all temporary differences related to leases at
the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented. The Group is
in the process of making an assessment of the impact of amendments to
HKAS 12.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method.
The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition date fair
value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business combination,
the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the
acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to
a proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair value
or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All
other components of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

122

(CONTINUED)
Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the acquired
set of activities and assets includes an input and a substantive process
that together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and any
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent consideration
classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair value with changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of
the consideration transferred, the amount recognised for non-controlling
interests and any fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests
in the acquiree over the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items is lower than the
fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

2.4

FTESHHERE @)

=B EHEEE @)

AEEEEAC KB —AEY  B-—HEDKBED
LREEBE—HERRAL-—HEEERBIE MW
HEEER ZBENBEARTR ©

EARKENE -BEEBR > REAOER Nk
B R B IRE MR R - R R 2T
BEREE  WMEHBEZBERIEE - KPR
RWIE T TR ZMAXITE T REIT R

RGO BEBOETT - W TARA 2 WKE
FTRERNEBERRz AFEEREZKEESN AT
BEABERKEMIE -

MU T T EE 2 E AR ARE SRR B8R
NV EEER IARE (KRR - REEREE)
APEEZEREDRAERA/ER - N ALK
HOKARE - BT SEMTE - UREREENE
@R

EERIEK ARG 2 BIEERANRE  BHWRHE
12 R SR A T AR SR I ST A e 4 B 2w MR T R
ZAFBEARE  BREMEBR R EEFER
FAERE 258 o MEREREMERERIK
BHBAREEFEZAFEE RiTEHEREER
BRBEFEANERRAERBE W -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment
test of goodwill as at 31 March. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of
cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the
Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which the
goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount, an
impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill
is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or group
of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that unit is
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is
included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the
gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances
is measured based on the relative value of the operation disposed of and
the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

2.4

124

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement
is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for the
asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value
of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that
market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair
value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising
the use of unobservable inputs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in
the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole:

Levell - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on
a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred
between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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(CONTINUED)
Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment
testing for an asset is required (other than inventories, deferred tax
assets, financial assets and investment properties), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs
of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset
does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of
the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building)
is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on
a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of
cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged
to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether
there is an indication that previously recognised impairment losses may
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of
that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal
of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit or loss in
the period in which it arises.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

MHBEME(E)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 FESHHFEME @)
(CONTINUED)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

()

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and
that person

@

@D

(D)

or

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the Group
or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

@

@D

(D)

(iv)

V)

the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity
(or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other
entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third
party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
Group;
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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(CONTINUED)
Related parties (continued)

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:
(continued)

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of
the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the Group or
to the parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment other than construction in progress, are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to
its working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have
been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally
charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of
the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates
them accordingly.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of
each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual value over its
estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are
as follows:

Buildings Over the shorter of
the lease terms and 2% to 5%
3to 7 years

1to 10 years

4 to 10 years

Plant and machinery
Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Motor vehicles

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis
among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values,
useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss
on disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in
the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents a building under construction, which
is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost
comprises the direct costs of construction and capitalised borrowing costs
on related borrowed funds during the period of construction. Construction
in progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant
and equipment when completed and ready for use.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

2.4

130

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including the
leasehold property held as a right-of-use asset which would otherwise
meet the definition of an investment property) held to earn rental income
and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for use in the production or
supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes; or for sale in
the ordinary course of business. Such properties are measured initially
at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market
conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in the statement of profit or loss in the year in
which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year of
the retirement or disposal.

If a property occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied property
becomes an investment property, the Group accounts for such property in
accordance with the policy stated under “Property, plant and equipment
and depreciation” for owned property and/or accounts for such property
in accordance with the policy stated under “Right-of-use assets” for
property held as a right-of-use asset up to the date of change in use, and
any difference at that date between the carrying amount and the fair
value of the property is accounted for as a revaluation in accordance with
the policy stated under “Property, plant and equipment and depreciation”
above.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition
at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business combination
is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment
annually either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. Such
intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset
with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the
indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change
in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for on a
prospective basis.

Trademarks with indefinite useful lives are stated at cost less any
impairment losses.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for
all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets.
The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and
right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

132

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(@

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date of
the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available for use).
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets
includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease
terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Prepaid land lease

Motor vehicles

Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Buildings

50 years

4 1o 10 years
1to 10 years
2 to 3 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the end
of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase
option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of
the asset.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(®)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of the
lease at the present value of lease payments to be made over the
lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable,
variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees.
The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate the lease. The
variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of
lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification,
a change in the lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g. a
change to future lease payments resulting from a change in an
index or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to purchase
the underlying asset.
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(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)
(c)  Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its
short-term leases of furniture and fixtures (that is those leases that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option).

Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or when
there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an operating
lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified as operating
leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each component on a
relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for on
a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in revenue in the
statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term
on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as
revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted for as
finance leases.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive
income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the Group initially measures
a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that
do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised
cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, it needs to give
rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
(“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash
flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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(CONTINUED)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The
business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting
contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets
classified and measured at amortised cost are held within a business
model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income are held within a business
model with the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash flows
and selling. Financial assets which are not held within the aforementioned
business models are classified and measured at fair value through profit
or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on
the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains and
losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of
a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed
from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the
asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows
in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an
asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and
to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the
asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability
are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount
of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group
could be required to repay.
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(CONTINUED)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs”)
for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss.
ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows
due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows
from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there
has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that
are possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit
exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the
timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition.
When making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable information
that is available without undue cost or effort, including historical and
forward-looking information. The Group considers that there has been
a significant increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more
than 90 days past due.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group
may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or
external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any
credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off
when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual
cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under the
general approach and they are classified within the following stages for
measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables and contract assets
which apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal
to 12-month ECLs

Stage1 -

Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition but that are not
credit-impaired financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Stage 2 -

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting
date (but that are not purchased or originated credit-
impaired) and for which the loss allowance is measured at

an amount equal to lifetime ECLs
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(CONTINUED)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified
approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings, payables or as
derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as
appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the
case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade payables, other payables and
accruals, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and lease liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rate method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included
in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability
is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying amounts is recognised
in the statement of profit or loss.
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(CONTINUED)
Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is determined on the weighted average basis for homogenous items
while it is determined on an actual unit cost basis for certain unique or
specific items and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods,
comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
overheads, and where appropriate, subcontracting charges. Net realisable
value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be
incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and
short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, and have a short maturity of generally within three months when
acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, including term
deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not restricted as
to use.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive)
has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable that a future
outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided
that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a
provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period of the
future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to
items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss,
either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to
be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and
practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
puUrposes.
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(CONTINUED)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

. when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, when
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused
tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

. when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary
differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time
of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and

. in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability
is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if
the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities relate to the income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
on either same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend
either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise
the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected
to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis in which the periods
that the costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.
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(CONTINUED)
Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of
goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the
amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will be entitled
in exchange for transferring the goods or services to the customer. The
variable consideration is estimated at contract inception and constrained
until it is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the amount
of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides the
customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or
services to the customer for more than one year, revenue is measured
at the present value of the amount receivable, discounted using the
discount rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception. When the
contract contains a financing component which provides the Group with
a significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised
under the contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the transfer of the
promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction price is not
adjusted for the effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(a)  Sale of jewellery products

Revenue from the sale of jewellery products is recognised at
the point in time when control of the asset is transferred to the
customer, generally on delivery of the jewellery products.

Some contracts for the sale of jewellery products provide
customers with rights of return. The rights of return give rise to
variable consideration.

O] Rights of return

For contracts which provide a customer with a right to
return the goods within a specified period, the expected
value method is used to estimate the goods that will not be
returned because this method best predicts the amount of
variable consideration to which the Group will be entitled.
The requirements in HKFRS 15 on constraining estimates
of variable consideration are applied in order to determine
the amount of variable consideration that can be included
in the transaction price. For goods that are expected to be
returned, instead of revenue, a refund liability is recognised.
A right-of-return asset (and the corresponding adjustment
to cost of sales) is also recognised for the right to recover
products from a customer.
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Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(a) Sale of jewellery products (continued)

(i)

Customer loyalty programmes

The Group maintains loyalty points programmes within
its retail shops in Hong Kong and the PRC, which allow
customers to accumulate award credits upon purchase
of goods in the shops and joining the programmes. The
award credits can then be redeemed for goods or other
gifts, subject to certain terms and conditions. Under HKFRS
15, the customer loyalty program gives rise to a separate
performance obligation because they provide a material right
to the customer and allocated a portion of the transaction
price to the loyalty credits awarded to customers based on
the relative stand-alone selling price.

(b)  Service income

Service income is recognised over the scheduled period on a
straight line basis because the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by the Company.

Revenue from other sources

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or
a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the Group
transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised
as revenue when the Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers
control of the related goods or services to the customer).

Right-of-return assets

A right-of-return asset is recognised for the right to recover the goods
expected to be returned by customers. The asset is measured at the
former carrying amount of the goods to be returned, less any expected
costs to recover the goods and any potential decreases in the value of the
returned goods. The Group updates the measurement of the asset for any
revisions to the expected level of returns and any additional decreases in
the value of the returned goods.

Refund liabilities

A refund liability is recognised for the obligation to refund some or
all of the consideration received (or receivable) from a customer and
is measured at the amount the Group ultimately expects it will have
to return to the customer. The Group updates its estimates of refund
liabilities (and the corresponding change in the transaction price) at the
end of each reporting period.

Share-based payments

The Company issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain
employees and suppliers. Employees (including directors) of the Group
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments, whereby
suppliers render goods or services as consideration for equity instruments
("equity-settled transactions”).
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2.4

150

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Share-based payments (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for grants after 7
November 2002 is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at
which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer
using a binomial valuation model (the “Binomial Model”), further details of
which are given in note 29 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee benefit
expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the
period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled.
The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the
end of each reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent to
which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of
the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge
or credit to the statement of profit or loss for a period represents the
movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and
end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but the
likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group’s
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within the grant
date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without
an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting
conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value of an
award and lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there are
also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market performance
and/or service conditions have not been met, no expense is recognised.
Where awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the transactions
are treated as vesting irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Share-based payments (continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum
an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been modified, if the
original terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense is recognised
for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based
payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the
date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had
vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised
for the award is recognised immediately. This includes any award where
non-vesting conditions within the control of either the Group or the
employee are not met. However, if a new award is substituted for the
cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date
that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described in the previous
paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share
dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

Other employee benefits
Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees in Hong
Kong. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in
an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.
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(CONTINUED)
Other employee benefits (continued)
Pension schemes (continued)

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in the PRC,
Malaysia and Japan are required to participate in central pension schemes
operated by the local municipal government. Contributions are made
based on the requirements of the respective local municipal government.
The contributions are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension
schemes.

Long service payments

The Group’s net obligation in respect of lump sum long service amounts
payable on cessation of employment in certain circumstances under the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance represents the amounts of future
benefits that employees have earned in return for their services in the
current and prior periods. The obligation is calculated using the projected
unit credit method by a qualified actuary, discounted to its present value,
and the fair value of any related plan assets is deducted. The discount
rate is the yield of Exchange Fund Notes at the end of the reporting
period that have maturity dates approximating the terms of the Group’s
obligations.

Remeasurements arising from long service payment obligations,
comprising actuarial gains and losses, are recognised immediately in the
consolidated statement of financial position with a corresponding debit
or credit to retained profits through other comprehensive income in the
period in which they occur. Remeasurements are not reclassified to profit
or loss in subsequent periods.

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined
benefit liability or asset. The Group recognises the following changes in
the net defined benefit obligation under “cost of sales” and “administrative
expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss by function:
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Other employee benefits (continued)
Long service payments (continued)

. service costs comprising current service costs, past-service costs,
gains and losses on curtailments and non-routine settlements

. net interest expense or income

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of
such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in
connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as a separate
allocation of retained profits within the equity section of the statement
of financial position, until they have been approved by the shareholders
in a general meeting. When these dividends have been approved by the
shareholders and declared, they are recognised as a liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because the
Company’s memorandum and articles of association grant the directors the
authority to declare interim dividends.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

154

(CONTINUED)
Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is
the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the Group determines its
own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of
each entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded
using their respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling
at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates
of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date
when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e.,
translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration, the date of
initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially recognises the
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the
Group determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the
advance consideration.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Foreign currencies (continued)

The functional currencies of certain subsidiaries located other than Hong
Kong are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the
reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of
the reporting period and their statements of profit or loss are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates that approximate to those
prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of
a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive income relating
to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair
value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising
on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation
and translated at the closing rate.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in
outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management
has made the following judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements:
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Judgements (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group applied the following judgements that significantly affect the
determination of the amount and timing of revenue from contracts with
customers:

Determining the method to estimate variable consideration and assessing
the constraint for the retail of jewellery

Some contracts for the sale of jewellery products provide customers with
a right of return that give rise to variable consideration. In estimating the
variable consideration, the Group is required to exercise judgement to
determine the use of either the expected value method or the most likely
amount method based on which method better predicts the amount of
consideration to which it will be entitled.

The Group determined that the expected value method is the appropriate
method to use in estimating the variable consideration for the sale of
jewellery with rights of return, given the large number of customer
contracts that have similar characteristics.

Before including any amount of variable consideration in the transaction
price, the Group considers whether the amount of variable consideration
is constrained. The Group determined that the estimates of variable
consideration are not constrained based on its historical experience,
business forecast and the current economic conditions. In addition, the
uncertainty on the variable consideration will be resolved within a short
time frame.

FTESHHE R A (@)

HIET (&)
%ggﬁﬂ /1{72‘&@

AEERANTHEHEEEPANKRGEZEBR
REEEAFE

B TZREZ T ARFERETEZ R

“*%%%ﬁz NETEPEREETEREZ

BHE - NMEFT R ERER - NEBAAEIRT
&(ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁT%Z@%%)ﬂEﬁmﬁﬂ
HEZFE2RESHE -

%Fﬁgﬁﬁé%Zﬁﬁﬁw RER R TR B
BERHARG T RER 2 KREHEZTEKE
BEEGMITE -

REERNTERESEAARSERN - AEES
ERAERBZEEREXRY - REBELR
EBFRRREALEMR  AEEREANEREZ
I BIRRE] o pLoh - ATRR(E 2 NHEE MEAS
RIERE R R o



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Judgements (continued)

Classification between investment properties and
owner-occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an investment
property, and has developed criteria in making that judgement. Investment
property is a property held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or
both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a property generates cash
flows largely independently of the other assets held by the Group. Some
properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation and another portion that is held for use in the production or
supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes. If these portions
could be sold separately or leased out separately under a finance lease, the
Group accounts for the portions separately. If the portions could not be sold
separately, the property is an investment property only if an insignificant
portion is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes. Judgement is made on an individual property
basis to determine whether ancillary services are so significant that a
property does not qualify as an investment property.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below.

Variable consideration for returns

The Group estimates variable consideration to be included in the transaction
price for the sale of jewellery products with rights of return.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Variable consideration for returns (continued)

The Group has developed a statistical model for forecasting sales returns.
The model used the historical return data of each product to come up with
expected return percentages. These percentages are applied to determine
the expected value of the variable consideration. Any significant changes
in experience as compared to historical return pattern will impact the
expected return percentages estimated by the Group.

The Group updates its assessment of expected returns semi-annually and
the refund liabilities are adjusted accordingly. Estimates of expected returns
are sensitive to changes in circumstances and the Group’s past experience
regarding returns entitlements may not be representative of customers’
actual returns entitlements in the future. As at 31 March 2023, the amount
recognised as refund liabilities was HK$8,027,000 (2022: HK$7,846,000)
for the expected returns (note 24).

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various
customer segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by geography and
customer type).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical observed
default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical
credit loss experience with forward-looking information. For instance, if
forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic products) are expected
to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an increased number
of defaults in the retail sector, the historical default rates are adjusted. At
each reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated and
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

FTESHHE R A (@)

HET TR = (|)
REZT#AE (&)

REEGIE —IE?EEIJ%%LE?ZMH%T ALY
ERSERNELRERE  SHEMRELH -
E,Z%J:WUﬁﬁﬁA?‘ziT“fﬂfZﬁﬁﬁF@ N A% B £
EseRE *Eﬁﬁtl:"l‘ﬁﬁ&ﬂiﬁ“ CREPE
REEBETOEMRE LG -

REEGYTFEHEBHESTHELAEARER
=N oj‘*ﬁiﬁsﬁL s 7 EETEIR RS R ASE AR
EERNEENBACBRANRERERE Y ER
LE%/R E’\2023¢3ﬁ315 MIEHERERRE
BARBEZEEAERES 027,000 0(20224F: #H
7,846,0007T) (MI5E24) °

ERIRH 2 BRAEEERERE

AEBFERBREERAERKERZEREEE
B BELETDERAGRUBEEX ZZETP
D EHERIZ B R T (e - ERERREP
FARIARFFAR) -

BMEREEERAREZELBRENEK - KK
BB EERIAZBRAETENBRELFEEER
&5 o Plan - WMIEMERE (WA EERE) &
ERR—FBL  BRTEXENEELM  AE
ABELEOR - REZWEAH  BELBERMAED
EBORBTER - WAOWNAE ORI



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables
(continued)

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed default rates,
forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount
of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast economic
conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of
economic conditions may also not be representative of customer’s actual
default in the future. The information about the ECLs on the Group’s trade
receivables is disclosed in note 20 to the financial statements.

Useful lives and depreciation of property, plant and equipment

The Group determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation
charges of its property, plant and equipment. These estimates are based
on the historical experience of the actual useful lives of property, plant
and equipment of similar nature and functions. The Group will increase the
depreciation charge where useful lives are less than previously estimated
lives, and will write off or write down technically obsolete or non-strategic
assets that have been abandoned or sold. Actual economic lives may differ
from estimated useful lives. Periodic review could result in a change in
depreciable lives and, therefore, depreciation charge in the future periods.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment testing of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

The Group determines whether property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets are impaired when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying
values of these assets exceed their recoverable amounts, which is the higher
of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation
of the fair values less costs of disposal is based on available data from
binding sales transactions in an arm'’s length transaction of similar assets or
observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset.
When value in use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate
the expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for
all non-financial assets at the end of each reporting period. Indefinite life
intangible assets are tested for impairment annually and at other times
when such an indicator exists. Other non-financial assets are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not
be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or
a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher
of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation
of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on available data from
binding sales transactions in an arm'’s length transaction of similar assets or
observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset.
When value in use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate
the expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
losses can be utilised. Significant judgement is required to determine
the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon
estimate and the level of future taxable profits. The carrying value of
deferred tax assets relating to recognised tax losses at 31 March 2023
was HK$6,558,000 (2022: HK$1,628,000). The amount of unrecognised
deferred tax assets at applicable tax rates relating to tax losses at 31
March 2023 was HK$125,999,000 (2022: HK$105,545,000). Further details
are contained in note 27 to the financial statements.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and
variable selling expenses. These estimates are based on the current
market conditions and the historical experience of manufacturing and
selling products of a similar nature. It could change significantly as a
result of changes in customer taste or competitor actions in response to
a significant downturn in the industry sector. The directors reassess the
estimations at the end of each reporting period.

Customer loyalty programmes

The Group measures the cost of the loyalty award credits by reference
to the fair value of goods and gifts redeemed in the prior years and the
probability of redemption is estimated by the directors based on past
experience. Actual results may differ from the estimation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Income tax

Significant judgements on the future tax treatment of certain transactions
are required in determining income tax provisions. The Group carefully
evaluates tax implications of transactions and tax provisions are recorded
accordingly. The tax treatment of such transactions is reconsidered
periodically to take into account all changes in circumstances and tax
legislation.

Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in a lease,
and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure
lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would have
to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use
asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what
the Group “would have to pay”, which requires estimation when no
observable rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter
into financing transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect
the terms and conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not
in the subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group estimates the IBR
using observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when available
and is required to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as the
subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Deferred tax liability

Deferred tax liability relating to withholding tax of undistributed earnings
of certain subsidiaries established in the PRC is provided to the extent
that it is probable that distribution is made according to the relevant tax
rules enacted in the relevant jurisdiction, and is subject to management’s
judgement on the timing and level of such distribution. Such judgement
is made with reference to the Group’s business plan and cash flow
requirements for the holding companies of the subsidiaries. The carrying
amount of deferred tax liability provided relating to such withholding tax
amounted to HK$22,784,000 (2022: HK$20,609,000) as at 31 March 2023.
Further details are contained in note 27 to the financial statements.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units
based on business nature and has four reportable operating segments as
follows:

(@)  Retail Business (including Hong Kong, Macau, Mainland China and
Malaysia);

(b)  Wholesale Business;

(c)  E-Business; and

(d)  Other Businesses.

Retail Business includes direct retail sales of jewellery products to
end consumers through the physical outlets carrying the trademark of
TSL | #38%; DUO by TSL and TSL TOSI. It also includes the service fee

income received from the provision of retail management services to
other retailers.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Wholesale Business includes wholesale sales of jewellery products to
customers, including franchisees.

E-Business includes sales of jewellery products to customers on
e-commerce platforms.

Other Businesses includes others.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating segments
separately for the purpose of making decisions about resources allocation
and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based
on reportable segment (loss)/profit, which is a measure of adjusted
(loss)/profit before tax. The adjusted (loss)/profit before tax is measured
consistently with the Group’s (loss)/profit before tax except that
unallocated expenses, fair value gains on investment properties and
non-lease-related finance costs are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets and tax recoverable as these
assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank and other borrowings,
tax payable, deferred tax liabilities and employee benefit obligations as
these liabilities are managed on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to the
selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then prevailing
market prices.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 4. REITER @
Wholesale Other
Retail Business Business E-Business Businesses Total

SEER HBER ETHEER AR b

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
Year ended 31 March 2023 HE023E3RINALEE BETT BETT BT BETT BETT
Segment revenue: AHEER:
Sales to external customers HETFIREP 1,595,114 484,578 422,628 9,046 2,511,366
Other revenue HiA 79,570 - - - 79,570

1,674,684 484,578 422,628 9,046 2,590,936
Segment results PREE (48,611) 91,599 11,944 5,825 60,757
Reconciliation: A -
Unallocated expenses AR (52,238)
Fair value gains on investment properties RENEND L BEKE

(note 15) (BizE15) 4,574
Finance costs HBER
(other than interest on lease liabilities) (TRERERENTS) (60,270)

Loss before tax BHAEE (47,177)
Income tax expense FiEHER (24,366)
Loss for the year AEEER (71,543)
Segment assets: PHEE 2,642,115 35,677 114,322 5,879 2,797,993
Reconciliation: i
Deferred tax assets BEHEAE 34,081
Tax recoverable MlEHE 12,144
Total assets BEE 2,844,218
Segment liabilities: AREE: (647,161) (79,709) (13,875) (1,087) (741,832)
Reconciliation: A -
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings STRRITREMER (1,173,577)
Tax payable FERHE (7,623)
Deferred tax liabilities BEHEAR (23,828)
Employee benefit obligations EERAZEK (3,894)
Total liabilities BafkE (1,950,754)
Other segment information: HitpHEs
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment %1% « BERRENE 33,760 325 1,354 5,284 40,723
Depreciation of right-of-use assets RREAERE 103,937 - - 10,240 114,177
Impairment of property, plant and equipment  #1% * BE RREHE 4,200 - - - 4,200
Impairment of right-of-use assets FREAERNE 14,800 - - - 14,800
Capital expenditure* BARY: 118,762 - 2,979 8,097 129,838

*

: EARAXBEREDE  BERRBREMNLHHES -

Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and
equipment and prepaid land lease.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 4. REFHER @)
Wholesale Other
Retail Business Busipess E-Business Businesses Total
TEEK PEER ETHEEH Eth %% it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Year ended 31 March 2022 BZ202F3831RLEE BRI BETT BETT BETT BT
Segment revenue: DHERE:
Sales to external customers HETIREE 1732,043 560,987 385,219 6,349 2,684,598
Other revenue HiplA 83190 - - - 83190
1,815,233 560,987 385,219 6,349 2,767,788
Segment results ARER 40,922 124,894 12,466 (3,539) 174,743
Reconciliation: HE
Unallocated expenses AAEX (84,733)
Finance costs (other than interest on lease  BIBEM (M AR EAER
liabilities) Fg) (29,508)
Profit before tax BRI & 60,502
Income tax expense FiEHER (45,088)
Profit for the year AEERF 15,414
Segment assets: AHEE 2,508,267 32,375 113,859 7,134 2,661,635
Reconciliation: HE -
Deferred tax assets ELHEEE 38340
Tax recoverable eI HE 7192
Total assets BEE 2,707,167
Segment liabilities: AHaE: (571.814) (108,275) (13,516) (997) (694,602)
Reconciliation: Eilie )
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings it BETREMER (920,409)
Tax payable [EfBA (19,481)
Deferred tax liabilities EREREERE (23329)
Employee benefit obligations EERNZE (1,301)
Total liabilities HeE (1,659,122)
Other segment information: HiupHEs
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1% - B Rk i E 32,998 258 693 3,570 37,519
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 105,593 - - 13,043 118,636
Impairment of property, plant and equipment W% - BE REREHE 443] - - - 4,43]
Impairment of right-of-use assets FRELERE 33,675 - - - 33,675
Capital expenditure* AREX 44,009 - 3710 8,987 56,106
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*

Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and

equipment.

EAXARXBREAEME  BERHRE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

iSRRI 5= ( )
OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 4. REITER @
(a) Geographical information (a) M@EEFR
Revenue from external customers IREFEEEE
2023 2022
2023% 20224
HK$’000 &¥F T HK$'000 ¥ F 7T
Hong Kong and Macau BB MR 654,762 486,228
Mainland China A B At 1,809,064 2,206,800
Other countries HEMER 127,110 74,760
2,590,936 2,767,788
The revenue information above is based on the locations of the Pl EEEER TR P HEE D -
customers.
Non-current assets FREEE
2023 2022
20235 20224
HK$’000 &¥F T HK$'000 7 ¥ F 7T
Hong Kong and Macau BB MR 192,968 193,038
Mainland China A At 234,775 114,739
Other countries HEMER 11,219 8,150
438,962 315,927
The non-current asset information above is based on the locations FIERBEEER NREEMERRES
of the assets and excludes rental deposits and deferred tax assets. WABREHERS MEEHEEE -
(b) Information about major customers by EBEEXERFZER

The turnover from the Group’s largest customer amounted to less
than 10% of the Group’s total turnover for the years.

RAEFERANFE  REARBSKEPZ

SR AR EEYDRI0% -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

5.

168

TURNOVER 5. ®XEH
An analysis of turnover is as follows: EEBIOWWAT :
2023 2022
20235 20224
HK$’000 &#¥ T 5T HK$'000 BT
Revenue from contracts with customers KEFEFAEHZ K
Sales of jewellery products HELRE BN 2,511,366 2,684,598
Service income BRAE WA 79,570 83,190
2,590,936 2,767,788
Revenue from contracts with customers KERPEH 2 W=
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (i) BEKZER
Other
Retail Business Wholesale Business E-Business Businesses Total
Year ended 31 March 2023 BZ203F3831ALFE BEEH HEER ETHEEE Htb%H @t
Segments 28 HK$’000 BH Tt HK$'000 BT HK$'000 B¥Fr HK$000 B¥Fx HK$000 BT
Types of goods or services ERSREER
Sales of jewellery products HEREEH 1,595,114 484,578 422,628 9,046 2,511,366
Service income FRAYA 79,570 - - - 79,570
Total revenue from contracts with RERFAHN Wa
customers 1,674,684 484,578 422,628 9,046 2,590,936
Geographical markets HETS
Hong Kong and Macau B RAM 645,569 = 1,262 7,931 654,762
Mainland China HEIR 903,120 484,578 421,366 - 1,809,064
Other countries HitEIR 125,995 - - 1,115 127,110
Total revenue from contracts with ELI=Y opdl 6
customers 1,674,684 484,578 422,628 9,046 2,590,936
Timing of revenue recognition syt
Goods transferred at a point in time &R ER 1,595,114 484,578 422,628 9,046 2,511,366
Services transferred over time fRiseEE 2 —BSER 79,570 - - - 79,570
Total revenue from contracts with RERFAN ME
customers 1,674,684 484,578 422,628 9,046 2,590,936




5.

TURNOVER (CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MHBEME(E)

5. ®EHE@

KRERFAEL) 2 WS (&)

Disaggregated revenue information (continued) () DENZEF (E)
Other
Retail Business Wholesale Business E-Business Businesses Total

Year ended 31 March 2022 HZ202F383ALEE BEER HBER ETHEER HibEH @t
Segments pig] HK$'000 BEF L HK$000 BEFT  HK$000 BEFT  HKS000 BEFr  HK$000 BETTR
Types of goods or services ERSRBER
Sales of jewellery products HEREEM 1,732,043 560,987 385,219 6,349 2,684,598
Service income FREMA 83190 - - - 83190
Total revenue from contracts with REEZFANZ NG

customers 1,815,233 560,987 385,219 6,549 2,167,788
Geographical markets HETS
Hong Kong and Macau BERRM 479151 - 1456 5,621 486,228
Mainland China FE R 1,262,050 560,987 383,763 - 2,206,800
Other countries HiER 74,032 - - 728 74760
Total revenue from contracts with REZFANZ NS

customers 1,815,233 560,987 385,219 6,549 2,167,788
Timing of revenue recognition KRR
Goods transferred at a point in time EERERE 1,732,043 560,987 385,219 6,349 2,684,598
Services transferred over time B8R —BEER 83190 - - - 83,190
Total revenue from contracts with RERFPEHZME

customers 1,815,233 560,987 385,219 6,349 2,167,788
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

5.

170

TURNOVER (CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

)]

(i)

Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised
in the current reporting period that were included in the contact
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period and recognised
from performance obligations satisfied in previous periods:

(|
REBEPEHZ W ()

)]

D E Wz ER (F)
TRERRARE B AR AR RS S
JIAGHABZRESRE LB BEHRER
2 BB IR WS

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 &# F 5T HK$'000 ¥ T T
Revenue recognised that was included in contract REERHEINAE L
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period: BEZBEERIE
Sales of jewellery products HEKRBE B 19,434 16,093
Performance obligations (i) BHEML

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Sales of jewellery products

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the goods
and payment is mainly on cash and credit card settlement. Some
contracts provide customers with a right of return which gives rise
to variable consideration subject to constraint.

Service income

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services are
rendered and short-term advances are normally required before
rendering the services. Service contracts are for periods of one year
or less, or are billed based on the time incurred. All the performance
obligations are expected to be recognised within one year.

REBERHBEEZBEERRANT -

HEKEEH

BHOBRERZNE M ERK - BREFREEN
RehERAREE - e REPREHRE
R AEESBINRZ AJRRE -

IRFEHA

RHEERREIRG BEERX - IR IRE AT
—RFZRHMEHEN - REaR2FHRE—
FROR—F  SIRIBRERZH - 2HEL
BETEMAI N —F R



6. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

6. HMWARWE FHE

MHBEME(E)

2023 2022

2023 % 20224

HK$’000 &% F T HK$'000 ¥ T T

Interest income FBUA 10,612 10,825

Foreign exchange differences, net JHIE X =8 845 (4,525)
Government grants* and rent concessions BT R 2019E kR SHE S

related to COVID-19 TR 24,288 16,208
Gain on sales of scrap gold HETSREERIEA 900 1,515
Fair value gains on investment properties REMEN R R EEKE (FTEE5)

(note 15) 4,574 -
Repair service income HEAS A 841 1,032
Rental income He A 3,149 1,272
Others Hifb 7,037 2,971

52,246 29,298

This represented subsidies from municipal governments in Mainland
China and Employment Support Scheme from the Government of Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region (2022: subsidies from municipal

governments in Mainland China). There were no unfulfilled conditions or A R AT IR IR ©

contingencies relating to these subsidies.

- 1t T4 B R B PO 3 T U 42 5 B 46 B RN 8 45
THREBFE TR | 5HE (2022F - BPERE
BT R EARL) - ZE WA BERRETT

7



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

7.

172

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX 7. BR®AT (B5E) BF
The Group’s (loss)/profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ NEB B (B8),/ ARk, (GTA) :
(crediting):
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 &¥# F T HK$'000 7 #& F 7T
Cost of goods sold* SHE R A 1,679,246 1,692,409
Provision for impairment of inventories, net BREGTEZNSRFE  F8 2,847 12,552
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment #1% - /= LR EITE (MiE14)

(note 14) 40,723 37,519
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (note 16(a)) {EREEEITE (H5E16(a)) 14,177 118,636
Lease payments not included in the EfEaERTEREEAZEE

measurement of lease liabilities** (note 16(c))  3XIE** (MzF16()) 3,020 3,558
Gain on lease modification B ez e - (323)
Auditor’s remuneration ZEREN BN & 2,633 2,510
Employee benefit expense (including directors’ EERAHX (BFEEHE

remuneration (note 9)): (FIzE9)) :

Wages, salaries and other benefits IE  #HekAmEs 473,072 468,602

Pension scheme contributions*** VA TE HERGRIRGT B 5,953 5,769

Employee benefit obligations (note 26) EEmAER (HE26) 3,638 87

482,663 474,458




7.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MHBEME(E)

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX (CONTINUED) 7. BR®iAT (B5E)BF (&)
The Group’s (loss)/profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ AEE BB (BR),/ AFENKR (GtA) :
(crediting): (continued) (%)
2023 2022
2023%F 20224

HK$’000 B¥F T HK$'000 B+t

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

W - BB RRERE (HE14)

(note 14) 4,200 4,431
Impairment of right-of-use-assets (note 16(a)) {EREEERME (H:X16(a)) 14,800 33,675
Impairment of other receivables (note 21) H A R FORE (FiaE21) - 5,780
Reversal of impairment of trade receivables, FEWBRRORE R B - F 58 (FisE20)

net (note 20) (634) (924)
Loss on disposal of items of property, plant BZEEYE  BELXEEE ZEE

and equipment 289 636

. Cost of goods sold includes HK$86,397,000 (2022: HK$87,860,000) . HEXARPEERBEES6,397,0007T (2022
relating to employee benefit expense, depreciation on property, plant F : E¥87,860,000) MEERBAIFAY - ¥
and equipment, and depreciation on right-of-use assets, which are also ¥ BELRBINERFEREEENE Bl
included in the respective total amounts disclosed separately above BEINE DRI A L7 & BMREmEs 4 -
under each of these types of expenses.

e Not including commission payments in relation to sales counters in = TEEZNTFHESEERBNEEARNAR

department stores and shopping malls.

A At 31 March 2023, there were no forfeited contributions available to the

o A2023F 38318 0 AEEIED KSR A

Group to reduce its contributions to pension schemes in future years AR RF R IRET B FR (20224 « ) -

(2022: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

8.
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FINANCE COSTS 8. HBER
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: HMEERAZOWHNAT -
2023 2022
20235 20224
HK$’000 &#¥ T 5T HK$'000 BT
Interest on bank loans, overdrafts and CBIRETEFREFE
other loans 51,446 23,842
Interest on lease liabilities HESENFE 9,105 7,850
Other charges Hthsz H 8,824 5,666
69,375 37,358
DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION 9. EEM2

Directors’ and chief executive’'s remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (¢) and (f) of the

RiELETRA BB

REPEPIZE383()(a) ~ (b) ~ ()

REOBARRT (HEEZFZEN) RHIE2

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure AEEZESWEHEDT -
of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 &# F T HK$'000 ¥ F T
Fees W 648 648
Other emoluments: E A -
Salaries and allowances Fré KoEBh 8,263 8,389
Performance related bonuses B IFAR 2 IEAT - 2,868
Pension scheme contributions VAR HFGRIRET B 5K 23 36
8,286 11,293
8,934 11,941




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MHBEME(E)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION 9. EZEE£ (&)
(CONTINUED)
Included in the directors’ remuneration were fees of HK$648,000 paid EEMERERFAINTEIIENTESTRESE
to independent non-executive directors (2022: HK$648,000) during the 648,0007T (20224 + N TR IEMITE S BB
year. 648,0007T) ©
Performance Pension
Salaries and related scheme
Fees allowances bonuses contributions Total
HERBEE EEHK
we FeRER ZA  RINFTEIER k]
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BETRT BETT BET T BETT
Year ended 31 March 2023 H 12023 F3 A3 L EE
Executive directors: HITES
Yau On Yee, Annie! R - 4,343 - 18 4,361
Ng Yi Kum, Estella hE=E - 3,920 - 5 3,925
- 8,263 - 23 8,286
Non-executive directors: FHTES ©
Chow Chee Wai, Christopher* ARE 216 - - - 216
Chui Chi Yun, Robert* B 216 - - - 216
Chan Yue Kwong, Michael* BRAA 216 - - - 216
648 - - - 648
648 8,263 - 23 8,934
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S REMUNERATION 9. EEM<E &)
(CONTINUED)

Performance Pension
Salaries and related scheme
Fees allowances bonuses  contributions Total
HRIBFRE ETERK
we o kR8s ZAEAT  RIRETEIER B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETFIT BT BETIT BT T
Year ended 31 March 2022 H1E2022F3831HILEE
Executive directors: BiTES:
Yau On Yee, Annie! 283 - 4,363 1971 18 6,352
Ng Yi Kum, Estella &= - 4,026 897 18 4,941
- 8,389 2,868 36 1,293
Non-executive directors: FHTES .
Chow Chee Wai, Christopher* ARE 216 - - = 216
Chui Chi Yun, Robert* " 216 - - - 216
Chan Yue Kwong, Michael* PR 216 - - - 216
648 - - - 648
648 8,389 2,868 36 1,941
* Independent non-executive directors * B FENITEE
1. Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie is also the chief executive officer of the Group. 1. B EZ T MEAEENITRAH -
There were no other emoluments payable to the independent non- FRIEELMNE BN FBILIENTTESE (2022F
executive directors during the year (2022: Nil). ) o
There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to FAESTETLEARESIRERETAHEH
waive any remuneration during the year (2022: Nil). ZHE (20224 « #E)
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10.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10.

The five highest paid employees during the year included two directors
(2022: two), details of whose remuneration are set out in note 9 above.
Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining three (2022:

TEBREFHHER

MHBEME(E)

FAREERERESFHES 21524 (20224F : 2
B)ESE - HFAMSERER LlME - AFE
HER34 (2022F  38) ZmuMIFEES NIRRT

three) highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief BABWFHMAMSERIT ¢
executive of the Company are as follows:

2023 2022
2023 % 20224
HK$’000 &% F T HK$'000 78 F T
Salaries and allowances e MoERL 5,062 5,105
Performance related bonuses EAR IR AE R 2 FEAL 451 785
Pension scheme contributions TEE TR INGT B 5k 54 36
5,567 5,926

The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose remuneration

MeNFUTHENZ &S HMFEREE 2 ABW

fell within the following bands is as follows: T
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Number of Number of
employees employees
EEAH EEAH
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 75 #1,000,0017C 28 #1,500,000 7T 1 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 751,500,001 2 4 #2,000,0007T 1 -
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 752,000,001 =% 2,500,0007T 1 -
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 782,500,001 2 4% 3,000,000 - -
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 752,000,001 2B #3,500,0007T - 1
3 3

No emolument was paid by the Group to any of the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as
compensation for loss of office during the year (2022: Nil).

FAREEMERNENIEESFHEEXN#ME
(20224 : %) - ERFRBHR AR AR K E B

ZBE - SR RBERIHE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

1. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 1.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2022:
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during
the year. Taxes on profits assessable in places other than Hong Kong have
been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which
the Group operates.

&R

EEFERIIBREBEAFTFERNE B2 G ERBA
K - @ AR E16.5% (20224 : 16.5%) 5t E - £F
REELAIME & 7 FERRTL & F| iR B BT 7t /Y 38 A
RETERE -

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 &#F T HK$'000 & #F T

Current - Hong Kong NER — BB
Charge for the year FATRIE
Underprovision in prior years BAEFEREBRR
Current tax - Elsewhere ANER — HAetbfb 5
Deferred (note 27) IBIE (FI5E27)

5,644 9,905
1,150 4,376
11,784 31,714
5,788 (907)
24,366 45,088
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1.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

1.

A reconciliation of the tax (credit)/expense applicable to (loss)/profit
before tax at the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in which the

EHER @

MHBEME(E)

BARRRIEMBARMEEBERE ZEERE
ATEWEBRERA (BB B 2B (GFA)/

Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax ERNT :
expense at the effective tax rate is as follows:
2023 2022
20234 20224F
HK$’000 &% F T HK$'000 ¥ T T
(Loss)/profit before tax BELAT (R, 2B 47,177) 60,502
Tax at the statutory rates BEERE (3,151) 22,685
Lower tax rates enacted by local authority B T SRR R
Expenses not deductible for tax TR 2 T 3,443 2,452
Income not subject to tax BT 2 WA (5,040) (3,942)
Tax losses utilised from previous periods FEANEHMZFHEEE (2,133) (1,200)
Tax losses and temporary differences AERTEEBRERNER
not recognised 26,797 18,282
Effect of withholding tax at 5% on the S B B A R 2 A 5 IR & F 5% T80
distributable profits of the Group’s PRC sz 2
subsidiary 3,300 2,186
Adjustments in respect of current tax of BLLAE BRI 2 B IR (EAS B S 2
previous periods 1,150 4,625
Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate of HAREES.6%E AR K
51.6% (2022: 74.5%) (20224 : 74.5%) st B 2 Fi1A 24,366 45,088
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12.

13.

180

DIVIDENDS 12. RE
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 &# T T HK$'000 ¥ F T
Final dividend declared and paid - Nil BEEM RIS 2 KRR E — &

(2022: HK$0.02 per ordinary share) (20224 SR EBATE®E0.027T) - 4,984
The Board did not recommend the payment of any dividend for the year EEeTEZTIREIL2023F3A310 IEFERE ©
ended 31 March 2023.

The final dividend for 2022 was approved on 6 September 2022 and MR2022F9 A6 HiMiBIRE 2 2022 F REARR B4 A%
amounted to approximately HK$4,984,000. The dividend was paid on 6 #54,984,0007T ° IR EE 2022410 A6 BIKfT °
October 2022.

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 13. ZAAQAREEAEGER (FE) &R

OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic (loss)/earnings per share amount is based
on the loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company of
HK$71,435,000 (2022: profit attributable to owners of the Company:
HK$15,546,000), and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
249,182,030 (2022: 249,182,030) in issue during the year.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue during the
years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

BREX(BE),/ BB NEAFERAAGEE
A JE(EE18/8%£71,435,0007T (20224F : AR RIHAE
AFE(E B H15,546,0007T) RERNDBITE R
7 DT RE249,182,030 8% (20224F : 249,182,030
R EE -

HE2023F K2022F3A3IHILFE  AEBERE
AEEHE 2 D BITEEAL -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MHBEME(E)

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. V¥ BWERSZE

Furniture,
Plant and fixtures and Motor Construction
Buildings machinery equipment vehicles in progress Total
R £B
BF BER#SE e "E rEIE k]
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BETRT BETT BETT BETT BET T BETT
As at 31 March 2023 R2023F3F31H
At 1 April 2022: R2022%4 818 :
Cost B AR 31,965 19,732 503,878 6,446 1,407 563,428
Accumulated depreciation and ~ REHTE KRE
impairment (6,866) (17,036) (436,149) (6,343) - (466,394)
Net carrying amount REFE 25,099 2,696 67,729 103 1,407 97,034
At 1 April 2022 R2022%4 A1H 25,099 2,696 67,729 103 1,407 97,034
Additions NE 1,043 2,270 49,506 - 52,591 105,410
Disposals ] - 12) (1,158) - - 1,170)
Depreciation provided during R EREE
the year (792) (1,343) (38,578) (10) - (40,723)
Impairment during the year FERRE - - (4,200) - - (4,200)
Exchange realignment b P = (124) (4,251) (4) m2) (4,491)
Surplus on revaluation EHAR 35,063 - - - - 35,063
Transfer to investment [EES e ES
properties (35,198) - - - - (35,198)
At 31 March 2023, net of R2023%F38318 -
accumulated depreciation and IR R E
impairment 25,215 3,487 69,048 89 53,886 151,725
At 31 March 2023: M2023F3A[318 =
Cost (%N 32,743 20,743 492,704 6,350 53,886 606,426
Accumulated depreciation and Rt E KRE
impairment (7,528) (17,256) (423,656) (6,261) - (454,701)
Net carrying amount IREFE 25,215 3,487 69,048 89 53,886 151,725

181



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

14.

182

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

4. Y% BERRKRE @

Furniture,
Plant and  fixtures and Motor  Construction
Buildings machinery equipment vehicles in progress Total
R HE
BF  BER#ER P& 5B ERETRE e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETFIT BETIT BEFIT BT BB BT
As at 31 March 2022 R2022%3H31H
At 1 April 2021: R2021F4 A18 =
Cost %N 34,009 18,248 483,731 6,639 1,341 543,968
Accumulated depreciation and Rt E KR (E
impairment (8,050) (16,420) (430,523) (6,506) - (461,499)
Net carrying amount RMEFE 25,959 1,828 53,208 133 1,341 82,469
At 1 April 2021 20214 18 25,959 1,828 53,208 133 1,341 82,469
Additions NE - 2,066 54,040 - - 56,106
Disposals ] = (175) (730) = - (905)
Depreciation provided during ~ FRITERE
the year (774) (1,057) (35,656) (32) = (37,519)
Impairment during the year FRRE - - (4,431) - - (4,431
Exchange realignment fE 5 AR - 34 1,298 2 66 1,400
Surplus on revaluation BAEAR 24,974 - - - - 24,974
Transfer to investment BEREYE
properties (25,060) = = = = (25,060)
At 31 March 2022, net of R2022%E3/8318 -
accumulated depreciation and IR R E
impairment 25,099 2,696 67,729 103 1,407 97,034
At 31 March 2022: R2022%F3 /318 ¢
Cost D% 31,965 19,732 503,878 6,446 1,407 563,428
Accumulated depreciation and 2T E REE
impairment (6,866) (17,036) (436,149) (6,343) = (466,394)
Net carrying amount EEFE 25,099 2,696 67,729 103 1,407 97,034




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group’s land and buildings
in Hong Kong were pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the
Group. Further details are disclosed in notes 32(a), 32(b) and 32(c) to the
annual report.

At the end of the reporting period, the premises permits in respect of the
property interests held under long term leases in Mainland China have not
been issued by the relevant PRC government authority. The net carrying
amount of the properties was HK$2 (2022: HK$2) at the end of the
reporting period.

At 31 March 2023, the Group’s management identified certain retail
shops which were loss-making and performed impairment assessment of
property, plant and equipment for identified retail shops with impairment
indicators and estimated corresponding recoverable amounts of the
cash-generating units based on value in use calculation. Based on these
estimates, an impairment loss of HK$4,200,000 (2022: HK$4,431,000)
was recognised to write down the carrying amounts of certain property,
plant and equipment to their estimated recoverable amounts as at 31
March 2023. The recoverable amounts of the cash-generating units are
determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections
based on financial budgets covering the remaining useful lives of the
respective property, plant and equipment. The pre-tax discount rates
applied for the cash flow projections ranged from 12.5% to 14.1% (2022:
12.2% t0 18.8%).

14.

MHBEME(E)

ME - BERRE @

RELH  AEBETEFEHERFUDREAEER
ETRITREMEE (H7E320a) © 32(0) %32(c)) °

REFR - FEARMBEBRESPIHDRAAEEE
TRESAENMERRELEEMBAESE - AREN
ZEMERNFHEANERRFERBE 27T (2022%F ¢
BH2TT) ©

M2023F3A31H  AEEETEERES THRE
BOHZEES N BREBENZEEHELD
¥ BEEEERENG  EENRSELSENZ
G AR EIRIBRAFEREETERETE - BIEZ
ZfEE - R2023%F3 8318 - 2o RIERREERE
FE¥E4,200,0007T (20224 : 78 4,431,0007T) » LA
BZEWE BELLEEENEEERRZER
KEl$EE - e EEBMN AT UG TR ESE A
BEFNE  FRUBRESYE  BELRLEOTH
AERAFHAEMNYKBE RS REN - Be
IR AR AT R R AN T12.5%%14.1% (2022
& 122%%E18.8%) ©
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15.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

15. BREWHE

2023 2022

20235 20224

HK$’000 #&# Tt HK$'000 ¥ F T

Carrying amount at beginning of year FYREREE 26,803 -
Transfer from property, plant and equipment  #E# B ¥)3 « E &% 35,198 25,060
Transfer from prepaid land lease ERaTEMN MBS 2,725 1,743
Net gain from a fair value adjustment (note 6) IREMHN AR BEWES (H:E6) 4,574 -
Carrying amount at end of year FREEREE 69,300 26,803

The Group’s investment properties consist of industrial properties in
Hong Kong. The investment properties were revalued on 31 March 2023
based on a valuation performed by CBRE Advisory Hong Kong Limited,
independent professionally qualified valuer, at HK$69,300,000. Each year,
the directors of the Group decide which external valuer to be responsible
for the external valuations of the Group’s properties. Selection criteria
include market knowledge, reputation, independence and whether
professional standards are maintained. Management have discussions with
the valuer on the valuation assumptions and valuation results when the
valuation is performed at each annual reporting date.

The investment properties are leased to third parties under operating
leases, further details of which are included in note 16 to the financial
statements.

At 31 March 2023, the Group’s investment properties with a total carrying
amount of HK$69,300,000 (2022: HK$26,803,000) were pledged as
security for the banking facilities granted to the Group. Further details are
disclosed in notes 32(a) and 32(b) to the annual report.

REEZREVEDFEETBTERME - 2023
FIANE AFEEZREVEREHRBE LS
AERGEMENRBCETZAEERBEE
69,300,0007T ° B » AR EE B RTEHIBEINE
HEMBERNSEYENINGGE - TWHMNE - 2
B CBUMAREERFEEEZEREEEA - R
EFEREAETHER  ERESRMGEMNR
HEREURGELER -

REREBEMENCEMEOMETE =% £ FFE
BRSBTS AR MEE6 ©

M2023F 38318 AEBEEEEABKE
69,300,0007T (20224 : ##26,803,0007T) Z3%
BYECHERMURSAEEETRITBHRESGE (K
FE32(a) 232(0)) °



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MHBEME(E)

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 15. REWE &)
Fair value hierarchy NEBEER
31 March 2023 2023%3831H Fair value measurements as at 31 March 2023 using
M2023FE3A3AMAFEENESE
Quoted

prices in Significant Significant
active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
AERTE EBEXTEE EXATTEHER
ZHE [P ¢ BWAEE

(&% 5I01) (#&512) (R 513) ek
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BT T BT T BET T
Recurring fair value measurement for: KREMEQAFLEETE
Industrial properties TXRYHE - - 69,300 69,300
31 March 2022 20223 A31H Fair value measurements as at 31 March 2022 using
M2022F3ANBM AT EBEFEDE
Quoted
prices in Significant Significant
active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
WERME EAAER BEATABER
ZRE A BUE i A BUE
(&A1) (& A12) (& 5713) I
HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETIT BETIT BETIT BT T
Recurring fair value measurement for: BEMDAFEETE
Industrial properties TERYE - - 26,803 26,803
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements FR - QAFEFEBRERNRINRRR2 2 HEEE -
between Level 1and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 (2022: JNEE B A R 38F A o8 (20224 &) o
Nil).
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15.

186

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

15. REWE (&)
NEBESZH (&)

Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within Level 3 of DEAEANTFEBRE=-BZAFFE2FHHWOT :

the fair value hierarchy:

Industrial

properties

TERAME

HK$’000

BT T

Carrying amount at 1 April 2021 R20215F4 A1BEREE =
Transfer from property, plant and equipment HEAYE - BERRE 25,060
Transfer from prepaid land lease EREMNTHAE 1,743
Carrying amount at 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 202263 A31H &2022F 4 B1HERHE 26,803
Transfer from property, plant and equipment HEAYE - BE&RE 35,198
Transfer from prepaid land lease EREMTHAE 2,725
Net gain from a fair value adjustment ANTEFHEZ W 4,574
Carrying amount at 31 March 2023 R2023F3 A BRAE 69,300




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MHBEME(E)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 15. REWE @)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) N EBESH (&)
Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the key inputs T AREMEGEMANGHEERNTEEB B AR
to the valuation of investment properties: BOME -
Valuation techniques Significant unobservable inputs Range or weighted average
fEEH M BEATUEHERAE HESRMEFLEE
2023
202345
Industrial properties Income approach Estimated rental value HK$13.1 to HK$16.1
TERWZE WamE - price per sq. ft.
FERTTIEES
- g¥HRER
Capitalisation rate 3.0% to 4.0%
B E®
Under the income approach, fair value is estimated by taking into account BRI z=E - AP ERBBERMERELZNERIHE
the current rent passing of the property interests and the reversionary SEBMEENE NRMEE - WhmisHEeME TR
potential of the tenancy. A significant increase/decrease in the estimated REBREBIEM,HL  SEBREMEZNFE
rental value per square foot in isolation would result in a significant KIERA /(8 AN) o (W& RN REBRIELM, Ok
increase/decrease in the fair value of the investment properties. A L) SEREEYEZ ATFEREBRLD () -

significant increase/decrease in the capitalisation rate in isolation would
result in a significant decrease/increase in the fair value of the investment
properties.
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16.
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LEASES 16.

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of land, offices, retail
shops, warehouses, factory and motor vehicles used in its operations.
Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire the leased land from
the owners with lease periods of 50 years, and no ongoing payments will
be made under the terms of this land lease. Leases of buildings generally
have lease terms between 1 and 5 years. Generally, the Group is restricted

HE
AREBEREEA

AEBEBAETREEN LT HAZE TEE
foRE BERMAEMNEESK - BRAEH—
RENFAME T RERE 10 - BERS05F - M
RIFZELHEENGT - B TSEESERR
B HERTFTHEMBENFIEZ5F - — KM= -
AEEAAAAEENIALTERZRSHEHEES

from assigning and subleasing the leased assets outside the Group. There E -ATHESYNBEERERE  FHEHIW
are several lease contracts that include variable lease payments, which are T
further discussed below.
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) EHELSE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and the FRAREEFAREENROEREHNT -
movements during the year are as follows:
Furniture,
Prepaid fixtures and Motor
land lease Buildings equipment vehicles Total
AL & -
HeE BF HERZHE RE #azE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEFT  ABETT BT ABTrT B%Tx
As at 1 April 2021 R2021E4 A18 78,028 87,855 837 122 166,842
Additions NE - 110,245 - - 110,245
Modification &2 - 58,773 - - 58,773
Depreciation (note 7) e (HaE7) (2,330)  (115,960) (224) (122)  (118,636)
Impairment (note 7) A (FEE7) - (33,675) - - (33,675)
Transfer to investment properties  EEREYE (1,743) = = = (1,743)
Exchange realignment PE 5 % 1,528 554 - - 2,082
As at 31 March 2022 and R2022F3 8318 &

1 April 2022 2022F4 A1H 75,483 107,792 613 - 183,888
Additions NE 24,428 47,654 - - 72,082
Modification (E3 - 92,097 - - 92,097
Depreciation (note 7) e (MsE7) (1,647)  (112,307) (223) - M4,177)
Impairment (note 7) A (BiFE7) - (14,800) - = (14,800)
Transfer to investment properties  EZEREYZE (2,725) - - = (2,725)
Exchange realignment PE 3 % (2,559) (5,085) - - (7,644)
As at 31 March 2023 R2023F3 A31H 92,980 115,351 390 - 208,721




16.

LEASES (CONTINUED)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

a

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MHBEME(E)

16. HE ®)
REBWEREAFA (1)
(a) EARLE (&)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

At 31 March 2023, the Group’s management identified certain
retail shops which were loss-making and performed impairment
assessment of right-of-use assets for identified retail shops with
impairment indicators and estimated corresponding recoverable
amounts of the cash-generating unit based on value in use
calculation. Based on these estimates, an impairment loss of
HK$14,800,000 (2022: HK$33,675,000) was recognised to
write down the carrying amounts of certain right-of-use assets
to their estimated recoverable amounts as at 31 March 2023.
The recoverable amount of the items of cash-generating unit is
determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow
projections based on financial budgets covering the remaining lease
terms plus the anticipated renewal periods of the respective right-
of-use assets. The pre-tax discount rates applied for the cash flow
projections ranged from 12.5% to 14.1% (2022:12.2% to 18.8%).

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group’s land and
buildings in Hong Kong were pledged to secure banking facilities
granted to the Group. Further details are disclosed in notes 32(a),
32(b) and 32(c) to the annual report.

M2023F3A31H - AEBEEERES T
BEENTERS  HRBRERSHTES
HIEHERELEEMER G  HENRSES
B2 (At A B R E R A F A EEERE
TE o REZEMEE 0 R2023F3A831H 0 ES
RIFERREE 1878 H14,800,000 7T (20224 -
33,675,0007T) * U ZEFREEENERE
BEHRZH KBS - BeEE BN
ElEREIREFERAEENE  FAUNRESY
¥ BELEXENORGEFE AT AEMMNE
BB 2B SRR - B RIEANFREBRA
IR AN F12.5%E14.1% (20224  122% %
18.8%) °

REREER  AEEMREBS 2 L EEFE
B TFIRIT  (EAERRITEEZEES TA
£ B (M5E32(a) * 32(b) }232(0)) °
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MBEWMEME(E)

16. LEASES (CONTINUED)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements during

the year are as follows:

HE @)

REBEAEMA (8)

(b) HEEE
FERNAERENERERESHNT :

2023 2022

2023 % 20224

Lease liabilities Lease liabilities

HEESE HEaE

HK$’000 &# F 5T HK$'000 ¥ T T

Carrying amount at beginning of the year REY 2 RAEE 149,194 132,175

New leases MHE 47,654 110,245

Modification 1B 92,097 58,450
Accretion of interest recognised F[E B HERT B ILIE

during the year (note 8) (PfzE8) 9,105 7,850

Payments NE7S (138,474) (160,336)

Exchange realignment IE 5 (5,917) 810

Carrying amount at end of year RERZEEE 153,659 149,194

Analysed into: DA
Current portion RENER S 93,927 87,984
Non-current portion FETRENEL 59,732 61,210

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 37 to

the financial statements.
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16. LEASES (CONTINUED)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are as

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MHBEME(E)

16. HE ®)
REBWEREAFA (1)
(c) RIBHERERNEEEMAIENT -

follows:
2023 2022
2023 % 20224
Lease liabilities Lease liabilities
HEaE HERE
HK$’000 &#¥ F T HK$'000 715 F 7T
Interest on lease liabilities (note 8) HeEaEr e (MEs) 9,105 7,850
Depreciation charge of right-of-use FRAREENE
assets (note 7) (Fff5E7) 14,177 118,636
Impairment of right-of-use assets (note 7) FERREEERE (ME7) 14,800 33,675
Expense relating to short-term leases A EEEMNAY
(included in selling and distribution (GFASHERDSIHER)
expenses) (note 7) (PE7) 1,736 1,669
Variable lease payments not included in the Rt AREBETEH
measurement of lease liabilities AIEAERE GTAHEE
(included in selling and distribution ROHER)*
expenses)* (note 7) (FaE7) 1,284 1,889
3,020 3,558
Total amount recognised in profit or loss R8s AR R A SRIR 258 141,102 163,719
* The Group leased a number of retail shops which contain * NEBEESEATEESHNEL  ZER

variable payments terms that are based on the Group’s turnover
generated from the retail shops. There are also minimum monthly
base rental arrangements for these leases.

(d) The total cash outflow for leases are disclosed in note 31(c) to the
financial statements.

EREUAEHERTEEREENE R
BRERNIEEEREGER - ZFHE
NRERBEFEERESLH -

(d) BMEEELNBRESROEENGSUBREMN
FE3OWER

191



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

16.
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LEASES (CONTINUED)
The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 15) in Hong Kong
under operating lease arrangements. The terms of the leases generally
require the tenants to pay security deposits and provide for periodic rent
adjustments according to the then prevailing market conditions. Rental
income recognised by the Group during the year was HK$3,149,000 (2022:
HK$1,272,000), details of which are included in note 6 to the financial
statements.

At 31 March 2023, the undiscounted lease payments receivable by the
Group in future periods under non-cancellable operating leases with its
tenants are as follows:

16.

HE @)
AEEEREHEA

REBREBESLHELHHBAHEEYE (M
15) - REMENKIBTERKBREI M ERZE -
WIREERFMIRTTRETTHESHAE - FAR
SEEERNAS WA BEE3149,000/8 7T (2022
F  B¥E1272,0008 ) © FEBENGE ISR
76 ©

M2023F3A3NH - AEBRBEBAREERAETA
Bb RSN BYCRARERENT ¢

2023 2022

20234 20224

HK$’000 &# F T HK$'000 ¥ F 7T

Within one year —FR 3,219 1,905
After one year but within two years —FE L FERELR 972 1,362
After two years but within three years MEAEB=FURA 44 147
4,235 3,414




17.

18.

19.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17.

The balance represents the Group’s trademarks which are assessed as
having indefinite useful lives because the Group is able to renew the legal
right of the trademarks at insignificant cost indefinitely.

OTHER ASSET 18.

Other asset represents the cost of membership for a seat at The Chinese
Gold and Silver Exchange Society which is stated at cost less any
impairment losses.

MHBEME(E)

BVEE

HARRIEARBEZ R c ARAREARNES X
NERRATERBEELERE  SRT /AR
IREEMFEH -

Htw&E

HBEERSREZZHSER/NA » THZRARE £
IRERRFIR

INVENTORIES 19. FE
2023 2022
2023 % 20224
HK$’000 &¥ F 5T HK$ 000 BT T
Raw materials R R 99,988 122,236
Work in progress ERS 33,956 32,226
Finished goods SURY SR 1,335,826 1,214,989
1,469,770 1,369,451
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20.

194

TRADE RECEIVABLES 20. FEEWERRX
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 &% T T HK$'000 & #F T
Trade receivables FEURBR TR 90,458 106,096
Impairment TR (11,883) (13,441)
78,575 92,655

The Group's retail sales are normally made on a cash basis. Credit card
receivables from financial institutions in respect of retail sales are aged
within one month. Apart from retail customers, the Group allows an
average credit period from 30 to 90 days for other customers. The
Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables to
minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s
trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified customers, there
is no significant concentration of credit risk. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances.
Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing in general.

FEENZEHE-RURERH - REEHEM
5 RAMBRBZERKERRERZERS—(E
AR - BREEREPI - AREREMEFPRH TS
30E90RZIRIRH - AEE SKBEESRIE R Z
IR AREEERR - &SR mEEETH
fEHZER - ENAEENEUETREREDHZ
B BMUBEXNETHEERR - NEBELE
H P WAR KA o4 A IR 10 s 1T A 0 SR (=
B - BERR-—RIEARE -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 20.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the reporting
period, based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

MHBEME(E)

PEUWBR X ()

RImERR - BUEEFRIEZEZ QBT RIOGRE
BB Z RTINS

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

HK$’000 B¥F T HK$'000 71 F 7T

Within 1 month MEA A 75,140 85,736
1to 2 months 1228 AR 3,046 4,201
2 to 3 months 2EIEANR - 179
Over 3 months HBiE3ME A 389 2,539
Total trade receivables 42 fE U AR 3R 78,575 92,655

The movements in loss allowance for impairment of trade receivables are

YRR 2R EEIREBNT

as follows:
2023 2022
2023 % 20224
HK$’000 &# F T HK$ 000 1T T
At beginning of year RE] 13,441 13,796
Reversal of impairment losses, net BEEE - JFEE (634) (924)
Exchange realignment ERECE (924) 569
At end of year RER 11,883 13,441

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a
provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision rates
are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments
with similar loss patterns (i.e., by geographical region and customer type
and rating). The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome,
the time value of money and reasonable and supportable information that
is available at the reporting date about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions. Generally, trade receivables
are written off if past due for more than one year and are not subject to
enforcement activity.

AEERNEIwE A HERBEREETRED T -
Nt EEHEERE - BEXDARARELER
B (flmnigiE - ERARAREPEERFR)
ZHRBEEFP A EARN 2 BHIREETE - HBHER
BRATREMENMEAE R - ER ZEREEN RR#E B
HAESERBTEEN ZAERAIXIHER B
AR IA RR R FEANNIER - —RWME - BHBER
—EREBEAZRRAEFHNTESNEUERE T A
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 20. FEWERFX (40
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the TREBYIRNEEF A BEEERETENRUERNE
Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix: ERBER :
As at 31 March 2023 2023%F3H31H
Past due
g
Less than 1to 2to Over 3
Current Tmonth 2 months 3 months months Total
BE SMEAR 1Z28R 2E3@A HB3EA &t
Expected credit loss rate HHEEEEX 1.4% 1.7% 3.3% - 87.2% 13.1%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) RE&E (B TT) 66,312 9,751 2,106 - 12,289 90,458
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) HHEEEE (B%Tr) 935 167 69 - 10,712 11,883
As at 31 March 2022 2022%3 A31H
Past due
Less than 1to 2to Over 3
Current Tmonth  2months 3 months months Total
BIE ARMER  1E2@A  2&23fA @@/3fEA =H)
Expected credit loss rate HHEEEEE 1.6% 1.8% 1.8% 2.3% 73.5% 12.7%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) IREEE (B%Tr) 69,399 15,173 5,245 44 16,235 106,096
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) HHEEER (B8 Tr) 1130 280 97 1 11,933 13,441
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables, net of provisions, AEBERUERNGEEREZ REEU T EE
are denominated in the following currencies: BB
2023 2022
2023 % 20224
HK$’000 &¥# F 5T HK$'000 BT
HK$ S 309 137
RMB AR 70,193 90,182
us$ =TT 8,070 2,195
Others HAh 3 141
78,575 92,655
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21. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER 21. X  HtEWRREMEE

ASSETS
2023 2022
2023 % 20224
HK$’000 &# F 5T HK$'000 7 F T
Prepayments SEENEN 6,238 12,261
Deposits b 85,624 124,970
Right-of-return assets REEEE 5,755 5,662
Other receivables H A FE IR 12,968 16,860
110,585 159,753
Impairment B (5,780) (5,780)
104,805 153,973
Long-term prepayments and deposits DERERBEEL
classified as non-current assets RPEMGRRZS (32,672) (24,685)
72,133 129,288
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date by applying a AEERSHREDBHERABBEXRZETRESD
loss rate approach. Except for an other receivable of HK$7,046,000 (2022: o BARNERE —SEHMEWKEBET7 046,000
HK$7,082,000) for which the Group has recognised loss allowance of 7T (20224 : B#7,082,0007T) ERRELBE
HK$5,780,000 (2022: HK$5,780,000) as at 31 March 2023, no other loss 5,780,0007T (20224 : B#5,780,0007T) 4b - &2
allowance was provided because management estimated that the ECLs as B{EEt2023F %2022 3 A3HMEHEEEER
at 31 March 2023 and 2022 were minimal. N B EEEHR SRR -
The movement in loss allowance for impairment of other receivables is as H AR REEEZEESHIT
follows:
2023 2022
2023% 20224F
HK$’000 &% F T HK$'000 ¥ T T
At beginning of year REA] 5,780 -
Impairment losses BB EE - 5,780
At end of year RER 5,780 5,780
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22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED TIME 22.

198

ReRRcEBUNEEREHRERK

DEPOSITS

2023 2022
2023 % 20224
HK$’000 &#¥ T 5T HK$'000 7 F 7T
Cash and bank balances e RIRITER 348,282 354,507
Pledged time deposits B E BfF 366,216 382,725
714,498 737,232

Less: Pedged time deposits for certain B EARTEERTRERE
short-term banking facilities (note 32(e)) ZTEHTERR (BHT5E32 (o)) (366,216) (382,725)
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEEY 348,282 354,507

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash equivalents
and time deposits of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to
HK$549,362,000 (2022: HK$608,781,000). RMB is not freely convertible
into other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Regulations and Administration of Settlement Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit
rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods of between
one day and one year depending on the immediate cash requirements
of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short term time
deposit rates. The bank balances and time deposits are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s time deposits denominated in RMB
amounting to HK$366,216,000 (2022: HK$382,725,000) have been
pledged to secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group (note
32(e)).

RIFEHR  AEBUARBABEUZRERES
LEYRTEHRFRL ABEE549,362,0007T (2022
F 1 B#608,781,0007T) - AREBTEERAERA
Hip & - R RIEP B R 2 SNEE B IESF -
AEBEEEBBERBETIINEER ZRITHAR
M BEME o

FRNIRITZ R SIRE A RITFRZFEF I
ME - BIEAREENNRKREFR - EHERFK
ZERBRIREVE - WA E B 38 R R
B |RITHEBRRERERGTERREERIF BT
W B K AC R 2 RTT ©

E1E2023F3A31H » AEENARBBEMHAER
7B 1366,216,0007T (20224 : 7##382,725,0007T)
2 EHFEREERERURESAEEE TRITEE (H
£¥32 (e)) ©



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MHBEME(E)

23. TRADE PAYABLES 23. BERERX
An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the reporting RBERR  ENEFIBEEZEAHHECRE S
period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: HranT
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$’000 B¥F T HK$'000 71 F 7T
Within 1 month MEA A 156,514 85,828
1to 2 months 1228 AR 44,438 29,755
2 to 3 months 2EIEANR 23,051 24,154
Over 3 months FRB3ME A 104,534 110,297
328,537 250,034
The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on ENEFEARBEUAR—KRAI0OE120BEE -
30 to 120-day terms.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables are denominated in AEBEMNERZRABENL T ER BRI -
the following currencies:
2023 2022
2023 % 20224F
HK$’000 & F T HK$'000 ¥ F 7T
HK$ ks 52,316 9,249
RMB AR 77,604 83,788
Us$ ETT 196,669 155,331
Others EAfth 1,948 1,666
328,537 250,034
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

IS sk R M 52 ()
24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 24, HWERRRESER
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 &% T T HK$'000 B#F T
Other payables EAth FE R 56,986 47,974
Customer deposits BRI & 80,487 108,512
Provision for liabilities AaERE 14,600 24,626
Contract liabilities (note) EHEE (M) 16,488 19,434
Refund liabilities REREE 8,027 7,846
Accruals fEETE A 83,048 86,982
259,636 295,374
Other payables and accruals classified as DIERIETE 2 HM AR KR
non-current BT E A (1,957) (2,61
257,679 293,213
Other payables and accruals are non-interest-bearing. HEtENRREFEREARE -
Note: M5t -
Details of contract liabilities are as follows: EREEFRBOT
2023 2022
2023%F 20224

HK$’000 B¥ T T HK$ 000 ¥ T T

Short-term advances received from customers — HEEFZ 5 EIFEU B

Sale of goods HEEMm 15,909 16,370
Customer loyalty program BEABRETE 579 3,064
16,488 19,434
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

MHBEME(E)

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 25. FFEBRITRHEMER
2023 2022
20235 20225
Contractual Contractual
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity HK$’000 rate (%) Maturity HK$'000
EHFIE%) B8R BT T BHFE(%) 3158H BETT
Current E
Bank loans and trade financing - BENERFZEREEZ  2.13% - 7.91% 2023 521,822  144%-3.15% 2022 870,409
secured BIENRESBE
—BiEA
Bank loans - unsecured BRIFRRERZ 3.08% - 7.81% 2023 50,000  2.49% - 2.90% 2022 50,000
RITER — EEA |
571,822 920,409
Non-current E k|
Bank loans - secured BITER - BER 3.33%-7.91% 2024 - 2028 601,755 - - -
Total kel 1,173,577 920,409
2023 2022
2023 20224
HK$’000 &#¥ Tt HK$ 000 &8 T T
Repayment within one year or on demand AN FEREIEEESIREREE 571,822 920,409
Repayment in the second year AR2FENEIHEE 147,577 -
Repayment in the third to fifth years, inclusive ZBR3FEZE5F N HEE 454,178 -
1,173,577 920,409
Note: BEE -

All bank borrowings were denominated in Hong Kong dollars and RMB.

FRARITERIGANEE R ARBIEEN -
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25.

202

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)

The interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, including the bank loans
and trade finance repayable on demand, are carried at amortised cost.
None of the portions of the bank and other loans due for repayment
after one year which contains a repayment on demand clause and is
classified as current liabilities is expected to be settled within one year.
This evaluation was made considering the financial position of the Group
at the date of approval of the financial statements; the Group’s continuing
compliance with the loan covenants; the lack of events of default; and
the fact that the Group has made all previously scheduled repayments on
time.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had available borrowing facilities
amounting to HK$1,347,836,000 (2022: HK$969,792,000), of which
HK$1,173,577,000 (2022: HK$920,409,000) had been utilised as
borrowings above as at the end of the reporting period. Certain borrowing
facilities are secured by certain assets of the Group as disclosed in note
32 to the financial statements.

25.

SFERITREMER @)

SAEERTER(BHEREREELRITERRES
BE) RBHEAATI - BAMENMFRIEE
EARSREREEGT RS BERARDEBZ N
RITEFHERVERBE - R EREZEA TS
B ARERAMBBRRZER ZH BN - NE
EREETERGR  RAROEN  AREBE
ERETZENR

M2023F3A3NH - AEBEA A REERABE
1,347,836,0007T (20224F : #%969,792,0007T)
H o &#1173,577,000 02 BB (20224F « B
920,409,0007) RREHREE A - ETREETE
AASEEE TEEERBTRERIERENEI2 -



26.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS
Long service payments

Under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, the Group is obliged
to make lump sum payments on cessation of employment in certain
circumstances to certain employees who have completed at least five
years of service with the Group. The amount payable is dependent
on the employees’ final salary and years of service, and is reduced
by entitlements accrued under the Group’s retirement plan that are
attributable to contributions made by the Group. The Group does not
set aside any assets to fund any remaining obligations. The long service
payments are paid out from the Group’s cash on hand when such
payments are required.

The plan is exposed to interest rate risk, the risk of changes in salary
increase rate and the expected return on MPF scheme balances.

The actuarial valuation specifically designated for the Group’s employees
was completed by a qualified actuary, Towers Watson Hong Kong Limited,
as at 31 March 2023 using the projected unit credit method.

26.

MHBEME(E)

BEENEK
RS2

BREZBRREED)  HAKEEETER =L
BREAEERBEISFNETEL  FANESE
RENFAAZEEIXNRARE S - BN S
RETHREHFEMRGFERAE - KRB ME
AREBRRET B P RAE M a5 il 7N S B H 4L
BB o AN 5k B0 TR B AE AT B 2 A S AR (T A £ Y
BEBHLE - BREFELNRE - RERBEDHE
SEZEFREXM -

ZETEIE R AR AR - REFEEECNREREE
BT R R 2 AR -

M2023F3A3H - AAEBEREEMZNBEMGED

HEERBEMEERRNEEARATRMAENE
I ERIETTK °
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MBEWMEME(E)

26. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED) 26.

Long service payments (continued)

The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of financial

position are as follows:

EERANZ=K @)
REIRB 2 (8

ESAPBRRRREROSEOT

2023 2022
2023 % 20224
HK$’000 &# F 5T HK$'000 7 F T
Present value of defined benefit obligations  REEFEIEHIRE 3,894 1,301
The principal actuarial assumptions used as at the end of the reporting RIEPRFERABUTHERD -
period are as follows:
2023 2022
20234 20224
Discount rate B3R = 3.60% 2.20%
Expected rate of salary increases (%) TEEAH © FHIE (%)
Year 2022 20224 - 3.50%
Year 2023 20234 3.30% 3.50%
Year 2024 and thereafter 2024 R PA1& 3.30% -
Expected annual return of the MPF scheme  TEHASTES:TEIEE
assets BEYam = 5.00% 3.00%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

26. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)
Long service payments (continued)

A quantitative sensitivity analysis for significant assumptions at the end of
the reporting period is shown below:

M mRME(E)

%.Eé%ﬂ%ﬁﬁ)

KRG E (4
REERRABEABRINTEFEESMARMT -

Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease)
in defined in defined
Increase benefit Decrease benefit
in rate obligations in rate obligations
AEEANRL 2 AEEANRLE 2
Bz #m i) W= #gm, Gid)
% HK$ 000 BT 7T % HK$ 000 BTt
2023 20234
Discount rate ALIR & 0.25% a75) 0.25% 185
Future salary increase RIRFEIL N 0.25% 2 0.25% -
Future expected rate of return RKBIEE T 245
on MPF balances E%&%E,HHIEIH&@?F 0.25% m 0.25% -
2022 20224
Discount rate ALIR & 0.25% (51) 0.25% 54
Future salary increase R E LM 0.25% 112 0.25% m9)
Future expected rate of return RERFEL I 4
on MPF balances #5378 A [0 I 2 3= 0.25% 272) 0.25% 432

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined based on a method
that extrapolates the impact on employee benefit obligations as a
result of reasonable changes in key assumptions occurring at the end
of the reporting period. The sensitivity analysis is based on a change in
a significant assumption, keeping all other assumptions constant. The
sensitivity analysis may not be representative of an actual change in the
defined benefit obligations as it is unlikely that changes in assumptions
would occur in isolation of one another.

EREBEN I DREE R RE MR ERERY
2R B SEREGOYBIERE - SUBEH
ME@gmﬁiﬁﬁﬂﬁ%“@ ESESoE
G TE o mRE T BRROSD G 4RI
B+ SRS 1K AR R I B

BERZ 2 -
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26. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)
Long service payments (continued)

The total expenses recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss in respect of the plan are as follows:

26. EEENZK @)
REIRB 2 (8
BN G A BRERERNAERMNT

2023 2022
2023 % 20224
HK$’000 &# F 5T HK$'000 7 F T
Current service cost AN E RS A A 3,611 76
Interest cost MEEH 27 m
Net benefit expenses F RS 3,638 87
Recognised in administrative expenses BEFATRER 3,638 87
The movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligations are ATEERNEBEOIBEZEFHWOT -
as follows:
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 &# T T HK$'000 ¥ Tt
At beginning of year REH] 1,301 661
Remeasurements: EXE
- Actuarial changes arising from experience  — & BRABRMELNIEEEH)
adjustments 1,894 628
- Actuarial changes arising from demographic — # A A&t aHER 3R 8 &hm A= £ )
assumptions TEEEE) 1 M
- Actuarial changes arising from financial —REEBRREIMEENBEED)
assumptions (1,946) 331
Current service cost REE RFA 3,61 76
Interest cost FEEA 27 m
Benefit paid B EF (994) (405)
At end of year RER 3,894 1,301
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26.

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)
Long service payments (continued)

The movements in the defined benefit obligations and the fair value of

plan assets are as follows:

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

26. EEENZEK @)
REIRBE 2 (8
AT RASERIBEENATEEZEHMT -

MHBEME(E)

2023 2023%F
Cost charged to profit or loss Remeasurement gain in other comprehensive income
TABREZAAR HAGEREURZBEUA
Actuarial Actuarial
changes changes
Sub-total arising from arising from Sub-total
Net included changes in changes in other
At 1 April Service interest in profit Benefit  demographic in financial Experience  comprehensive 31 March
2022 cost expense or loss paid  assumptions  assumptions  adjustments income 2023
fADGEHE  fEBRAE
R2002E FegmEL MELN A R2023%
4R18 BBRE FHE HABRBNT BN HEERD 828 TBAE  2EUANT 3R31R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BBTR BETR BBTR BETR BBTR BB BBTR BB BBTR E8TR
Defined benefit obligations RERNER 1,301 3,611 2 3,638 (994) - (1,945) 1,894 (51 3,894
2022 20224
Cost charged to profit or loss Remeasurement gain in other comprehensive income
SHABRE LA HARR2ENE EENA
Actuarial Actuarial
changes changes
Sub-total arising from — arising from Sub-total
Net included changes in changes in other
At April Service interest in profit Benefit  demographic infinancial ~ Experience  comprehensive 31 March
202 cost expense or loss paid  assumptions  assumptions  adjustments income 2022
EADGEE  EREE
2021 2BmEL FEEH FA R0k
4HIR R FHE HABRENT  BAER RNREE 29 BB 2EAANG 3A38
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB BT BETn AgTr  BETn BT BETT BB BETT BB
Defined benefit obligations ~ RERHHH 661 76 1l 87 (405) 0) 33 628 958 1301
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EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)
Long service payments (continued)

Expected contributions to the defined benefit plan in future years are as
follows:

26. EEENZK @)

RS E @)
FERTARRH SERA RIS 2 R T

2023 2022

2023 % 20224

HK$’000 &# F 5T HK$'000 1 T T

Within the next 12 months RARRI121E A 188 178
Between 2 and 5 years R2ESF 2 13 32
Between 5 and 10 years REZEI0F 2 [ 617 105
Total expected payments HESEE O] 918 315

Defined contribution retirement plan

The Group participates in the MPF Scheme under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed
under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance and
not previously covered by the defined benefit retirement plan. The
MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered by
independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions to the plan at 5%
of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

The Group also participates in defined contribution retirement benefit
schemes for all qualifying employees in the PRC, Japan and Malaysia.
The assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the Group in
funds under the control of independent trustees.

The Group's total contributions to these schemes charged to profit or loss
during the year ended 31 March 2023 amounted to HK$5,953,000 (2022:
HK$5,769,000) (note 7), representing contributions payable by the Group
to the schemes at the appropriate rates set by the local governments of
its subsidiaries.

FEHFERNEE

AEBZRBREECRBIE DB HIEDD ORTE -
REBEEB(ERBEIDERNEE R ZATEEE
ﬁﬂdmﬂ BAFENES  2HBESE - 8E
SR EIE —EREHRTEMRTE - BBIMNZFEA
””*EE c RFBRBEFE  BEEILHEBDARRE
SRBASKS% M EEHET - HAZARHK
ANBH¥E30,0007T R ER » HETBINHRDENRBRE -

$E@)T7%Fﬁ*ﬁ¢l CBEARBRATAERIE
B2E—ARERFERAKE - FBNEEBLRN
FEBENBEEYFRBBLITARERER -

w%zizozzizﬁmaii C AEBE M ERE
FT{E 2 (3R 48 %8 A8 %5 5,953,000 7T (20224 : 7 #E
5,769,0007E)(M1.E7) WETEBI TR o Bk
Th 7G5 ER & M B A B AR B Hb [ BT 3 A MO b R 4B
ﬁo



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MHBEME(E)

DEFERRED TAX 27. EEHIE
The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the year are as FRELEHBEENEEZFSUOT -
follows:
Withholding
Accelerated/ taxes on
(decelerated) ~ Employee  Impairment undistributed Other
Lease tax benefit of Tax profits of  temporary
liabilities  depreciation  obligations  inventories losses  subsidiaries  differences Total
WEBAR
BE/ AR
(A7) k& BRGNEN Hiegmt
HERE  HERE  BAEE  HEEE  BEER it £8 &g

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT  BMTrT  A¥Tr  E%Tn B%Tn B¥Thn B¥%Tr BT

At 1 April 2021 20215418 (762) 2,504 (109) (6,703) (3,917) 17,757 (23,236) (14,466)
Deferred tax charged/(credited) FRINERRME
to the statement of profit or GtA) ZETRE
loss during the year (note 11) (BsEm) (164) 1,000 52 (7.414) 2,347 2186 1,086 (907)
Deferred tax credited to the FRRZARARE
statement of comprehensive FTAZEERTE
income during the year - - (158) - - - - (158)
Exchange realignment EHRER (39) 55 - (109) (58) 666 5 520
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 R2022%3 310K
20224 A1H (965) 3,559 (215) (14,226) (1,628) 20,609 (22,145) (15,011)
Deferred tax chargedy/(credited) FRINERRME
to the statement of profit or (RPA) ZERERE
loss during the year (note 11) (MizEm) (126) 697 (436) 1,418 (5,029) 3,300 5,964 5,788
Deferred tax charged to the FRRZEARARE
statement of comprehensive pill’ ki 130
income during the year - - 8 = = = = 8
Exchange realignment ERZR 57 (269) - 186 99 (1,125) 14 (1,038)
At 31 March 2023 R2023E3A31H (1,034) 3,987 (643) (12,622) (6,558) 22,784 (16,167) (10,253)
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27.
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DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

27. ELEBLE (8

2023 2022
20235 20224
HK$’000 &% T T HK$'000 B#F T
Net deferred tax assets recognised in the AR E AR R R A
consolidated statement of financial position R IH & =55 (34,081) (38,340)
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the 4R & AR TR R TR A
consolidated statement of financial position RIEFIBR EFHE 23,828 23,329
(10,253) (15,011)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax
is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign
investment enterprises established in the PRC. The requirement is
effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December
2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax
treaty between the PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors.
For the Group, the applicable rate is 5%. The Group is therefore liable
for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries
established in the PRC in respect of earnings generated from 1 January
2008.

At 31 March 2023, deferred tax has not been recognised for certain
withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings that
are subject to withholding taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries established
in the PRC. In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these
subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future.
At 31 March 2023, the aggregate amount of temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries in the PRC for which
deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled approximately
HK$764,277,000 (2022: HK$858,380,000).

RIFHECEMEHE  RABERZZIERED
FRINBEREETIRKSARBIORTEINAEH -
UL AR TE 1 2008F 1 B1H AR - XWEAR2007F12
A& BT - trh BB SNE IR B & PR e REME
BATE B E - BIA] BE B M BIE M TIPS B3
Ko g AEERPEKZZIBRRMS - BAMK
KR5% - At - AEBEEERZERPEKILZ
ME QR 2008F1 A1 HREE 2 BFIFF 5 Ik < IR
BRNIBHAEH

M2023F3A31H - BT AEBRF R M E
NAIZADIREFMBAEMASRIL KA ERBEL
R - BERA  ZEWNBRARRA LA RAKRA
BEDIRIZERN) - M202343 8310 - EhEKBA
AR EEANEARRZELCHREAENERER
ZHEERA A AEEET64,277,0007T (20224 : B
858,380,0007T) °



27.

28.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

MHBEME(E)

DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 27. IEEFIE (&)
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following THIBEE 2 RERIBE ER L BB BRI K T AR
items at applicable tax rates: R
2023 2022
2023 % 20224
HK$’000 #B¥ T+t HK$'000 BTt
Tax losses MIEEE 125,999 105,545
Others HAith 16,690 22,819
Deferred tax assets not recognised NERZBILETRIAE &= 142,689 128,364
The above unrecognised tax losses arising in Hong Kong as at 31 March M2023F3A31H - A EREERT722,336,0007T
2023 of approximately HK$722,336,000 (2022: HK$601,331,000) are (20224 : A&¥601,331,00070) REBEL 7 KIE
available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of RAEEER UERDRAEEEZSELETESD
the companies in which the losses arose. The Group had unrecognised BRARZARKERTAT - M2023F3 /8318 * &
tax losses arising in Mainland China and Macau as at 31 March 2023 BB RRFIES 2 RERRIBBENLN /B
of approximately HK$8,246,000 and HK$39,603,000 (2022: Nil and 8,246,000 T N 7B %39,603,0007T (20224 : # &8
HK$52,715,000) will expire in five and three vears for offsetting against #52,715,00070) R AFE R =FEEmAKEZE
future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose, EEMEEEAR ZRRERBEF - ARKREER
respectively. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect HETRGERRBIAF @R LllIg 8 (EEE - i)
of the above items as in the opinion of the directors, it is not considered EERBUANILEHE BRELEHBEE -
probable that taxable profits will be available against which the above
items can be utilised.
There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of AR EMEREIRE 2 IR B ES K AT -
dividends by the Company to its shareholders.
SHARE CAPITAL 28. BRZA
2023 2022
2023 % 20224

HK$’000 &% T T HK$'000 B+t

Authorised: JERE ¢
1,500,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.25 each

2 EEA
Issued and fully paid: BEITRAR :

249,182,030 ordinary shares of HK$0.25 each
2 BB

1,500,000,000 ik & AR I {E 75 5 0.25 7T

375,000 375,000

249,182,030 R B AR E B ¥ 0.25 7T

62,296 62,296
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29.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme was adopted by shareholders of
the Company on 21 July 2016 (“2016 share option scheme”). The purpose
of the 2016 share option scheme is to provide incentives or rewards to
participants thereunder for their contribution to the Group and/or to
enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and attract
human resources that are valuable to the Group and any equity interest
(“Invested Entity”).

Under the 2016 share option scheme, the directors of the Company
are authorised, at their discretion, at any time following the date of
the adoption of the 2016 share option scheme but before the tenth
anniversary of that day, to offer options to any person belonging to any
of the following classes of participants to subscribe for shares of the
Company:

- any employee (whether full time or part time employee(s), including
any director or executive director but not any non-executive
director) of the Company, its subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

- any non-executive director (including independent non-executive
directors) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any Invested
Entity;

- any supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity;

- any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity;

- any person or entity that provides research, development or
technological support or other services to the Group or any
Invested Entity;

- any shareholder of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity
or any holder of any securities issued by any member of the Group
or any Invested Entity;

29.

BRETE

NATE 2 ERHERTZIN2016F7 A21BEAR T K
BRI ([2016 FHEMERTE]) - 2016 FREAXHERT &
MEMEART HERETEBETHREEHAE
ENEEE SAEEAEESURERRBESE
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WMREEANA ©
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RERM2016 FREREE 2 AREZBHRZETE
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29.

30.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

- any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to any area of
business or business development of any  member of the Group
or any Invested Entity; and

- any other group or classes of participants who have contributed or
may contribute by way of joint venture, business alliance or other
business and/or financial arrangement to the development and
growth of the Group.

The exercise price of options is the highest of the nominal value of the
shares, the closing price of the shares on the stock exchange on the date
of offer of the grant and the average closing price of the shares on the
stock exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the
date of offer of the grant. An offer of an option shall be deemed to have
been accepted within 28 days from the date of offer upon acceptance
of the option duly signed by the grantee together with a remittance of
HK$1. The maximum number of securities available for issue under the
2016 share option scheme shall not exceed 10% of the issued capital of
the Company. The maximum entitlement of each grantee in any 12-month
period is limited to 1% of the ordinary shares in issue of the Company.
The option period will not be more than ten years from the date of grant
of the option and the Company’s board of directors may at its discretion
determine the minimum period for which the option has to be held or
other restriction before the exercise of the subscription right attaching
thereon.

The 2016 Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for a period of 10
years, which will expire on 21 July 2026, and at the date of this report, no
share option has been granted under the 2016 Option Scheme since it has
been adopted (2022: Nil).

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the
years are presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
pages 102 to 103 of the financial statements.

29.

30.

MHBEME(E)

B RESTE ()

— AEEEAKERARREREREERZEM
EBREBRRBE 2EMNER (BXHEM
) HFEREME &

- BREAELE EBBBAHMEBKR %
MG H ML AR AN E B R MR RIED
B2 E AR SR 28 o

BRENTEERSRMNERE  RONERERZ
WERTHPEBRIMESHRTERRONEEE
P2 AR T B IR0 T8 2 2 H B R P ERiS A F
R HE=ZETHNRSSE - EX THRREL28
AR EMAEBITERNAS ALARENRBR
MK EUE - RIRFRB RS WEM - RIE
2016 F fE AR HE ST BRI IR 2 FE IR PSP I 2 Bt 8
- RETNSBBARBEEITRAZION - FHE
ZANNBRRGAEERN T @A BERRARF
ERITEBERMN% - BRENERNFEHHR D ER
BEREATSBATE - ARFESGARBER
TE 2 B3 FE 1T 8 AR HE P B 50 B8 40 T A ZE R A B I
R RS BIR SRR I -

2016 FHEMAERT BB MEBI0E - WHEER20264F
7A218ER - BEARER - ARRIR2016 FHER
ERTEI T W ER BT A EARE o (2022F : &)

e

NEBZFEBE FRARMNEEE 227 EH R
BHRERBIO2RIOIBZ AR ESHRA -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 31. HZEBEE&RERME

FLOWS
(a) Major non-cash transactions @) FEFBRERSH
During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to right-of-use FR - AREREFHERHNEREEER
assets and lease liabilities of HK$47,654,000 and HK$47,654,000 HEBEIFRESEINS R AABEE47,654,000
(2022: HK$110,245,000 and HK$110,245,000), respectively, in LR B 47,654,0007T (20224 @
respect of lease arrangements for plant and equipment. 110,245,000 7T & & #110,245,0007T ) ©
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities (b)) MEEHELEzEGES
2023 2023%F
Interest-bearing
bank and Lease
other borrowings liabilities
STEEITR
HthER HEAE
HK$’000 #B¥ Tt HK$’000 #B¥ T+t
At 1 April 2022 R2022F4 A1H 920,409 149,194
Changes from financing cash flow MERESREEE 253,168 (129,369)
New leases HMHEE - 47,654
Modification &k - 92,097
Exchange realignment SNE £ B - (5,917)
Interest expenses BRI - 9,105
Interest paid classified as PEAKERSRENENHE
operating cash flows - (9,105)
At 31 March 2023 7202343 318 1,173,577 153,659
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31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 31.

FLOWS (CONTINUED)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

MHBEME(E)

GERESHREBRMT @)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities (b)) MEEHELEZBEEH (&)
(continued)
2022 20224
Interest-bearing
bank and Lease
other borrowings liabilities
FFERITR
HEMER HERE
HK$'000 ¥ F T HK$'000 ¥ F 7T
At 1 April 2021 R2021E4 A18 989,086 132,175
Changes from financing cash flow RERESTELH (68,677) (152,486)
New leases MHEE - 110,245
Modification 1B - 58,450
Exchange realignment 4NGE A ) - 810
Interest expenses FERZ - 7,850
Interest paid classified as PEAKERESRENEMNFE
operating cash flows - (7,850)
At 31 March 2022 ®2022 A3 A31H 920,409 149,194

(c) Total cash flow for leases

(©

The total cash outflows for leases included in the consolidated

HER ML AR

FAGAReRERNEAER SR HAEMN

statement of cash flows is as follows: T
2023 2022
2023 % 2022%F
HK$’000 &¥ F T HK$'000 715 F 7T
Within operating activities ETRB)A 12,125 11,408
Within financing activities mEEER 129,369 152,486
141,494 163,894
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B mRME(E)

32. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

216

(a)

()

(©

In the prior year, the Group entered into a banking facility
arrangement (“Previous Facility”) with banks pursuant to which
the Group’s land and buildings and investment properties in Hong
Kong with a carrying value at 31 March 2022 of HK$41,644,000 and
HK$26,803,000, respectively, were mortgaged by way of a first
legal charge, as securities for, inter alia, all obligations and liabilities,
actual or contingent, from time to time owing by the Group to
those banks. The Previous Facility was renewed on 6 May 2022 as
described in note 32(b) below.

On 6 May 2022, the Group entered into a facilities agreement with
Hang Seng Bank Limited, China CITIC Bank International Limited,
United Overseas Bank Limited, Fubon Bank (Hong Kong) Limited,
Bank Sinopac, Hong Kong Branch and China Construction Bank
(Asia) Corporation Limited acting as mandated lead arrangers and
original lenders, pursuant to which certain loan facilities, comprising
a term loan and a revolving loan, in the aggregate amount of
HK$820,000,000 (“New Facilities”) has been granted. The New
Facilities was used to repay the Previous Facility, on 17 May
2022, the legal charge of the land and buildings and investment
properties under Previous Facility was released. The Group’s land
and buildings and investment properties in Hong Kong with a
carrying value of HK$37,405,000 and HK$69,300,000, respectively,
were mortgaged again under New Facility by way of a first legal
charge, as securities for, inter alia, all obligations and liabilities,
actual or contingent, from time to time owing by the Group to
those banks.

The Group entered into a banking facility arrangement with a
bank pursuant to which the Group’s land and buildings in Hong
Kong with a carrying value of HK$25,902,000 (31 March 2022:
HK$26,853,000) were mortgaged by way of a first legal charge,
as securities for, inter alia, all obligations and liabilities, actual or
contingent, from time to time owing by the Group to that bank.

32. BEEER
(@ REFEE FAE@BESHRTITIRTES

()

(©

BEZH ([BAEERE]) BT &
EENE—EEHLNTRNILR2022F3 8
JIHIRAEED B BB 41,644,000 70 KB
26,803,000 LIE BB M L1 RIEFFIZREY
¥R DUMEAR (AP EE) KEETEE
RZERTZABERSISIBERBEREE 2K
A& o T XXHIFEZ2(0) ATl - BEEERE
ER20229F5 A6 B E# ©

R2022%F 5868 @ AEEBBAERITERA
A R{EIRT (BEBR) BRAR) « KERITH
RAGE - BHRIT(BB)BRAA - KEH
ERTRMNAERRARTBNITRPBEERIERT
(M) B BRARMEAZEERELTHEITR
REBA AN —HEEWRR  BUHERTE
¥ A78%820,000,000 A TEE (BEE
HEFRERER) ([FEERE]) - wi#E
BERERESERIEERE - N2022F5A4
7 BAEERE T 2T REFIREY
ELATEHLOER - AEEFUE AT
F A IEEREE S B AR 37,405,000 &
B #69,300,000 TEE B K L ih KEFFIE
BYEETEERE T 2ER  UEA (EFP
BIE) AEB T ERZERTZMBEER
RBBELER 2R -

AEBEE—RIRTILRITEERELE - &
M NEBEE AT HLH AL
E{EA125,902,0007T (R20229F3 A318 :
751 26,853,0007T) EE B T ih REFEER
o AtER (Hh81E) AEBTEERZE
TZMBERRREREREFS AR -
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(a)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

MHBEME(E)

32. PLEDGE OF ASSETS (CONTINUED) 32. EEEA @
During the year, the Group entered into a banking facility @) RAEFEAR  AEERE-RBITIZRITEER
arrangement with a bank pursuant to which the Group’s land BEZHE - BT H - AREREREES A
use right in and construction in progress in Mainland China with 528,910,000 T (FA202243 8318 &) &
a carrying value of HK$28,910,000 (31 March 2022: Nil) and B #52,886,0007C (A2022F 3 A31H « )
HK$53,886,000 (31 March 2022: Nil), respectively, were mortgaged R E A A T AR EETRERAR
as securities for all owing by the Group to that bank. EBRERZRITNAEER 2T -
As at 31 March 2023, pledged time deposits of the Group (e) HA2023%F3A31H  AEBENUARBIEAREN
denominated in Renminbi and totaling equivalent to approximately K FRH A B 15 366,216,000 7T (FA202243 A 31
HK$366,216,000 (31 March 2022: HK$382,725,000) have been H : /B#382,7250007T) 2 B F B
pledged to secure standby letters of credit relating to a cross EEIEA - LEVSRTEHLEREEEERE
border treasury arrangement (note 22). W EE 2 A (M3E22) -
COMMITMENTS 33. KREHERTH
The Group had the following capital commitments for leasehold (a) 202343 A31H  AEERDE  BEER
improvements at the end of the reporting period: BEREAREENT -
2023 2022
20235 20224
HK$’000 &#¥ T 5T HK$'000 & F 7T
Contracted but not provided for F4) - BRIERE 57,976 9,202
The Group has various lease contracts that have not yet (b) M2023F3A3NH - AEEBAEHARBHS

(o)

commenced as at 31 March 2023. The future lease payments for
these non-cancellable lease contracts are HK$8,276,000 (2022:
HK$5,467,000) due within one year and HK$16,080,000 (2022:
HK$10,620,000) due in the second to fifth years, inclusive.

BHEAY ZETARENHESON XK
REEREA—FANEHRES,276,0007T
(20224 : B¥5467,000L) RE-—EFH
R HAR 16,080,000 7T (20224 = B
10,620,0007L) (BIEERMF) -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

34, RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 34, BEALRS
(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these financial @) KBERETFBREEMBOFH 2RI/ @ &

218

statements, the Group had the following transactions with related
parties during the year ended 31 March 2023:

EBREE2023F3A3BILEEHEBEEAL
ETUTRS :

2023 2022

2023 % 20224

HK$’000 &# F T HK$'000 ¥ F T

0) Purchase from related companies (i) REEAREBE 169,982 262,821
(i) Sales to a related company (i) HE T —HEEAR 174,998 311,242

Balances due to these related companies amounted to
HK$75,921,000 (31 March 2022: HK$76,723,000).

These related companies are fellow subsidiaries of Rosy Blue
Overseas Holdings Limited, a preference shareholder of Partner
Logistics Limited (“Partner Logistics”), whose board of directors
is controlled by Mr. Tommy Tse, the ultimate controlling party and
substantial shareholder of the Company.

(iii) (@) Mr. Tommy Tse, the spouse of Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie (“Ms.
Annie Yau”), an Executive Director of the Company, has been
employed by a subsidiary of the Company as the Deputy
Chief Executive Officer of the Group; (b) Mr. Tse Sui Luen
(“Mr. Tse Senior”), the father of Mr. Tommy Tse and father-in-
law of Ms. Annie Yau, has been employed by a subsidiary of
the Company as the Founder of the Group. During the year
ended 31 March 2023, remuneration and benefits in kind of
HK$2,419,000 (2022: HK$3,149,000) and HK$1,815,000 (2022:
HK$1,656,000) were paid to Mr. Tommy Tse and Mr. Tse
Senior, respectively.

The above transactions in respect of items (i) and (ii) were not
continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
transactions were carried out on normal commercial terms and in
the ordinary course of business.

FERT LA ERAE QR ZRIB A1 75,921,000 7T
(7202253 A318 : ##76,723,0007T) °

A ERE R A ARosy Blue Overseas
Holdings Limited (E &Partner Logistics
Limited ([Partner Logistics ) B8 SE B E)
Z B ZMIB AT  Partner LogisticsEEEH
HHEIE R AYEH] - AR D R RIER AT
NEBRE -

(i) () #EELEWAQRET—RHME
ARETAALERTTHAE - #iEg
EEBRABNITERPLREL T2
18 (D) E R £ WA RAET —
MEBAREBTANEEAINA  Hink
TEABFEERLEZRBRBZERZL
ZRE c REE 202338318 ILEE
A 73 Bl 32 4+ F i & S A 6 2,419,000
70 (20224 : #¥3,149,00070) K i#iis
i 5 4B 81,815,000 7T (20224 = 61
1,656,0007T) M) Bl & T E W F &= ©

ERFORG)ER HIRE L AIRRIFUATE
TR —BHENERS - ARTEERS -
HER BB EHBET REREERTE
7



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(a)

s

MHBEME(E)

34, BEALRS |

(continued) @y (&)
The related party transactions in respect of items (iii)(a) and (iii) FatIE A Gia) and (i)(b) ZBEA TR 51
(b) above constitute continuing connected transactions as defined M ETRAFUAZEREZHERERS -
in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Since the amount in respect of BRIE A (i) R (i) (b)) & 58K R8I
items (iii)(@) and (iii)(b) is below the de minimis threshold for the EU4A TN IEFRKT - BUIEAR (D) &
purpose of Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules, items (iii)(a) and (iii)(b) (b)) A E2EAERERIE FEEZ - &
are fully exempt from shareholders’ approval, annual review and all FHRBIZETBEHERT °
disclosure requirements under the Listing Rules.
Compensation of key management personnel of the Group: (b) AEEEXZEEABME :
2023 2022
2023 % 20224
HK$’000 &% F T HK$'000 78 F T
Short term employee benefits EHEEREF 1,312 15,036
Post-employment benefits EREE 41 54
Total compensation paid to TNFEEEEAEN
key management personnel < 4258 11,353 15,090

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note 9 to
the financial statements.

EFMDE — PHBEHR I HRAMFEI -

219



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

35.

220

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as
at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

35. REREo2EMIA

RBERAR - FER 2B TAREENT

2023 20235
Financial assets MKEE
Financial assets
at amortised cost
REBHERAERANERZ
MKEE
HK$’000 &% T 5T
Trade receivables FEULAR K 78,575
Financial assets included in prepayments, BEEEMNZR - EtEKER R
other receivables and other assets HEMEEMBEE 92,812
Pledged time deposits BT HFER 366,216
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBESEEY 348,282
885,885
Financial liabilities BMsaE
Financial liabilities
at amortised cost
BREBERERARZ
g S =R
HK$’000 #B¥ T+t
Trade payables ARE RN 328,537
Financial liabilities included in other payables BEEEMENRKRESERZMBEE
and accruals 140,034
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FERITREMER 1,173,577
Lease liabilities HEAE 153,659
1,795,807




35.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

MHBEME(E)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (CONTINUED) 35. RERsEoEMIA (@)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as

at the end of the reporting period are as follows: (continued)

RBEHR  SEP BT AREENT - (&)

2022 20224
Financial assets g EE
Financial assets
at amortised cost
REHENANARZ
M5 & EE
HK$'000 BTt
Trade receivables JEUR AR X 92,655
Financial assets included in prepayments, BEEEMNR - EiuERERR R
other receivables and other assets HEMEEMBEEE 136,050
Pledged time deposits BRI E TR 382,725
Cash and cash equivalents ReMREEED 354,507
965,937
Financial liabilities BsatE
Financial liabilities
at amortised cost
REHEN AR Z
V%A
HK$ 000 &8 T T
Trade payables FEAT R SR 250,034
Financial liabilities included in other payables BETEMENRR
and accruals EEtER B aE 134,956
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FTERIT R EMER 920,409
Lease liabilities HEAE 149,194
1,454,593
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 36. € ITAAFEBERATFEEER
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial instruments, BETHEOEABMEQNTFEEMRAEZHEIA
other than those with carrying amounts that reasonably approximate to S AEEMBMBTAZ RAEEEQATEBNT ¢

fair values, are as follows:

Carrying amounts Fair values
IREE NTEE
2023 2022 2023 2022
2023%F 20224 20234 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BT AT BETT BT
Financial liabilities ) 3=
Interest-bearing bank AT BRITREMER
and other borrowings 1,173,577 920,409 1,173,577 920,409
Fair value hierarchy: RNEEBEFR:
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of the TR AEENSRT A AFEEFESH
Group’s financial instruments:
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed: BAFEEEEZEE
2023 2023 %
Fair value measurement using
DATLEEHESE
Quoted Significant Significant
prices in observable unobservable
active markets inputs inputs Total
SERTIGRE EAUBRYE EBEAEUBRUE e
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(#&R501) (& B12) (4R 513)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BET T BETT BETT
Financial liabilities BRaE
Interest-bearing bank SERTREMBER
and other borrowings - - 1,173,577 1,173,577
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36.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy: (continued)

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed: (continued)

MHBEME(E)

36. SRTAZAFEERAFEESEH @

NEBESEL &)
BAFEEHEZERE @ (&)

2022 20224
Fair value measurement using
ATEEHENH
Quoted Significant Significant
prices in observable unobservable
active markets inputs inputs Total
ERTISRE EAABRAE EAHNBETHE A
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(#&5N) (8 512) (8 513)
HK$'000 B#EFr  HK$000 BETFIIT  HK$000 BETFIL  HK$'000 A TFT
Financial liabilities B EE
Interest-bearing bank FTEERTTREAMER

and other borrowings -

= 920,409 920,409

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 for
both financial assets and financial liabilities (2022: Nil).

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, pledged time deposits, trade receivables, trade payables,
financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other
assets and financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to short term
maturities of these instruments.

FRTEIZNFEBESEZ VG ERERN ZER
22 H#AE - REAKERRRIZ(2022F : £) °

EREENERERBSEEY CDEREHE
o UERSR - B - BEEENR - EbE
WHREEMEEZHBEEME & EELMENRR
EFFERzUBEEz A TEEEEREEMRS -
TEARZEFTASNERARIE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

36.

224

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy: (continued)
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed: (continued)

The Group’s finance department headed by the Chief Financial Officer
is responsible for determining the policies and procedures for their fair
value measurement of financial instruments. The finance department
reports directly to the Chief Financial Officer. At the end of each reporting
period, the finance team analyses the movements in the values of financial
instruments and determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The
valuation is reviewed and approved by the Chief Financial Officer.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at
the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation
sale. The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the
fair values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings have been calculated by discounting the expected
future cash flows using rates currently available for instruments with
similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The Group’s own non-
performance risk for the non-current portion of interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings as at 31 March 2023 and 2022 was assessed to be
insignificant.

36.

PRIAEZATFEERAFEESHR @)

NEEBESEL &)
BAFEERESSRE & (@)

HAKRENERMBRAETENVEERARETE
THMTANDFEERFEZBRMER - B 75 EK
ERAERYBEERR - E8RBEHRR - B
oo TANEELHNETHERANE
2HE - HESKERVBRE 2 EHMUAE -

HBEERBBEZATEE BTHRAIERY
& DU BERENENRSTRIANRKZS
RANGR © hET R FEERER T TIERRR

AFERITREMERMERDAEB NI AFEER
TIRABRERUGER  EERBREKFGIEGHITE
RITEEBHARBERE - REBR2023F K
2022F 3 A3NHEET BIRIT R EME M IERE %
2 NEBHRBEFEAIEERK -



37.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings, pledged time deposits and cash and cash
equivalents. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise
finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial
assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade payables, which
arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest
rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of
directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and
they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates
relates primarily to the Group’s long term debt obligations with a floating
interest rate.

The following sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that
change in interest rates had occurred at the year end date and had been
applied to the exposure to interest rates for financial instruments in
existence at that date. A 1% increase or decrease is used when reporting
interest rate risk internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest
rates.

If interest rates had been 1% higher/lower and all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s loss for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022:
profit for the year) would increase/decrease (2022: decrease/increase)
and the retained profits as of 31 March 2023 would decrease/increase
by HK$7,367,000 (2022: HK$5,960,000). This is mainly attributed to the
Group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable rate borrowings.

37.

M mRME(E)

BEEREEREREE

AEEZIZSRMTAREFERTEIEMER
RITEX  EANREHEE  E28E  2DEATH
FRERERESEEY - HESMTAZIZA
‘5@)32%4‘%2%%%?%&@ REBHEETHM
BBREERAE MEBRKAEEBELZEUKE
R FERBRIR

TRTEAMEEZIERBRAMERR - SME R
B EERREREEEER %%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%
NI e I A TRt R R 2 BR

FI R AR

REBRRIANTBFI=X
i S T 5 F R E g o

FHEZERHER M EREE

AT 2 EED T I RRFI R E BN F 4B ELEM
BE UVEXKARZAEGFENMBIAMEYH
ZHERER - ERETEEEABARI2HAXER
- SRA T R M TR E 2 BRR - BNERE
AR Z & IR A BE S B (F O RTAE ©

MFIRIEI T E1% - MATEEMBHRFTIE
REBEHZE2023F3B3NH IEFE ZEIE (20224 ¢
%IJ)&EAzozsizﬁmElzf% BRI
A (20224F @ /38 0) A 7,367,0007T (2022
F o BES, 960 ooom WHEBRRAAEERE
FEEEMEYZAREE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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37.

226

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures mainly arising from
sales and purchases by operating units in currencies other than the units’
functional currencies. The currency giving rise to this risk is primarily US$.
The Group does not hold or issue any derivative financial instruments for
trading purposes or to hedge against fluctuations in foreign exchange
rates. The Group mitigates this risk by conducting the sales and purchases
transactions in the same currency, whenever possible.

In the opinion of the directors, US$ is reasonably stable under the Linked
Exchange Rate System with HK$ and accordingly, the Company does not
have any significant foreign exchange risk.

Credit risk

The Group’s exposure to credit risk mainly arises from granting credit to
customers in the ordinary course of operations. The Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk on recognised financial assets is limited to their
carrying amount at the end of the reporting period.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group
reviews the recoverability of receivables individually and collectively
periodically and at the end of each reporting period to ensure that
adequate impairment loss is made for irrecoverable amounts. In this
regard, the management of the Group considers that the Group’s credit
risk is significantly reduced. The Group has no significant concentration
of credit risk, with exposure spread over a number of counterparties and
customers.

37.

MBEREEBERBE @

SN [

AEEZRZSIERBRETZREEBEMIALD B
BRI ERETZEE - QBURRBZER T
BRET - AEETEFARBETEMITERBT
B MEEERGIEPEXLSHASE - XEHE
BEFRBER TAR—EBETEER ZRELEA

B -
EERA  ERETOBEERHET - £TAR
HOEE - m ARFL LA EADHIERR -

EEEBR

AEEZEERBRIERENAERLEBRTET
BEFEH - ARERBERVBEEZKRKNEERR
EKEECEM H2ZRmEE -

RBEERBHERE  ARBEEZESTHRER
B4 BE R R KR AHE R B RS A e
FEARE Bt AT UL Bl B R SR EE 1R © Fhulk -
AEEERERR  FEEZEERBEAKNA
K- AREEERRIYEERNES @ IAZZER
DEREZEZRZHFRER -



37.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MHBEME(E)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 37.

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-ending staging

The tables below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure to
credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which is mainly based on
past due information unless other information is available without undue
cost or effort, and year-end staging classification as at 31 March 2023 and
2022. The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial

assets.

As at 31 March 2023

M mEEEE R ERBER (8

ZER R (&)
RERABREXRDEESHE

TERBREASENEEBR I REEEREES
FERE  BRIEEEBAKNASB HEATESEM
Br BAITREBLUABBER - RR2023F &
2022F3ANAZERDBEDEAERE - 2HHT

RUPBEENRELE -

R2023F3A31H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A7
FEEE 2HEBEEFE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
BB E2RER BIRER fEfb A% At
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BETT BETT BETT BETT
Trade receivables* e AR 7 - - - 90,458 90,458
Financial assets included in prepayments, — BFEETRM K - HibEUR
other receivables and other assets REMEEZHBEEAE
- Normal** = TR~ 92,812 - - - 92,812
Pledged time deposits B HITER
- Not yet past due — RIARAE 366,216 - - - 366,216
Cash and cash equivalents Re kA LEEY
- Not yet past due — AR 348,282 - - - 348,282
807,310 - - 90,458 897,768
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 37. Bi¥EREREEEEREE &)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Credit risk (continued) EERR (#)
Maximum exposure and year-ending staging (continued) RERBRRERGERSE (H)
As at 31 March 2022 20223318
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 AEH
EEEE > HEHEERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
BIRER E2MER FIPHER Kl ap7 &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BEFT BT BB BT
Trade receivables* JRE Ui R 5k - - - 106,096 106,096
Financial assets included in prepayments, — BHEETBMF « Hi UK
other receivables and other assets REMEBEZHBEEE
- Normal** = e 136,050 - - - 136,050
Pledged time deposits BT E R
- Not yet past due — R 382,725 - - - 382,725
Cash and cash equivalents B RBEEEY
- Not yet past due — AR 8 354,507 = = = 354,507
873,282 - - 106,096 979,378

228

For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified approach

for impairment, information based on the provision matrix is disclosed in

note 20 to the financial statements.

Hk

The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, other

receivables and other assets is considered to be “normal” when they
are not past due and there is no information indicating that the financial
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

. A& E A Ty AT R UOR A RE - LA
R B R B R R M R 520 ©

T HESEBEMNR

Hfth R 2 Ho b & E ) BT 75

EEVEOMAYEEMBRZSUBEEZRE
BB TRERRARIZN - AIZEHBEE

ZIEREERERIER] -



37.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

MHBEME(E)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 37. HMiEMEEEEZREX (&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Liquidity risk MENE 2R
The Group is exposed to liquidity risk in respect of settlement of trade AEEREMEMER  TBRRESETEBRITE
payables, financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals, EMEFUERRRESREEERYRDESRR -
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and lease liabilities, and also AEBECZHRABETHERRHEST K EG5/F46
in respect of its cash flow management. The Group’s policy is to regularly EXRTHE2RERHBEIRIT 2R  BREERR
monitor its liquidity requirements, its compliance with lending covenants WE S RHRAESHEBIE TR ZAHAE K
and its relationship with its banks to ensure that it maintains sufficient NEMEEHEERRBEST K -
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of funding from major
financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term.
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of the RIBERR  AEBIREFTOERITARETEZ
reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted payments, is as B EaBEZEBERNT
follows:
On demand
or less than 1 year 1to 5 years Total
REREES
15T 18545 PR
2023 2023 % HK$’000 B¥ Tt HK$’000 B¥ Tt HK$’000 #B¥ T T
Trade payables FEAFBRER 328,537 - 328,537
Financial liabilities included in BEEEMENTRR
other payables and accruals EErERZMIEaE 140,034 - 140,034
Interest-bearing bank FPERITREMER
and other borrowings 610,858 657,447 1,268,305
Lease liabilities HEBE 108,232 76,645 184,877
1,187,661 734,092 1,921,753
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

IS sk R M 52 ()
37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 37. BEEMEEREREE @)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Liquidity risk (continued) mEE SRR (E)
On demand
or less than 1 year 1to 5 years Total
REREES
1FEAT 1854 Rk
2022 20224 HK$'000 BTt HK$'000 7 # T T HK$'000 BTt
Trade payables FETRR K 250,034 - 250,034
Financial liabilities included in BETAMERNRR
other payables and accruals B ERAZHKEE 134,956 - 134,956
Interest-bearing bank FHESRITREMER
and other borrowings 937,937 - 937,937
Lease liabilities HEBE 93,256 63,544 156,800
1,416,183 63,544 1,479,727
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As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s term loans with a repayment on demand
clause in the amount of HK$425,000,000 (2022: HK$491,500,000) were
repayable within one year in accordance with the terms of the loans. The
loan agreements contained a repayment on demand clause giving the
bank the unconditional right to call in the loan at any time and therefore,
for the purpose of the above maturity profile, the total amount was
classified as “on demand”.

Notwithstanding the above clause, the directors do not believe that these
bank loans will be called in its entirety within 12 months, and they consider
that these borrowings will be repaid in accordance with the maturity dates
as set out in the loan agreements. This evaluation was made considering:
the financial position of the Group at the date of approval of the financial
statements; the Group’s compliance with the loan covenants; the lack of
events of default, and the fact that the Group has made all previously
scheduled repayments on time.

HE2023F3A31H  AEEZRERKBEKRIZ
RHIE R AEEH425000,0007T (20224 : B
491,500,0007) * JHIZBEFRMIEREAR —FANE

B ZEFBHEREREREGRR Eﬁ%fﬁﬁﬁ
R RERBERY ESREEZEF - Bibst Lt B MR

NZERZBREBROBRREREE] -

BELRER  EFEALTR
BARKERZHEE -

Bi% ERITE RAE2
ﬁﬂ@ﬁ RRELENE
RRHERER BN AERE - hFEE Z B
TEE  AEERATBREZER 2SR
REBBBETERKR  RBENSEH - A5£E
BEERERZENR



37.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in
light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of
the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group has been imposed with
several capital requirements from banks on the Group’s equity to total
assets ratio, net gearing ratio and consolidated tangible net worth. As
of 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group has complied with these capital
requirements. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital during the year ended 31 March 2023 and
2022.

The Group monitors capital using net gearing ratio, which is total
borrowings less cash and cash equivalents and pledged time deposits
divided by total equity of the Group. Total borrowings include interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings. The Group’s policy is to maintain the
net gearing ratio not greater than 80%. The net gearing ratios as at the
end of the years were as follows:

37.

MHBEME(E)

M mEEEE R ERBER (8

BEARER
AEEEATE Y TBEEARBAEBRHEFY

EBZREN  UHFKRRZEARLE  UXHAZE
B RIG IR 2 (BE -

AEBEBEEEEARERE - WRELERRE 8 KLE
BEEZRREUHESEFELFARE - AEFHAEE
AR NEEFREFEAKRERN ZEE - RE
BEARFRERBFITHR - NAEBOERIRITEHASE
ERENETEARTE  BREASEZEZHBEE
LR BELERRGABREEFE - H2023F3A8
K202 A3E  AEBHEAMEELRRTE -
REZE2023F3A31B IEFE K2022F3A3HIEF
B AAEBEMERE  BoRSUREHES L -

AEEFRFEL FERAS - MARENH R
SHRLRNEEEDREANTHER - B LA
T - MIERREH SRITRAMER - AEE
2 R TR B R LB R B 80% MR IRE R
FEELEMT -

2023 2022

20234 20224F

HK$’000 &% F T HK$'000 BT T

Total equity AR RE 893,464 1,048,045
Total borrowings less cash and REERASKACEEMR

cash equivalents and time deposits TEHIER 459,079 183,177

Debt to equity ratio RNt 51.4% 17.5%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B mRME(E)

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

(a) Information about the statement of financial position of the

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

232

38. BiEARRERE

(a) ARRFRWPBARRBRADBREHRAT -

2023
20234
HK$’000 &#F 5T

2022
20224
HK$'000 &# T T

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Interest in subsidiaries

CURRENT ASSETS
Prepayments and deposits
Cash and cash equivalents

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other payables and accruals

NET CURRENT LIABILITIES

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

NET ASSETS

EQUITY
Issued capital
Reserves

TOTAL EQUITY

FRBEE
B8 A~ Rl e

RBEE
BNREES
ReRkRLEEY

RBEE
HAOREN R B &R

RBRERE
HEERRBAME

BEEFRE

i

B BT
(el

HE A

692,159 696,091
692,159 696,091
217 178

287 236

504 414
(2,294) (2,163)
(2,294) (2,163)
(1,790) (1,749)
690,369 694,342
690,369 694,342
(62,296) (62,296)
(628,073) (632,046)
(690,369) (694,342)

Yau On Yee, Annie EBZ
Ng Yi Kum, Estella fR&Z

NN AN AN

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on
21 June 2023.

Directors %

ZEE2eN2023F6 A21 BEEI ] T3 -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MHBEME(E)

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY 38. B #iRiR¥Rkk (@)
(CONTINUED)

(b) A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: (b) AREzEEHEWT
Share Contributed Retained Proposed
premium surplus profits dividend Total
B3 =E BB REZF BRRRE k]

HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT T BT BETT BT

At 1 April 2021 1202194 A18H 122,01 14,770 527,285 - 664,066
Total comprehensive loss ZEETHABERE

for the year - - (32,020) = (32,020)
Proposed 2021/22 final dividend FHIR2021/22 R HAR% B

(note 12) (BfE12) - - (4,984) 4,984 -
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 A2022F38318 R

2022% 4818 122,011 14,770 490,281 4,984 632,046

Total comprehensive income AEEEABEERE

for the year - - 1,01 - 1,0M
Dividend paid during the year FREIREE - = = (4,984) (4,984)
At 31 March 2023 R2023%F3A31H 122,011 14,770 491,292 - 628,073
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

234

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves

@

(i)

(iin)

Share premium represents premium arising from the issue of
shares at a price in excess of their par value per share.

Capital reserve include the difference between the aggregate
nominal value of the share capital of the subsidiaries and
their combined net assets acquired pursuant to the group
reorganisation and restructuring.

Other reserves include statutory reserve, exchange
fluctuation reserve and asset revaluation. Statutory reserve
is appropriated from the profit after taxation of the Group’s
PRC subsidiaries under the applicable laws and regulations
in the PRC, while exchange fluctuation reserve comprises
all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations. Exchange
reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting
policies set out in note 2.4 to the financial statements. The
asset revaluation reserve arose from the changes in use from
owner-occupied properties to an investment properties.

The contributed surplus of the Company represents
the excess of the fair value of the shares of the Group’s
subsidiaries acquired pursuant to a group reorganisation over
the nominal amount of the Company’s ordinary shares issued
in exchange therefor, less the set-off of the accumulated
losses of the Company amounting to HK$865,747,000 as at
29 February 2004 pursuant to a capital reorganisation.

38.

B RS AR R #R 3k (®)

(©)

EETEENER

@

(i)

(iin)

Bt (B FiRB RS R EE 2 BRE
TR FESEE

ERREREMNBAR ZARAEE
RRBEBBERBHERZFEE

HitbEERIBEAERE  INELBHEE
MEEBMHFHE  AEFHEZRETS
TR R ROEMR B AN B R B
BARZBRBRBNEN  MIMNER
RERRREBIEBUHRRELZ
PRATE N Z5 o X1 R B 15 R I
H2APMEERHERE - ARWEER
RABAARBEABZREDE -
MELEESHEE

KRR 2 BHBBREAEEWEB QA
REAEBFRIEEESHMESL D
ZAFEERAQRRBNLEIREE
ZEEE O BMARRN2004F2 8294
IERIERAEAKE 2 Rt BB
865,747,0007T ©



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

(iv)  Share option reserve comprises the fair value of share options
granted which are yet to be exercised, as further explained in
the accounting policy for share-based payments in note 2.4
to the financial statements. The amount will be transferred
either to share capital account when the related options are
exercised, or to retained profits should the related options
expire or be forfeited.

39. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the
board of directors on 21 June 2023.

38.

39.

MHBEME(E)

B FE AR R 3R 3% (®)
(c) REEMENBER@®E)

(iv) BREREBEFBECRODEHERITENRE
Wiz AFEE UEHIRRZ 28
FBRE R B mMEM 2. 41E—
Bt - EEEBREREITER - 228
BERERMEER  EiRREBRESD
HR R - BEEREARN -

P # Rz H &

NG BRN2023EF6 A2 BEEE &I MIRRET
§§ °
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

AFEMEEE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controlling
interests of the Group for the last five financial years/period, as extracted
from the published audited financial statements and restated/reclassified as
appropriate, is set out below. This summary is not part of the audited financial
statements.

AEBENBEDEMRFEZEEREE  BEKIFEK
MR - BEEEAMZEETRABRE LSRN B
Moo (WER) - BIT o tAR R FFRR LR L
BmEH — kD °

RESULTS &

Year ended 31 March

HEIAIBLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
20234 20224 20214 20204 20194
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BB T T BB T T BB T T BB T T
TURNOVER EERE 2,590,936 2,767,788 2,648,600 2,913,827 4,064,920
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX  K&Figi (E518), &7 (47,177) 60,502 1,011 (60,028) 99,442
Income tax expense FriSii & A (24,366) (45,088) (43,078) (29,726) (45,275)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ZAR4EE (&518),/ &F (71,543) 15,414 (44,089) (89,754) 54,167

Attributable to: FE(G B0 -

Owners of the Company VN/NETEZ =N (71,435) 15,546 (43,980) (89,670) 54,161
Non-controlling interests AR AR SR i (108) (132) 109) (84) 6
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ZAR4EE (E518), EF (71,543) 15,414 (44,089) (89,754) 54,167
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY (CONTINUED)
hEMBHREOE)

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS BE BERFERREER

As at 31 March

M3A31R

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

20234 20224 20214 20204 20194

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T BT BT BT

Non-current assets ERBEE 497,098 371,349 310,730 495,091 284,882
Current assets MENEE 2,347,120 2,335,818 2,220,290 2,213,824 2,172,265
2,844,218 2,707,167 2,531,020 2,708,915 2,457,147

Current liabilities mEEE (1,259,588) 1,571,121) (1,103,964) (1,135,351) (1,345,295)
Non-current liabilities IFERBAE (691,166) (88,001) (485,100) (673,477) (26,142)
Net assets BEEFE 893,464 1,048,045 941,956 900,087 1,085,710
Issued capital B EITRA (62,296) (62,296) (62,296) (62,296) (62,138)
Reserves G (831,762) (986,183) (879,911 (837,918) (1,023,611)

Equity attributable to owners AARHER A

of the Company i e Fn kG (894,058) (1,048,479) (942,207) (900,214) (1,085,749)
Non-controlling interests FEIEAR AR SR A 594 434 251 127 39
Total equity EReE (893,464) (1,048,045) (941,956) (900,087) (1,085,710)
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SUMMARY OF PROPERTIES

MEME

Owner-occupied Properties
BAWE

Address

i3k

Gross Floor Area

Use (Square Feet)
EEMEE

A (FHFR)

Percentage
interest in
property

Tenure

FH

Type

B8

1 Private Car Parking Space
Nos. 43-50 and 73, Basement, and
Lorry Car Parking Space Nos. 1 - 6, 11 and 14, 1st Floor
Summit Building, 30 Man Yue Street,
Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong
BEBNEAWMEREIONREETHKRE
& 43-505% R 73R LR B IRE A K&
—I1B1-65% - NRI4SF EEAEN

2 Units A1 - A7, B, Front and Rear Portion,
Storeroom Nos.3 and 5, Ground Floor;
Units Al - A3 and B, Ist Floor;

Units E - H, 2nd Floor, and

Units F - K and Flat Roof, 3rd Floor

Summit Building, 30 Man Yue Street,

Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong
BEBNEAMRBEHIOREETHKRE
HNA-A7ERL - BERL - BIEEHD - IRSHREDE
—EA-AZEAIRBEN  ZHEE-HER R
—EF-KEMRTFEE

3 Units A and B, 1st Floor, Shui Ki Industrial Building,
No. 18 Wong Chuk Hang Road,
Aberdeen, Hong Kong
BEREBHFENMBESRIMEHTIERNE —EAEBEN

4 Flat A, 21st Floor, Block 7,
Parc Palais, No.18 Wylie Road
Kowloon, Hong Kong

BEENEFRBBREBETENBAE

5 No0.248 Fulong Road, Fuyong Village, Shawan Town,
Panyu District, Guangzhou, PRC
A BN T B R D SRR B AT 1R BE G 24858
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Own use

BH N/A

Own use
=) 77,170

Own use
BH 10,716

Own use
BH 1,245

Own use
=S 377,748

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%



SUMMARY OF PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

MEBE(E)

Percentage
Gross Floor Area interest in
Address Use (Square Feet) property Tenure Type
EEmE
1k Az (FFR) Y ERE R LR FH EE
6 Unit Alon Level Tand 2, Block 2, Own use
Heng Chang Garden, Beijing, PRC 8 A 1,654 100% M R
REIERTEEERE2E—Z2 ZEA1E
7 Flat 01, 23rd Floor, Block F, Beijing Rome Garden,
Cao Hui Road, Chaoyang District, Own use
Beijing, PRC BA 1,735 100% M R
FEILRTHSERE2RESTRFE - T = 1RE
Investment Properties
REYE
Percentage
Gross Floor Area interest in
Address Lot number Use (Square Feet) property Tenure Type
EEMEE
3tk ih ER 4R 5% Jizk=S (FFR) MEERLEE S8 BE
1 Unit C, 1st Floor and Units A - E, 3rd Floor
Summit Building, 30 Man Yue Street, Kowloon Marine Rental
Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong Lot No. 40 bz 16,819 100% M
BENEAMRMEIONREETHAE
—IBCEA R ZEA - BB
L: Long term lease L: RHAZZY)
M:  Medium term lease M:  FREIRA
C Carpark C: SHER AL
I: Industrial I: T#H
R: Residential R: (F=£H
F: Factory F: =
N/A: Not applicable N/A: i A
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